
 

 
AGENDA 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 
HISTORIC RESOURCES PRESERVATION BOARD REGULAR MEETING 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 08, 2021 -- 6:00 PM 

 

ROLL CALL and RECORDING OF ABSENCES 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ADDITIONS / DELETIONS / REORDERING AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

A. July 14, 2021 Regular Meeting Minutes 

CASES 

SWEARING IN OF STAFF AND APPLICANTS 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION 

1) 307 North L Street 

617 North K Street 

WITHDRAWLS / POSTPONEMENTS 

CONSENT 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

BOARD DISCLOSURE 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation 
requirements of the Florida Building Code for the detached garage located at 732 North 
Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The subject property is located within the 
Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the 
Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

B. HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application 
(Part III) for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to 
the City Commission for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject 
property located at 1020 South Lakeside Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The 
subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm Park Local Historic District 
and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  

Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2nd Avenue North 

Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 

 



NEW BUSINESS: 

A. HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on 
Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-
0270. The subject property is located in the Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) 
zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

B. HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family 
residence at 320 North Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject 
property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 

C. HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for the construction of a new ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 
square foot accessory structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. 
The subject property is located in the Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) 
zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

PLANNING ISSUES: 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: (3 minute limit) 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS: 

ADJOURNMENT 

 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with respect to any matter 
considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such 
purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes 
the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. (F.S. 286.0105)  

NOTE: ALL CITY BOARDS ARE AUTHORIZED TO CONVERT ANY PUBLICLY NOTICED MEETING INTO A 
WORKSHOP SESSION WHEN A QUORUM IS NOT REACHED. THE DECISION TO CONVERT THE 
MEETING INTO A WORKSHOP SESSION SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE CHAIR OR THE CHAIR'S 
DESIGNEE, WHO IS PRESENT AT THE MEETING. NO OFFICIAL ACTION SHALL BE TAKEN AT THE 
WORKSHOP SESSION, AND THE MEMBERS PRESENT SHOULD LIMIT THEIR DISCUSSION TO THE 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FOR THE PUBLICLY NOTICED MEETING. (Sec. 2-12 Lake Worth Code of 
Ordinances)  

Note: One or more members of any Board, Authority or Commission may attend and speak at any meeting of 
another City Board, Authority or Commission.  



 

 
MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 
HISTORIC RESOURCES PRESERVATION BOARD REGULAR MEETING 

CITY HALL COMMISSION CHAMBER 
WEDNESDAY, JULY 14, 2021 -- 6:00 PM 

 

ROLL CALL and RECORDING OF ABSENCES: Present were: William Feldkamp Chairman; 
Bernard Guthrie Vice-Chairman; Judith Fox; Robert D’Arinzo; Geoffrey Harris; Stephen Pickett. 
Also present were: Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner; Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation 
Coordinator; Erin Sita, Assistant Director for Community Sustainability; Susan Garrett, Board 
Attorney; Sherie Coale, Board Secretary. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ADDITIONS / DELETIONS / REORDERING AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

Item C for New Business- The applicant has requested the item be postponed until the August 
meeting. 

Motion: R. D’Arinzo moves to continue New Business Item C HRPB Project Number 19-
00100107 to the August 11, 2021 meeting; J. Fox 2nd. 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: None 

CASES 

SWEARING IN OF STAFF AND APPLICANTS- Board Secretary administered oath to those 
wishing to give testimony. 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION 

1) Lake Worth Herald Proof of Publication 

129 South K Street 

732 North Palmway 

131 South Palmway 

WITHDRAWLS / POSTPONEMENTS: None - New Business Item C only. 

CONSENT: None 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

BOARD DISCLOSURE: S. Pickett received phone calls and an email regarding 1130 S 
Lakeside Drive, also met on site with a planning representative and the architect. 

J. Fox- Spoke with architect for the1130 property on phone. 

Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2nd Avenue North 

Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561.586.1687 

 



B. Guthrie-Had communications with the architect regarding the property at 1130 S. Lakeside 
Drive. 

W. Feldkamp looked at drawings with the architect for 1130 S Lakeside Drive. 

R. D’Arinzo visited the site at 1130 S. Lakeside Drive. 

G. Harris was contacted by the architect for 1130 S Lakeside Drive but never met with him at 
the site. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. HRPB Project Number 20-00100273: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for the construction of a new ± 7,328 square foot (± 5,217 square feet air-
conditioned) single-family structure located at 1130 South Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-
43-44-27-01-051-0010. The subject property is located in the Single-Family Residential 
(SF-R) zoning district and is located within the South Palm Park Local Historic District. 

Staff: J. Hodges presents case findings and analysis presents a brief history of the parcel of 
land. The Board previously approved a demolition of structures on the parcel. A lot split was also 
granted allowing for two 75-foot wide lots. The garage space, placed forward of the residence, 
is uninhabitable and as such is not required to meet base flood elevation. The forward placement 
obscures the additional foundation height required to make the 1st floor in compliance with 
Florida Building Code.  It is a 3- D printed home. Generally compatible with visibility criteria, 
Streamline moderne style is austere in terms of ornamentation, emphasizes simple geometry by 
utilizing curvilinear forms, long horizontal lines and occasional nautical elements such as rooftop 
railings and porthole windows. Other characteristic features are deep, staggered, cantilevered 
overhangs with horizontal railings; smooth stucco and a regular fenestration pattern. The 
horizontal details and stepped massing draw the eyes downward as the building is taller than 
surrounding structures. Curved walls at the entry point and a cylindrical tower feature are found 
on the south and southeast facades. The project is largely compatible with the architectural style. 

Review of Conditions of Approval are reviewed 

Agent for the Applicant - Wes Blackman; Architect - Ken Brower Property Owner - Jim Ritter 
The runoff is channeled into the cistern of 21K gallons to be used for irrigation of yard. Board: 
S. Pickett hoped the 3-D printing process could be explained. Architect: Possible game changer 
in industry. Computer driven on-site. Concrete mix trucks show up and drop in layers of 
anywhere from 3/4 inch to 1-1/2 inches thick; the print head is about 6-8 inches in width. Provided 
the hopper is kept full, the process could continue 24 hours excepting allowable hours of 
construction.  

Board: J. Fox was concerned about the height and water retention on site but understands the 
cistern concept. B. Guthrie notes it would be nice to add a porthole on west elevation or garage 
wall- Response: Architect would be glad to add portholes. Regarding the setback one foot from 
property line. Staff: Clarifies the walls are allowed to go to the sideline, only flat paved surfaces 
should be held off the property line by one foot. B. Guthrie-what are the hours for construction? 
Response – governed by code; 8am -7pm weekdays. With respect to the encroachment on 
south, owner’s previous response was that he would not remove the chain link fence located on 
the City property, the encroachment it is not on his property, despite having been placed there 
by a previous owner. 

 



G. Harris- Is there any railing detail? Response: Standard cable system. Is the entire house 
being printed including the walls and columns?  Response: Yes, everything will be 3-D printed, 
some of the larger flat pieces will be printed on site and lifted into place. The entire building will 
be stuccoed after printed.  R. D’Arinzo and W. Feldkamp questions have been answered. 

Public Comment: Jim Kelley 1202 Lakeside Drive to the south. His concern is the seven (7) 
foot berm that essentially directs the water (runoff) toward his property as it is required to be 
elevated. Suggests the drainage pipe has no slope, is level with the intracoastal. City should 
look at R-O -W to handle water runoff from street. 2nd concern is the traffic and visibility near the 
subject parcel. Although he respects the design, it doesn’t conform to his 1924 house. 

Board: S. Pickett states it is an interesting project and it will be exciting to see it in progress. B. 
Guthrie questions the amount of noise generated by the continuous pumping of concrete, how 
long will it take? Regarding the fence, will the applicant be required to clean up the fence? 

Staff: The applicant cannot be compelled to do so as it is not on his property. He would need to 
agree. Applicant shall remove the segment of fence as previously installed on the city property 
as permitted by the appropriate City Department (Public Works).  

Condition #15: The applicant shall agree to the removal of the fence prior to the issuance of a  
Certificate of Occupancy subject to the approval of the appropriate City Department. 

Motion: B. Guthrie moves to approve HRPB  20-00100273 with staff recommended conditions 
of approval including the addition of Condition #15 based upon competent substantial evidence 
in the staff report and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations 
and Historic Preservation requirements; R. D’Arinzo 2nd. 

Architect: Questions whether the added condition is a recommendation or requirement. Staff 
response: It is a condition that is being agreed upon. 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

B. HRPB Project Number 21-00100135: Consideration of Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA) for roof replacement and an Unreasonable Economic Hardship Application for an 
Income Property for the property located at 326 Columbia Drive; PCN #38-43-44-15-06-
001-0110. The subject property is a contributing resource within the College Park Local 
Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district. 

Staff: A. Fogel presents case findings and analysis. In the masonry vernacular architectural style 
it maintains historic integrity. The property file reveals only that the roof has never received a 
permit for replacement, it is most likely the original roof. The structure was designated 
contributing in 1996. The tiles are still manufactured and available. As a character defining 
feature, the flat white concrete tile is the appropriate replacement providing the needed 
horizontality that is seen throughout the construction. The Design Guidelines label asphalt 
shingles as an unsuccessful replacement for flat white concrete tile. The estimated difference in 
cost between asphalt shingle and compliant white flat concrete tile is $6,000.00. The burden of 
the hardship shall be upon the applicant to demonstrate the requirement will cause an 
unreasonable economic hardship for the property owner. The item was continued from the June 
16, 2021 agenda as the applicant was not in attendance to respond to Board questions. 

Applicant: No additional information. 

Board: B. Guthrie does not believe there is a hardship.  J. Fox- Clarifies that this is the third of 
three rental properties and the other two (2) properties are okay. 



Applicant states she inherited several properties from parents. They were in bad shape when 
they received from her parents and have paid off the code issues. This is the last to be repaired, 
it has been vacant since January and cannot afford it.  

Board: S. Pickett- Did the roof need to be replaced or is this just something being pursued? 
Applicant Response: There are a few leaks, nothing horrible. Contractors do not want to repair 
leaks only a full replacement. They’ve had no tenants since January. 

Public Comment: None 

Board: B. Guthrie is concerned about the application for economic hardship for an income 
property. Board is cognizant of importance of a homesteaded property applying for the hardship. 
The threshold should be higher for an income property. The 6K difference will affect the 
neighborhood for the next 20-30 years. A tile will last longer and look better and is stylistically 
proper. 

Applicant states many roofs in the area have been changed to asphalt shingle. States that 6K 
alone does not seem onerous however when combined with the previous monies spent and not 
recouping any funds, it seems to be a hardship. 

W. Feldkamp concurs with other Board members in not seeing a hardship especially as there 
are no major leaks. Suggests waiting until the roof needs replaced, until then save for the 
expense. J. Fox – with two other income producing properties, write off this repair on the taxes. 
S. Pickett – the financial situation appears to be a temporary situation. Once the roof is gone its 
gone.  There is no mortgage. B. Guthrie has concerns about replacing the asphalt shingles in 
perpetuity mentioning those changed before the implementation of the Historic Ordinance. 
Suggestions of an equity loan to finance the roof. G. Harris doesn’t see any relief as the 
precedent would be set for asphalt roofing going forward. 

Motion: J. Fox moves to deny HRPB 21-00100135 as the applicant has not established by 
competent substantial evidence that the request is consistent with the City of Lake Worth Bach 
Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation requirements because replacing the 
roof with a Design Guidelines compliant roof does not pose an unreasonable economic hardship. 
S. Pickett 2nd.  

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

NEW BUSINESS: 

A. HRPB Project Number 21-00100087:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the 
construction of a new ± 4,392 square foot, 4-unit, multi-family structure located at 129 
South K Street; PCN# 38-43-44-21-15-049-0310. The subject property is located in the 
Medium Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-30) zoning district and is located within 
the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District.  

Hearing Procedures are reviewed with respect to quasi-judicial rules for this project. 

Staff: A. Fogel presents case findings and analysis. The non-contributing structures on the 
parcel were declared unsafe by the City Building Official in October 2020. A COA is not required 
for demolition when the structure is the subject of a condemnation. The project is consistent with 
City Land Development Regulations. The proposed project is designed in a Mediterranean 
Revival architectural style with visually compatible details. The parcel is a corner lot with two 
facades that should meet visual compatibility standards.  

Agents for the Applicant: Michael Sanchez and Scott Disher, Architect, believes it will enhance 
the area. Spoke with the property owner to the north, Affected Party Ms. Debra Robert, regarding 



three items of concern. Grass was high and that has been resolved, the Mango tree on Ms. 
Roberts property will be trimmed to everyone’s satisfaction in conjunction with staff horticulturist. 
The third item is the location of the A/C units. The request by Ms. Robert to re-locate the A/C 
units to the rooftop would present several problems, the units would be seen despite the parapet, 
if the parapet were to be made higher, the overall height would be an issue and access to those 
units would be via an exterior stair. Applicant requests the A/C units be maintained on the 
ground.  The affected party also requested the north façade be dressed up. In response, sills 
were added on all windows and muntins to the glazed areas. 

Affected Party Ms. Debra Robert: 127 S K Street- Is generally pleased with the parcel and the 
design is nice. The concern is the noise generated by the four A/C units running day and night. 
Despite being a Mixed-Use zoning district there is still an expectation of quietness. Proposes 
there are three sides that should be visually compatible. The north wall when looking south will 
be very prominent.  Alexander Schultz- 612 2nd Ave S.- Concurs with Ms. Robert about the noise 
being generated by the A/C units just outside a bedroom window, points to Hammon Park with 
the units located in front of the units. 

Board: S. Pickett is within the 400-foot radius. Believes he can be unbiased and does not have 
a material interest in the project. 

Affected Party: Has there been consideration given to relocating the A/C to the front? 

Agent for the Applicant:  Esthetically doesn’t like them in the front, cannot put them on the 
roof, would have to move building back if they were to be located in the front.  

Affected Party A. Shultz inquires how it was allowed at Hammon Park. 

Staff: Code does not allow for the units to be placed in the front. Hammon Park was a Planned 
Unit Development with a common driveway in the rear of the property.  

Applicant: The building could be moved four (4) feet north if the units were placed on the roof 
however that would cause a ladder to be mounted to the building. 

Board: W. Feldkamp- As there is a six (6) foot fence on the affected party property, could the 
units be moved ten (10) feet eastward?  J. Fox lived in a townhouse for 20 years with a unit 
nearby and it never bothered. The newer units are much quieter.  Discussion about the distance 
between the air handler and condenser and drop in efficiency. Staff: With new construction, it is 
easier to place the units outside the setback, with existing structures the placement is limited to 
where it fits and sometimes that is within the setback. 

Board: W. Feldkamp suggests moving them eastward between the demising wall. Architect 
suggests moving the two units further east at the demising wall so as not to be located beneath 
a window. The sills will be thicker on the north elevation, muntins were added. The landscaping 
is generous. There is nine (9) feet between the structure and the affected party property. 

Affected Party asks if there is something else that could be added to the north façade to create 
more interest.  

Board: W. Feldkamp the façade is treated well with the arched parapet. S. Pickett agrees 
several facades are visible and there are many small treatments that could be placed. 
Suggestions of the half circle inset near the parapet, adding brackets over the 4 windows on the 
north façade; more jointing in the stucco, faux shutters; 3 downspouts and overflow scuppers 
through the parapet wall; color changes, demarcation lines to break up the length. G. Harris 
prefers simple responses will make a huge difference without too much cluttering. 

 



Public Comment: None 

Motion: R. D’Arinzo moves to approve HRPB  21-00100087 with staff recommended Conditions 
of Approval adding Condition #15 moving  A/C units eastward to the center of the demising wall 
and condition #16 to add a matching medallion near the parapet of the north façade; add vertical 
demarcation lines to stucco near the center of the building allowing for a different paint color, to 
be approved by staff. B. Guthrie 2nd. 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

 

Recess -8:07 PM- 8:15 PM 

 

B. HRPB Project Number 21-00100190: A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the 
construction of a new ± 944 square foot accessory dwelling unit located at 131 South 
Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-039-0160. The subject property is located in the 
Medium Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-30) zoning district and is located within 
the South Palm Park Local Historic District. 

Staff: A. Fogel presents case findings and analysis. A historically insensitive renovation 
occurred in 1992. Including window replacement and stuccoing over the lap siding. The 
structures were designated as non-contributing; in July 2021 the garage was declared unsafe 
and condemned by the City Building Official. The new structure is designed to replicate a two-
story detached Wood Frame Vernacular garage structure. The proposal is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan, Land Development Regulations and Historic Design Guidelines. 

Applicant: Thomas Forlenza. 

Board: B. Guthrie questions the metal roof with color on the primary structure. The proposal 
indicates a mill finish. 

Applicant: Has a proposal with a roofing company to replace the primary structure with a mill 
finish. 

Board: G. Harris suggests a drip edge or skirting for the transition from the lap siding to the 
stucco. 

Staff: Add: Prior to the issuance of a building permit for construction, a demolition permit must 
be approved. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: R. D’Arinzo moves to approve HRPB 21-00100190 with staff recommended 
Conditions of Approval (18) and the addition of Condition #19 – A skirt board with drip-edge 
shall be added; Condition #20- A demolition permit shall be approved prior to the issuance of a 
permit for construction; based upon competent substantial evidence in the staff report and 
pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic 
Preservation Guidelines; B. Guthrie 2nd. 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

Request granted for Postponement to August 11, 2021 

C. HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application 
(Part III) for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to 
the City Commission for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject 



property located at 1020 South Lakeside Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The 
subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm Park Local Historic District 
and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  

D. HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of 
Appropriateness (COA) for the additions, exterior alterations, and site improvements, and a 
variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building Code for the property 
located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The subject property is 
located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing 
resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

Staff: J. Hodges presents case findings and analysis. Staff has concerns with the wall height 
and roofline of the detached garage substantially altering the structure enough to impact its 
status as a contributing resource. Qualifying as a substantial improvement, both structures are 
required to meet the nine (9) foot NAVD base flood elevation. The applicant has applied for a 
variance from the requirement as both are eligible under the Florida Building Code as they are 
of contributing status. It is the analysis of staff that the proposed additions to the primary structure 
will not jeopardize the contributing designation, and the granting of the variance (not requiring 
the floor height to be increased) will meet the variance criteria.  Due to the substantial alterations 
to wall height, massing and visual qualities of the proposed, detached garage the contributing 
designation of that structure will be jeopardized. Board shall decide as to whether the increasing 
wall height is visually compatible. If Board approves of the height, a variance would likely not be 
needed as there will be sufficient headroom in the structure after raising the floor height. The 
applicant is proposing raising the beam height 4 (four) feet contributing to the increased wall 
height.   

Staff has concluded that 1. The strict interpretation of the FBC could result in a height that is 
incompatible with surrounding properties. 2. If the Board determines the height is compatible 
with surrounding properties a variance would not be required as the floor height could be raised 
allowing for adherence to FBC.  

In order to qualify for the variance the structure must remain contributing. The applicant is 
seeking to avail himself of the relief from increasing the floor height by applying for the variance 
which necessitates the structure remaining contributing, yet the proposed wall height could 
render the project non-contributing and thus ineligible for the granting of the variance. Despite 
the wall height, the applicant is not intending to meet the FBC regarding the base flood elevation.  
Solutions could be to lower the roof height and retain the hip roof; this would allow the variance 
to be granted. Questions about necessity of a window in the storage space versus vents. 

Architect for Applicant: Jeremy Walter explains the reason for the added height in the garage 
is to add storage above the bathroom area. The streetscape does not elevate much above the 
neighboring homes. Points to other 2-story structures in the neighborhood. 

Public Comment: 802 N Lakeside- Kathryn Costantino and Janice Watson- concerned with 
investment properties, in particular, being considered for a variance and the Historic 
Guidelines not being followed. Although the application is for a pool cabana (additional living 
space) it would seem it to be a rental with kitchen and bath and living room. 

Applicant states it is currently rented and will be owner occupied. 

Board: Suggestion to lower the garage roof and change the pitch to 4:12 not 6:12; the 
proposed ribbon driveway in the front will be reasonable. Other suggestions are the gable roof 
should be eliminated and retain a hip roof to soften the appearance and not exaggerate the 
height. 



Applicant states he prefers a gable end. 

The Conditions of Approval are briefly reviewed. 

Motion: B. Guthrie moves to approve the Variance 21-01500004 and the Certificate of 
Appropriateness 21-00100119 for the primary structure with staff recommended Conditions of 
Approval (excluding Conditions 9, 10,11 and 13 pertaining to the garage) including site 
improvements based upon competent substantial evidence in the staff report and pursuant to 
the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation 
requirements; S. Pickett 2nd. 

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

Motion: B. Guthrie moves to continue the hearing for the Accessory Structure to the August 
11, 2021 Historic Resources Preservation Board meeting; R. D’Arinzo 2nd.  

Vote: Ayes all, unanimous. 

PLANNING ISSUES: 

A. A conceptual plan review for the construction of a new accessory structure and historic 
waiver for the square footage limitation at 226 South L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-091-
0040. The subject property is located in the Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) 
zoning district and is located within the Southeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 

Applicant: Anne Fairfax explains a preliminary proposal for a secondary structure to be located 
behind the primary structure. Included would be a garage on the lower level and bedroom, closet 
and bath on the second floor. Of concern is the square footage limitation on the secondary 
structure. Explains the topography of the lot and the slope would diminish the impact of height. 
Prefers to have it separated from the cottage and preserving the integrity while also allowing the 
area between to function as a garden. It would be greater than a driveway at the rear with 
additional impervious area and loss of landscape. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: (3 minute limit) None 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS: None 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS: As most Board members will not be available to meet on 
either the 2nd or 3rd Wednesday of August. There will be no meeting until September. 

ADJOURNMENT: 9:50 PM 

 







 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   732 North Palmway | Continuance  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building Code 
for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The subject 
property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource 
to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 
OWNER: James Murphy 
  719 Claremore Drive 
  West Palm Beach, FL 33401 
 
ARCHITECT: Jeremy K. Walter Architects 
  601 Heritage Drive, Ste. 105 
  Jupiter, FL 33458 
 

PROJECT BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure and a single-vehicle detached garage at 732 North Palmway were designed by 
Sea-Crest Homes for Mr. Walter Eisenberg in 1949 in a Masonry Minimal Traditional architectural style. 
The original architectural plans are included as Attachment A. The property maintains a high degree of 
the seven aspects of historic integrity: location, setting, design, workmanship, materials, feeling, and 
association. Current photos of the property are included as Attachment B.  

 

At the July 14, 2021 regular meeting, the HRPB reviewed and approved a COA for additions, exterior 
alterations, site improvements, and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida 
Building Code for the single-family residence on the property. Although a COA for exterior alterations and 
a base flood elevation variance were also requested for the detached garage, the HRPB separated and 
continued the scope of work proposed for the garage as the request sought to substantially alter the 
massing, height, and roof design of the building. The HRPB provided the project architect with 
recommendations and requested a redesign, specifically in regards to lowering the roof height below that 
of the single-family residence. The project architect submitted revised plans on July 19, 2021, included as 
Attachment C. The proposed plans provide two options for the building’s roof design; the property 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

owner’s preferred choice of a gable roof, and an alternate consideration as a hip roof. The continuance 
was scheduled to be heard at the August 11, 2021 meeting, but the meeting was postponed until 
September 8, 2021.  

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

The property owner, James Murphy, is requesting approval for exterior alterations and a variance from 
base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building Code due to a substantial improvement. The 
subject property is a 50’x135’ (6,750 square foot) platted lot of record located on the southeast corner of 
North Palmway and 8th Avenue North, in Lake Worth Beach. The subject property is located within the 
Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and retains a Future Land Use (FLU) designation of Single 
Family Residential (SFR).  

 

The application will require the following approvals: 

1. Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for exterior alterations 
2. Variance from Base Flood Elevation (VAR) from the Florida Building Code 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval with conditions, listed on pages 11 and 12.  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

Owner James Murphy 

General Location Southeast corner of North Palmway and 8th Avenue North 

PCN 38-43-44-21-15-228-0080 

Zoning Single-Family Residential (SF-R) 

Existing Land Use Single Family Residence 

Future Land Use 
Designation 

Single Family Residential (SFR) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

SITE ANALYSIS: 

Surrounding Properties 

The site is surrounded by single-family structures with similar Zoning and FLU designations, and thus, are 
found to be compatible with the existing and proposed residential use on the subject site. The following 
summarizes the nature of the surrounding properties adjacent to the subject site: 

 

NORTH: North of the subject site across 8th Avenue North is a single-family. This parcel contains a 
FLU designation of SFR and a Zoning designation of SF-R.  

 

SOUTH: Immediately south of the subject site is a single-family residence. This parcel contains a 
FLU designation of SFR and a Zoning designation of SF-R.  

 

EAST: East of the subject site across the rear alley is a single-family residence. This parcel 
contains a FLU designation of SFR and a Zoning designation of SF-R.  

 

WEST: West of the subject site across North Palmway is a single-family residence. This parcel 
contains a FLU designation of SFR and a Zoning designation of SF-R.  

 

 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 

The subject property is located in the Single-Family Residential Land Use (FLU) designation. Per Policy 
1.1.1.2 in the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the FLU designation allows for a maximum density of 7 dwelling 
units per acre.  The purpose of the Single-Family Residential designation is to permit the development of 
single-family structures designed for occupancy by one family or household. As the project proposes 
improvements to the single-family residence, it is consistent with the intent of the Single-Family 
Residential designation. Staff has included conditions of approval to ensure the accessory structure is not 
utilized as an additional dwelling unit which is not consistent with the parcel’s FLU designation.  

 

The project also encourages architectural design that complements the City’s appearance, consistent with 
Objective 3.2.4. 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE REQUIREMENTS: 

Land Development Code Requirements 

Code References 23.3-7 SF-R; Florida Building Code 

 Required Existing/Proposed 

Lot Area 5,000 square feet 6,750 square feet 

Lot Width 50’-0” 50’-0” 

Building Height 24’-0” 2 stories (Accessory Structure) 
12’-2” (midpoint of roof) 
 

Base Flood Elevation 
9’-0” NAVD 
(Zone AE) (BFE 8’-0” + 12” Freeboard) 

Garage Existing: 
4.0’ NAVD  
Garage Proposed: 
4.33’ NAVD  

 
The applicant is requesting approval to convert the existing garage into additional under-air living space. 
The site plan associated with the overall project is consistent with all site data requirements in the City’s 
zoning code and was approved at the July 14, 2021 regular meeting. The approved site plan and revised 
architectural drawings of the detached garage are included in this report as Attachment C.  
 
Per FEMA regulations and local ordinance, a substantial improvement may occur when planned 
improvements exceed 50% of the appraised value of the pre-improved structure. When the substantial 
improvement threshold is crossed, the entire building must be brought into compliance with the building 
code, including base flood elevation requirements. The Palm Beach County Property Appraiser’s 2020 
assessed improvement value for the existing structures on the parcel is $124,106, which provides $62,053 
of improvement value before the project will be considered a substantial improvement. The project 
architect submitted an overall project valuation estimate, which estimates the improvement value of the 
project at $135,990. 
 
As the proposal is deemed a substantial improvement, the entire structure must be raised to meet the 
current 9-foot NAVD base flood elevation requirement established within the Florida Building Code. The 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

current floor elevation of the detached garage is listed at 4’ NAVD, per an elevation certificate provided by 
the applicant, included as Attachment D.  

 

As the structure is a contributing resource within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District, the 
property owner has applied for a variance from the base flood elevation requirements of the Florida 
Building Code per Sec. 23.7-7 of the Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations. The variance 
request is analyzed in the section below. 

 

Variance from Base Flood Elevation of the Florida Building Code 
The applicant is requesting a variance from Florida Building Code 1201.3, Flood Hazard Areas: 
 
In flood hazard areas, if all proposed work, including repairs, work required because of a change of 
occupancy, and alterations, constitutes substantial improvement, then the building shall comply with 
Section 1612 of the Florida Building Code, Building, or Section R322 of the Florida Building Code, Residential, 
as applicable. 

Exception: If the program that designated the building as historic determines that it will continue to be 
an historic building after the proposed work is completed, then the proposed work is not considered to 
be substantial improvement. For the purposes of this exception, an historic building is: 

1. Individually listed in the National Register of Historic Places; or 

2. A contributing resource within a National Register of Historic Places listed district; or 

3. Designated as historic property under an official municipal, county, special district or state 
designation, law, ordinance or resolution either individually or as a contributing property in a 
district, provided the local program making the designation is approved by the Department of 
the Interior (the Florida state historic preservation officer maintains a list of approved local 
programs); or 

4. Determined eligible by the Florida State Historic Preservation Officer for listing in the National 
Register of Historic Places, either individually or as a contributing property in a district. 

 
Staff Analysis: The current slab height of the detached garage is 4’ NAVD. The plan involves raising the 
floor height in the garage by 4”, bringing the proposed floor height to 4.33’ NAVD. The Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) Pending Flood Map indicates the property is located in Zone AE, which 
requires an 8’-0” elevation for finished floors for habitable living spaces. The Florida Building Code also 
requires finished floors be constructed an additional 12” above the base flood elevation. Therefore, the 
pending base flood elevation for the building is 9’-0” NAVD, which is 4.67’ above the finished floor of the 
garage (after the 4” slab pour). 
 
Because the subject property is a contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District, 
which was designated by municipal ordinance, the proposed garage conversion is eligible for an exception 
from the Florida Building Code to allow substantial improvements and/or alterations that do not meet the 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

current flood-resistant construction requirements. Although this proposal meets the criteria for an 
exemption within the Florida Building Code, the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations 
require that applicants seeking to utilize this exemption apply for a formal variance from the Historic 
Resources Preservation Board.  
 
Pursuant to City of Lake Worth Beach LDR Section 23.7-7, Variances and Appeals: 
 
d) Historic buildings. A variance is authorized to be issued for the repair, improvement, or rehabilitation 

of a historic building that is determined eligible for the exception to the flood resistant construction 
requirements of the Florida Building Code, Existing Building, Chapter 11 Historic Buildings, upon a 
determination that the proposed repair, improvement, or rehabilitation will not preclude the building's 
continued designation as a historic building and the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the 
historic character and design of the building. If the proposed work precludes the building's continued 
designation as a historic building, a variance shall not be granted and the building and any repair, 
improvement, and rehabilitation shall be subject to the requirements of the Florida Building Code. 

 
Staff Analysis: As a contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District, the detached 
garage is eligible for the exception to the flood resistant construction requirements of the Florida 
Building Code. It is staff’s analysis that the proposed exterior alterations, as revised, will likely not 
preclude the continuation of the structure’s contributing designation as the new design mitigates the 
changes in height and massing in an adequate manner. For a more in-depth visual compatibility 
analysis, refer to the Historic Preservation Analysis, pgs. 7-10, and the Design Guidelines Analysis, pgs. 
10-11. 

 
Pursuant to City of Lake Worth Beach LDR Section 23.7-7(g)(2), variances to flood-resistant construction 
requirements have specific variance criteria. Provided below are the variance criteria and Staff’s responses.  
 
Variance criteria per LDR Section 23.7-7(g)(2): 
 
A. Failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship due to the physical characteristics of 

the land that render the lot undevelopable; increased costs to satisfy the requirements or 
inconvenience do not constitute hardship;  

Staff Analysis: Staff contends that complying with the strict interpretation of the Florida Building Code 
could result in a disruption to the structure’s historic appearance. Raising the finish floor elevation of 
the converted garage an additional 4.67 ’could disrupt the foundation and wall proportions and general 
height of the buildings when compared to neighboring Minimal Traditional resources.  

 
B. The granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, 

extraordinary public expense, nor create nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization of the public or 
conflict with existing local laws and ordinances; and  

Staff Analysis: Allowing the garage structure to remain below the required base flood elevation is 
unlikely to increase flood heights, cause additional threats to public safety, public expense, or create a 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

nuisance. The proposal is compliant with the impermeable surface requirements in the LDRs and there 
are pervious buffers around the property lines.  

 
C. The variance is the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief;  

Staff Analysis: The variance is likely the minimum necessary to allow for a substantial improvement 
without having to raise the garage to meet current base flood elevation requirements or to significantly 
raise the beam height of the structure to accommodate higher ceilings due to an increase in floor 
height.  

HISTORIC PRESERVATION ANALYSIS: 

Certificate of Appropriateness 

All additions and exterior alterations to structures within a designated historic district are subject to visual 
compatibility criteria. Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and 
outlined the applicable guidelines and standards found in the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, 
detailed in the section below.  

 

Section 23.5-4(K)(1) General guidelines for granting certificates of appropriateness  

 
1.  In general. In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness, the city shall, 

at a minimum, consider the following general guidelines:  

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such 
work is to be done?  

Staff Analysis: The proposed work consists of installing new aluminum impact casement 
windows, glazed doors, a triplet of panel doors to create a faux garage door opening, and 
altering the building’s ceiling height and roof design. The existing beam height of the garage 
is 8’-0”, and the applicants are proposing to raise the beam height to 10’-0”. Additionally, 
the existing hip roof will be removed and replaced with a gable roof with dimensional asphalt 
shingles. A hip roof design is also illustrated for the Board’s consideration.    

 
B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or 

other property in the historic district?  

Staff Analysis: The proposed alterations to the garage are generally compatible with the 
Masonry Minimal Traditional architectural style. The window and door replacement 
proposal accurately replicate the original products and the new roof design is largely 
compatible with the architectural style and overall arrangement of buildings on the parcel.  
The request also includes a variance to allow the structure to be maintained at the existing 
floor height, after the 4” slab pour. Raising the building could result in adverse visual impacts 
as the building’s current elevation is similar to visually contributing resources.  

 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 8 

 

 

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural 
style, design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be 
affected?  

Staff Analysis: The architectural features on the building are largely being replicated with 
materials consistent with Design Guidelines requirements. The proposed wall height and 
roof design arrangements are a departure from the original design, but they are largely 
compatible with the Minimal Traditional architectural style.  

 
D.     Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 

beneficial use of his property?  
 

Staff Analysis: No, denial of the COA would not deprive the applicant of reasonable use of 
his property.  

 
E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a 

reasonable time?  

Staff Analysis: The plans are feasible and could be carried out in a reasonable timeframe.  
 

F.  Are the plans (i) consistent with the city's design guidelines, once adopted, or (ii) in the event 
the design guidelines are not adopted or do not address the relevant issue, consistent as 
reasonably possible with the applicable portions of the United States Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect?  

Staff Analysis: The planned exterior alterations for the garage are generally in compliance 
with the City of Lake Worth Beach Design Guidelines. The proposed massing and exterior 
finish materials are generally appropriate for the structure. Staff does have some remaining 
concerns regarding the change in roof type, but the applicants have lowered the roof’s 
overall height since the July HRPB meeting and the existing primary structure on the parcel 
features similar rooflines and detailing consistent with the proposed alterations.   

 
G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the structure 

which served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause the least 
possible adverse effect on those elements or features?  

Staff Analysis: The garage was designated as a single-story vehicular structure with very little 
detailing or architectural embellishments. The project architect has maintained the 
appearance of a vehicular structure by replicating the appearance of a garage bay with three 
new panel doors to fill the garage door opening.  

 

Section 23.5-4(K)(2) Additional guidelines for alterations and additions. 

 
2. In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations and 

additions, the city shall also consider the following additional guidelines: Landmark and 
contributing structures:  



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 9 

 

 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that requires 
minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use the 
property for its originally intended purpose?  

Staff Analysis: The use of the building will change from a garage to a pool cabana. The design 
of the building requires few exterior alterations to accommodate the new use, including filling 
in the vehicular garage bay with a triplet of doors and raising the beam height two feet to 
accommodate additional ceiling height.  
 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  

Staff Analysis: The proposal does include removing existing doors, windows and a garage 
door, but the elements will be replaced with architecturally compatible alternatives.  

 
C. Is the change visually compatible with the neighboring properties as viewed from a primary 

or secondary public street?  

Staff Analysis: The alterations to the building will largely be visually compatible when viewed 
from 8th Avenue North. The project architect has lowered the beam height in the garage by 
2’-0” in a redesign requested by the Board at the July meeting. The new design also 
incorporates a decorative circle vent in the gable end in lieu of a window that was presented 
in July. Overall, the changes in design increase the visual compatibility of the building.  

 
D. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors the HRPB or 

development review officer, as appropriate, may permit the property owner's original design 
when the city's alternative design would result in an increase in cost of twenty-five (25) 
percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to demonstrate to the 
city that:  

(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings 
of the structure; and  
 
Staff Analysis: The replacement windows largely conform to the original opening 
sizes. 
 

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve 
a savings in excess of twenty-five (25) percent over historically compatible 
materials otherwise required by these LDRs. This factor may be demonstrated by 
submission of a written cost estimate by the proposed provider of materials which 
must be verified by city staff; and  
 
Staff Analysis: Not applicable, the applicant did not request to replace the 
windows and doors with less expensive materials. 

 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 10 

 

 

(3) That the replacement windows and doors match the old in design, color, texture 
and, where possible, materials where the property is significant for its 
architectural design or construction.  
 
Staff Analysis: The replacement windows replicate the design of the original 
casement windows and could be approved administratively, per the Design 
Guidelines.  

 
(4) If the applicant avails himself of this paragraph the materials used must appear to 

be as historically accurate as possible and in keeping with the architectural style of 
the structure.  
 
Staff Analysis: Not applicable, the applicant is not requesting to be availed of this 
paragraph.  

 

Historic Preservation Design Guidelines Analysis 

Per the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines, the six historic districts in Lake Worth Beach feature 10 
primary historic architectural styles. Chapter 5; Architectural Styles, illustrates and describes the elements 
that define each style. In addition to defining the physical characteristics of each primary style, a narrative 
is provided that chronicles the history and context of each style. The Masonry Minimal Traditional 
architectural style section is included as Attachment E.  

  

Staff Analysis: The existing single bay garage is proposed to be converted into a new pool cabana featuring 
a full bathroom, living room area, and kitchenette. The garage door on the north façade is proposed to be 
removed and infilled with three doors utilizing recessed panels and 4-light windows. The doors will be 
mulled together in the existing opening, with two being fixed doors and one being operable. The remaining 
window and pedestrian door openings will be replaced with new impact casement windows and divided 
light glazed doors. The replacement of these features could be approved administratively, as the 
replacement products adequately replicate the original features in design, operability, and related visual 
qualities.  

 

The proposal also includes raising the beam height from 8’-0” to 10’-0” and changing the roof design from 
a hip roof to a forward-facing gable roof. An alternate design illustrating a hip roof configuration is also 
provided for the Board’s consideration. Both roof options maintain the same overall height. The proposed 
alterations, while significant, are not in conflict with the architectural style, massing, and design common 
amongst Minimal Traditional buildings from the 1940s and 1950s. The applicants have lowered the roof’s 
midpoint height (from 14’-3” to 12’-2”) since the July meeting and the existing primary structure on the 
parcel features similar rooflines and soffit detailing. The decorative casement window in the gable end 
that was presented at the July meeting was also removed and replaced with a decorative round vent to 
match the primary structure.  

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
At the time of publication of the agenda, staff has received no public comment. 



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 11 

 

 

CONCLUSION: 
The proposed exterior alterations requested in the COA application are generally compatible with the 
Historic Preservation Ordinance criteria and the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines. The structure also 
meets the eligibility requirements for a variance from base flood elevation requirements and it is staff’s 
analysis that the proposed improvements would not preclude the continuation of the building’s 
contributing designation. Therefore, staff recommends approval of the COA and variance applications with 
the conditions provided below.  

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
Certificate of Appropriateness  
COA#21-00100119 
 
1. The exact window and door product selection shall be reviewed by staff at permitting. The triplet of 

doors for the garage bay shall utilize a recessed panel or vertical plank design.  
2. The windows shall be installed recessed in the jambs to the same depth as they are on the existing 

historic structure and shall not be installed flush with the exterior face of the wall.  
3. All divided light patterns shall be created utilizing exterior raised applied muntins. External flat muntins 

or “grills between the glass” shall not be permitted.  
4. All glazing shall be clear, non-reflective, and without tint. Low-E (low emissivity) is allowed but the glass 

shall have a minimum 60% visible light transmittance (VLT) measured from the center of glazing. Glass 
tints or any other glass treatments shall not be combined with the Low-E coating to further diminish 
the VLT of the glass. 

5. The single French doors on the west elevation shall utilize 5 horizontal lights and the casement 
windows shall utilize 8 and 3 lights, depending on size, as depicted in the original architectural 
drawings.  

6. The roofing material shall be a dimensional asphalt shingle or flat white concrete tile, subject to staff 
review at permitting. Staff recommends white or light grey for asphalt shingles.  

7. All stucco applications shall be consistent with the existing structure’s stucco texture and application.  
8. The accessory structure shall not be utilized as an accessory dwelling unit (ADU). 
9. The accessory structure shall not have kitchen facilities as defined in the City's Land Development 

Regulations. Future alterations that would lead to the conversion of the structure to an accessory 
dwelling unit (ADU) shall be prohibited. The accessory structure shall function as an extension of and 
subordinate to the single-family use. 

10. The accessory structure shall not be granted an additional utility meter from the Public Utilities 
Department and shall not be issued a rental license from the Lake Worth Beach Business License 
Division. 

 
Variance from Florida Building Code (Base Flood Elevation)  
HRPB#21-01500004 
 
1. The variance from base flood elevation shall be project specific, and shall only apply to the scope of 

work approved under this application. Any future additions, alterations, or substantial improvements 
that may trigger additional FEMA floodplain management requirements, as determined by the City’s 
Floodplain Administrator, shall be reviewed under a separate application.  



 

 

 
 
 

HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004 
732 North Palmway – COA for Exterior Alterations | BFE Variance 

P a g e  | 12 

 

 

2. The variance shall be recorded in the office of the Palm Beach County Clerk of the Court so that it 
appears in the chain of title for the affected parcel of land.  

POTENTIAL MOTION: 
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004, with staff recommended 
conditions, for a Certificate of Appropriateness for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood 
elevation requirements of the Florida Building Code for the garage structure located at 732 North 
Palmway, based upon the competent substantial evidence in the staff report and pursuant to the City of 
Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation requirements. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004, for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the 
Florida Building Code for the property located at 732 North Palmway, because the applicant has not 
established by competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance with the City of Lake 
Worth Beach Land Development Regulation and Historic Preservation requirements.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Property File Documentation 
B. Current Photos 
C. Proposed Architectural Plans 
D. Elevation Certificate 
E. LWBHPDG Minimal Traditional 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT A – PROPERTY FILE DOCUMENTATION 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE: 

TO:  

RE:  

FROM: 

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

732 North Palmway 

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building 
Code for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The 
subject property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.



 

 

 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT B – CURRENT PHOTOS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE: 

TO:  

RE:  

FROM: 

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

732 North Palmway 

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building 
Code for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The 
subject property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.







 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT C – ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE: 

TO:  

RE:  

FROM: 

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

732 North Palmway 

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building 
Code for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The 
subject property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.







jhodges
Text Box
Option A: Gable ConfigurationPreferred Design



jhodges
Text Box
Option B: Hip ConfigurationAlternate Design



 

jhodges
Text Box
Initial DesignJuly 14, 2021 HRPB Meeting

jhodges
Text Box
Revised DesignGable ConfigurationSeptember 8, 2021 HRPB Meeting

jhodges
Text Box
Revised Alternative DesignHip ConfigurationSeptember 8, 2021 HRPB Meeting



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT D – ELEVATION CERTIFICATE

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE: 

TO:  

RE:  

FROM: 

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

732 North Palmway 

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building 
Code for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The 
subject property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
Federal Emergency Management Agency  
National Flood Insurance Program

OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

ELEVATION CERTIFICATE 
Important: Follow the instructions on pages 1–9.

Copy all pages of this Elevation Certificate and all attachments for (1) community official, (2) insurance agent/company, and (3) building owner.

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) Replaces all previous editions. Form Page 1 of 6

A1.  Building Owner's Name

A2.  Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and 
Box No.

City State ZIP Code

Policy Number:

Company NAIC Number:

A3.  Property Description (Lot and Block Numbers, Tax Parcel Number, Legal Description, etc.)

A4.  Building Use (e.g., Residential, Non-Residential, Addition, Accessory, etc.)

A5.  Latitude/Longitude: Lat. Long. Horizontal Datum: NAD 1927 NAD 1983

A6.  Attach at least 2 photographs of the building if the Certificate is being used to obtain flood insurance.

A7.  Building Diagram Number

A8.  For a building with a crawlspace or enclosure(s):

a) Square footage of crawlspace or enclosure(s) sq ft

b) Number of permanent flood openings in the crawlspace or enclosure(s) within 1.0 foot above adjacent grade

c) Total net area of flood openings in A8.b sq in

d) Engineered flood openings? Yes No

A9. For a building with an attached garage:

a) Square footage of attached garage sq ft

b) Number of permanent flood openings in the attached garage within 1.0 foot above adjacent grade

c) Total net area of flood openings in A9.b sq in

d) Engineered flood openings? Yes No

B12.  Is the building located in a Coastal Barrier Resources System (CBRS) area or Otherwise Protected Area (OPA)? Yes No

Designation Date: CBRS OPA

SECTION B – FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP (FIRM) INFORMATION
B1. NFIP Community Name & Community Number B2. County Name B3.  State

B4. Map/Panel 
       Number

B5. Suffix B6.  FIRM Index 
       Date

B7. FIRM Panel 
      Effective/ 
      Revised Date

B8. Flood Zone(s) B9. Base Flood Elevation(s) 
      (Zone AO, use Base 
      Flood Depth)

B10.  Indicate the source of the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) data or base flood depth entered in Item B9:
FIS Profile FIRM Community Determined Other/Source:

NGVD 1929 NAVD 1988 Other/B11.  Indicate elevation datum used for BFE in Item B9: Source:

FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USESECTION A – PROPERTY INFORMATION

JAMES T. MURPHY

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460

TAX PARCEL NUMBER   38-43-44-21-15-228-0080

RESIDENTIAL

26.62481 -80.04993

8

1,172

8

1,048

N/A

N/A

N/A

             N/A

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 120213 PALM BEACH COUNTY Florida

12099C0781 F 10/05/2017 10/05/2017 X500 N/A FT.



ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the corresponding information from Section A.  FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USE

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) Replaces all previous editions.

Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No.

City State ZIP Code

Policy Number:

Company NAIC Number

SECTION C – BUILDING ELEVATION INFORMATION (SURVEY REQUIRED)

C1.  Building elevations are based on:
*A new Elevation Certificate will be required when construction of the building is complete.

Construction Drawings* Building Under Construction* Finished Construction

C2.  Elevations – Zones A1–A30, AE, AH, A (with BFE), VE, V1–V30, V (with BFE), AR, AR/A, AR/AE, AR/A1–A30, AR/AH, AR/AO. 
Complete Items C2.a–h below according to the building diagram specified in Item A7. In Puerto Rico only, enter meters.
Benchmark Utilized: Vertical Datum:

Indicate elevation datum used for the elevations in items a) through h) below.
NGVD 1929 NAVD 1988 Other/Source:

Datum used for building elevations must be the same as that used for the BFE. 
             Check the measurement used.  

a) Top of bottom floor (including basement, crawlspace, or enclosure floor) . feet meters

b) Top of the next higher floor

c) Bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member (V Zones only)

d) Attached garage (top of slab) .

e) Lowest elevation of machinery or equipment servicing the building
(Describe type of equipment and location in Comments)

f) Lowest adjacent (finished) grade next to building (LAG) .

g) Highest adjacent (finished) grade next to building (HAG) .

h) Lowest adjacent grade at lowest elevation of deck or stairs, including
structural support

.

feet meters.

feet meters.

feet meters

feet meters.

feet meters

feet meters

feet meters

SECTION D – SURVEYOR, ENGINEER, OR ARCHITECT CERTIFICATION
This certification is to be signed and sealed by a land surveyor, engineer, or architect authorized by law to certify elevation information. 
I certify that the information on this Certificate represents my best efforts to interpret the data available. I understand that any false 
statement may be punishable by fine or imprisonment under 18 U.S. Code, Section 1001.

Check here if attachments.Yes NoWere latitude and longitude in Section A provided by a licensed land surveyor?

Certifier's Name License Number

Title

Company Name

Address

City State ZIP Code

Signature Date Telephone

Copy all pages of this Elevation Certificate and all attachments for (1) community official, (2) insurance agent/company, and (3) building owner.

Comments (including type of equipment and location, per C2(e), if applicable)

Form Page 2 of 6

Clyde 
O 
McNe
al

Digitally 
signed by 
Clyde O 
McNeal 
Date: 
2021.07.01 
16:22:11 
-04'00'

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460

PALM BEACH CO. B.M. AD6690 NAVD 1988

3 7

3

N A

N A

4 0

3 7

3 9

N A

6

CLYDE MCNEAL LB 8111

SURVEYOR

NEXGEN SURVEYING, LLC.

5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 103

WEST PALM BEACH Florida 33407

07/01/2021 (561) 508-6272

This information is being collected for the primary purpose of estimating the risk premium rates necessary to provide flood insurance and
is not to be used for any construction permitting purposes.
Latitude/Longitude in A5 derived from Google Maps. Machinery/Equipment in C2e is an A/C Pad.
This Elevation Certificate was first completed on 08/24/2020, it has been resigned/sealed to add detached garage information.
The detached garage has a top of slab elevation of 4.0 feet.



ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the corresponding information from Section A.  FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USE

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) Replaces all previous editions.

State ZIP CodeCity

Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No.

Company NAIC Number

Policy Number:

SECTION E – BUILDING ELEVATION INFORMATION (SURVEY NOT REQUIRED)  
FOR ZONE AO AND ZONE A (WITHOUT BFE)

For Zones AO and A (without BFE), complete Items E1–E5. If the Certificate is intended to support a LOMA or LOMR-F request, 
complete Sections A, B,and C. For Items E1–E4, use natural grade, if available. Check the measurement used. In Puerto Rico only, 
enter meters.
E1.  Provide elevation information for the following and check the appropriate boxes to show whether the elevation is above or below 

the highest adjacent grade (HAG) and the lowest adjacent grade (LAG). 

b) Top of bottom floor (including basement,
crawlspace, or enclosure) is

a) Top of bottom floor (including basement,
crawlspace, or enclosure) is . feet meters above or below the HAG.

. metersfeet below the LAG.above or

SECTION F – PROPERTY OWNER (OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE) CERTIFICATION

E2.  For Building Diagrams 6–9 with permanent flood openings provided in Section A Items 8 and/or 9 (see pages 1–2 of Instructions), 
the next higher floor (elevation C2.b in 
the diagrams) of the building is . feet meters above or below the HAG.

. feet meters above or below the HAG.E3.  Attached garage (top of slab) is

E4.  Top of platform of machinery and/or equipment 
servicing the building is . feet meters above or below the HAG.

E5.  Zone AO only: If no flood depth number is available, is the top of the bottom floor elevated in accordance with the community's 
floodplain management ordinance? Yes Unknown.No The local official must certify this information in Section G.

The property owner or owner's authorized representative who completes Sections A, B, and E for Zone A (without a FEMA-issued or 
community-issued BFE) or Zone AO must sign here. The statements in Sections A, B, and E are correct to the best of my knowledge.

Property Owner or Owner's Authorized Representative's Name

Address City State ZIP Code

Telephone

Comments

DateSignature

Check here if attachments.

Form Page 3 of 6

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460

A

A

N

N

N A

N A

N A

Florida



ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the corresponding information from Section A.  FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USE

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) Replaces all previous editions.

ZIP CodeStateCity Company NAIC Number

Policy Number:Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No.

SECTION G – COMMUNITY INFORMATION (OPTIONAL)

The local official who is authorized by law or ordinance to administer the community's floodplain management ordinance can complete 
Sections A, B, C (or E), and G of this Elevation Certificate. Complete the applicable item(s) and sign below. Check the measurement 
used in Items G8–G10. In Puerto Rico only, enter meters.

G1. The information in Section C was taken from other documentation that has been signed and sealed by a licensed surveyor, 
engineer, or architect who is authorized by law to certify elevation information. (Indicate the source and date of the elevation 
data in the Comments area below.)

G2. A community official completed Section E for a building located in Zone A (without a FEMA-issued or community-issued BFE) 
or Zone AO.

G3. The following information (Items G4–G10) is provided for community floodplain management purposes.

G4.  Permit Number G5.  Date Permit Issued G6.  Date Certificate of 
Compliance/Occupancy Issued

G7.   This permit has been issued for: New Construction Substantial Improvement

G8.    Elevation of as-built lowest floor (including basement) 
of the building: . feet meters Datum

G9.    BFE or (in Zone AO) depth of flooding at the building site: . feet meters Datum

G10.  Community's design flood elevation: . feet meters Datum

Comments (including type of equipment and location, per C2(e), if applicable)

Local Official's Name Title

TelephoneCommunity Name

Date

Check here if attachments.

Signature

Form Page 4 of 6

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460



ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the corresponding information from Section A.  FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USE

Replaces all previous editions.

BUILDING PHOTOGRAPHS 
See Instructions for Item A6.

Policy Number:

Company NAIC NumberZIP CodeStateCity

Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No.

If using the Elevation Certificate to obtain NFIP flood insurance, affix at least 2 building photographs below according to the 
instructions for Item A6. Identify all photographs with date taken; "Front View" and "Rear View"; and, if required, "Right Side View" and 
"Left Side View." When applicable, photographs must show the foundation with representative examples of the flood openings or 
vents, as indicated in Section A8. If submitting more photographs than will fit on this page, use the Continuation Page.

Form Page 5 of 6

Photo One Caption

Photo Two Caption

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) 

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460

Photo Taken 08/19/2020 "Front View"

Photo Taken 08/19/2020 "Rear View"

Jason Warner
Stamp

Jason Warner
Stamp



ELEVATION CERTIFICATE OMB No. 1660-0008 
Expiration Date: November 30, 2022

IMPORTANT: In these spaces, copy the corresponding information from Section A.  FOR INSURANCE COMPANY USE

Replaces all previous editions.

BUILDING PHOTOGRAPHS 
Continuation Page

Building Street Address (including Apt., Unit, Suite, and/or Bldg. No.) or P.O. Route and Box No. Policy Number:

Company NAIC NumberZIP CodeStateCity

If submitting more photographs than will fit on the preceding page, affix the additional photographs below. Identify all photographs 
with: date taken; "Front View" and "Rear View"; and, if required, "Right Side View" and "Left Side View." When applicable, 
photographs must show the foundation with representative examples of the flood openings or vents, as indicated in Section A8.

Form Page 6 of 6

Photo One Caption

Photo Two Caption 

FEMA Form 086-0-33 (12/19) 

732 N PALMWAY

LAKE WORTH Florida 33460

Photo Taken 08/19/2020 "Side Views"

Photo Taken 08/19/2020 "Side View"

Jason Warner
Stamp

Jason Warner
Stamp

Jason Warner
Stamp



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT E – DESIGN GUIDELINES: MINIMAL TRADITIONAL

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE: 

TO:  

RE:  

FROM: 

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

732 North Palmway 

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number(s) 21-00100119 and 21-01500004:  A Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) 
for exterior alterations and a variance from base flood elevation requirements of the Florida Building 
Code for the detached garage located at 732 North Palmway; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-228-0080. The 
subject property is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a 
contributing resource to the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.



Minimal
Traditional

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  127



128  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

� e houses categorized as Minimal Traditional are limited in their features or details (hence, 
the “minimal,”) however they are typically well proportioned and exude a simple elegance. 
In fact, the little bit of detailing they do have tends to make reference to a previously popular 
or more traditional style (hence, the “traditional”). However, these houses played such an 
important part of the social and economic trends of the 1930s and 1940s and � lled a very 
great need for so many Americans, that their signi� cance in our built heritage cannot be 
overstated.

Building and home construction had come to nearly a complete standstill during the worst 
of the Great Depression. Although it started in the United States as just a severe economic 
downturn, the nation was soon rocked by a disastrous stock market crash in October 1929. 
� e Great Depression would eventually a� ect the entire world and lasted for almost a full 
decade. In America, this caused rampant unemployment and the harshest living conditions 
many would ever face as families struggled just to survive. 

� e home-building industry was particularly hard hit because many people couldn’t a� ord 
their rent, much less a� ord to buy a new home. Architects, engineers, construction workers, 
home-building supply factory workers – were all without jobs. In an e� ort to help put 
people back to work, the Federal Government created the Federal Housing Administration 
(FHA) in 1934. � e FHA created our current � nancial mortgaging system so that people 
could apply for home loans, which then had the e� ect of starting up the home-building 

A Style Introduction:

Lake Worth Beach, Florida

MISSING



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  129

industry again.  � e FHA then created publications that not 
only detailed how to build small houses (and maximize the 
space inside,) but also how to plan whole neighborhoods of 
these small houses. Builders and architects anxious to get 
back to work took note: if these were the kinds of houses 
that the FHA would provide loans for, that is what they 
would build!

We had barely come out of the Great Depression when 
the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941. 
� e entire country was now thrust into a massive e� ort 
to support the troops and the industry that war creates, 
including the manufacturing of military vehicles, ships, 
planes, bombs, and other machinery. Production plants 
sprang up around the country, and there was a great 
need to house all of the plant workers nearby. Entire 
communities, full of these a� ordable-to-build houses, were 
constructed for the employees and their families.

Federal Housing Administration advertisements 
from the 1940’s.



MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

130  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

G.I. Bill informational 
brochure, 1944.

General Electric & Co. appliance advertisement

In 1944, the G.I. Bill was introduced, which essentially made a promise that every 
returning serviceman would be provided very low interest loans in order to purchase 
a home. (� e bill would also provide tuition for veterans who wanted to continue their 
education, and also provided a small stipend for those that were still unemployed.) 
Developers knew that the FHA had already outlined what design and size home would 
be eligible for these loans and began replicating them in mass quantities. In the end, 
more than 15 million servicemen would take advantage of some aspect of the G.I. Bill, 
and the housing landscape throughout the country would be forever changed. 

Masonry Minimal Traditional

Lake Worth Beach, Florida



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  131

Minimal Traditional Elevation

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

� e key to a Minimal Traditional Frame home is its 
simplicity; simple in plan, simple roof lines, minimal 
decoration or architectural features. � ese one-story 
houses usually have a gable roof, or gable and wing, with 
the front-facing wing only protruding minimally from 
the rest of the house. Occasionally they would feature 
a side-gable roof, and this form was also called a “Cape 
Cod” house, popular because it symbolized the functional 
houses of Colonial America. Dormers were rarely 
present, though scalloping could sometimes be found at 
the base of the gable. Roofs were typically metal shingle 
or occasionally asphalt shingle.

� ese houses usually did not include a garage or carport, 
but sometimes had a small porch. � ey were typically 
clad in only one material, be it brick, wood, or stucco, 
and if more than one material appeared, the secondary 
material was usually � lling the front-facing gable. 
Secondary materials were normally painted the same 
color as the rest of the house to provide continuity. With 
smaller houses, the goal was to make them appear larger, 
and so a consistent color scheme was used.

A Style Described:



MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

132  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Doors were usually the traditional panel door. Windows were double-hung sash, with 
multiple panes or one-over-one con� gurations. Bay windows were sometimes present. 
Chimneys, shutters, and brick planters were about the extent of any additional features.

Any ornamentation on the house was a nod to the elements of classical architecture, 
such as a classical door surround or colonial shutters, though some variation did occur 
depending on where in the country the houses were located. In South Florida, it was not 
unusual for a Minimal Traditional house to have a racing stripe or projecting eyebrow 
as its featured detail, a nod to the Art Deco and Streamline Moderne styles that were so 
prevalent in the decades just before. Round, cast concrete vent blocks in the gable end, and 
a larger, rectangular cast concrete vent in the side of the garage were also a popular Florida 
variation. Both of these usually featured an animal, plant, or nautical theme to represent 
the local environment, such as � amingos, palms, and galleons (a Spanish sailing ship.)

 Sears, Roebuck and Co. 
home,1940’s.

Minimal Traditional pattern 
book home, 1940’s.

Wood Frame Minimal Traditional

Lake Worth Beach, Florida



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  133

Minimal Traditional Frame

1

6

3

2
5

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

1.  Roofs:
•   Roofs were originally metal shingle

2.  Exterior Finishes and Features:
•   Clad in wide plank lap siding
•   Fascia trim typically utilized sculpted or contoured 

detailing.
•  Gable vents were common.

3.  Doors & Windows:
•    Typically had wood panel, half panel / half glass 

doors. They also had French doors with fi ve or 
more lights

•   Garage doors were wood with recessed panels.

4. Chimney:
•    When utilized, chimneys are either brick or stucco 

with a very simple chimney cap

5. Foundation:
•   Foundations were continuous concrete stem walls 

with periodic vented openings.
•   Frame Minimal Traditional will often have 

decorative crawl space vents.

6. Porches:
•   Porches were integral to the house under the main 

roof or an extension of the main roof.
•   There were often wood columns with bases and 

capitals.

A Style Defi ned:



134  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

1.  Roofs:
•    Roofs were originally fl at white concrete tile, or 

occasionally glazed white barrel tiles.

2.  Exterior Finishes and Features:
•   Smooth stucco with concrete and plaster bas-relief 

panels.
•   Slump brick or stone planter boxes were a common 

decorative feature.

3.  Doors & Windows:
•    Windows were typically steel casement, aluminum 

frame awning, or fi xed pane.
•   Typically had 3-panel wooden doors, aluminum 

doors with jalousies, and fl ush doors with applied 
trim.

•   Clamshell or roll down shutters were permanent 
and offered shade and storm protection.

4. Chimney:
•    When utilized, chimneys are either brick or stucco 

with a very simple chimney cap

5. Foundation:
•  Will often have decorative crawl space vents

6. Porches:
•   Porches were integral to the house under the main 

roof or an extension of the main roof.
•  There were often wrought iron porch supports.

A Style Defi ned:

Minimal Traditional Masonry

1

6 3

2

5



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  135

GALLERY OF EXAMPLES

Wood Frame Minimal Traditional Masonry Minimal TraditionalLake Worth Beach, Florida Lake Worth Beach, Florida

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES



136  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Description of Minimal 
Traditional Windows

•  Wood Frame Minimal Traditional windows are primarily 
wooden double-hung, single-hung, or casement type           
windows.  � ey o� en have multiple lights.

•  Masonry Minimal Traditional windows are almost exclusively 
metal frame casements, � xed pane, or awning windows.

•  � e Minimal Traditional windows are always vertical or          
square in their proportion.  O� en two or three windows are 
grouped together.

•  � ese windows are inset deep into the exterior wall creating 
deep sill and shadow lines.

•  It is perfectly acceptable for Masonry and Wood Frame 
Minimal Traditional windows to be protected by permanent, 
operable shutters which are the best way to protect the 
windows.

•  Wood Frame Minimal Traditional windows are typically 
surrounded by wood trim with distinct header and sill details.  

•  Masonry Minimal Traditional o� en utilized sloping brick 
window sills.

MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

One over one, as single 
hung or double-hung 

windows.

Three over one, as 
single hung or double 

hung windows.

Six over one, as single 
hung or double hung 

windows.

Wooden casement 
windows are common 

in Wood Frame Minimal 
Traditional architecture

One over one, as single 



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  137

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Fixed-pane and steel casement windows

Fixed-pane and steel casement windows This Wood Frame Minimal Traditional home has a 
combination of double-hung and fi xed-pane windows

Corner steel casement 
windows

Aluminum awning 
windows



138  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

MINIMAL TRADIT IONAL

Description of Minimal 
Traditional Doors

•  Wood Frame Minimal Traditional doors are typically 
wood panel or half panel / half glass.  Also includes 
French doors with � ve or more lights.

•  Masonry Minimal Traditional doors are typically three-
panel wood, jalousie, and � ush doors with applied trim.

Minimal Traditional wooden panel door with 
side lights and a fan light

Three-panelled 
wood door

Aluminum Frame 
Jalousie Door

This 15-lite “French” door is also a common door 
type in the Wood Frame Minimal Traditional style



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  139

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Description of Minimal 
Traditional Roofs and 
Exterior Surfaces

•  Wood Frame Minimal Traditional buildings were typically 
clad in wood plank lap siding and had metal shingle roofs.

•  Masonry Minimal Tradition structures traditionally had 
white concrete roof tiles and were smooth stucco with    
bas-relief panels.

Masonry Minimal Traditional with white barrel tile roof

Wood Frame Minimal Traditional with a metal shingle roof

Masonry Minimal Traditional with smooth stucco 
fi nish and white barrel tile roof

Wood Frame Minimal Traditional with a second story 
over the garage

Decorative concrete garage vents are functional 
ornamentation in the Masonry Minimal Traditional style



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   1020 South Lakeside Drive  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  
 

OWNER: Lewis Makepeace and Nathalie Makepeace 

 1020 South Lakeside Drive 

 Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460 
        
PROJECT BACKGROUND: 

The single-family structure at 1020 South Lakeside Drive was constructed c. 1956 in a Masonry Vernacular 
architectural style with a Ranch style floor plan. The structure was designed by architect Ames Bennett 
at a cost of $19,400. The property has public frontage on South Lakeside Drive to the east and South Palm 
Park to the south. The original architectural drawings are as Attachment A. The architectural drawings 
illustrate a single-story residence of masonry construction with a smooth stucco exterior finish, cast 
aluminum columns, flat white concrete tile hip roof, and aluminum awning windows. Portions of the 
structure are detailed with decorative stucco quoins. In 1972, a bedroom addition was constructed at the 
rear of the structure.  

 

At the September 11, 2019 HRPB meeting, the property received approval for a COA for an addition and 
exterior alterations, a Base Flood Elevation (BFE) variance as a result of a substantial improvement, and 
a Pre-Construction approval for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption. The stamped 
permitting plans and HRPB Development Order for COA#19-00100107 are included as Attachment B. 
Photos of the structure prior to the rehabilitation are included as Attachment C. The Completed Work 
(Part III) application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption is included as Attachment D 
and current photos of the property illustrating the completed work are included as Attachment E. An 
analysis of the scope of work approved by the HRPB and completed by the applicant can be found on 
pages 3-6 of this report. Review of this application was scheduled for the July 14, 2021 regular meeting, 
but was continued to the September 8, 2021 meeting by request of the applicant.  



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

PROJECT REQUEST: 

The application will require the following approval: 

1. Approval of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax 
Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission of a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax 
Exemption  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Board review the Completed Work Application and supporting attachments to 
determine if the project was completed in a manner consistent with the HRPB Development Order and 
the intent of the Secretary of Interior Standards, with particular regards to the window and door 
replacement. If the Board moves to certify the completed work, staff recommends the HRPB recommend 
approval of the Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption to the Lake Worth Beach City 
Commission.  
 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

Owners Lewis and Nathalie Makepeace 

General Location East side of South Lakeside Drive directly north of South Palm Park  

PCN 38-43-44-27-01-042-0010 

Zoning Single Family Residential (SF-R)  

Existing Land Use Single Family Residence 

Future Land Use 
Designation 

Single Family Residential (SFR) 

 

  



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS: 

The HRPB determined at the September 11, 2019 regular meeting that the project complies with 
Objective 3.4.2, which encourages the identification of historically significant resources, and to promote 
their preservation and rehabilitation as referenced by the Surveys of Historic Properties conducted by 
the City of Lake Worth Beach. The project was also determined to be consistent with Policy 3.4.2.1 of the 
Comprehensive Plan, which encourages the preservation of historic, architectural, cultural, or aesthetic 
resources through the enforcement of the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.  

 

COMPLETED WORK ANALYSIS: 
COA#19-00100107: Pre-Construction Scope of Work  

The HRPB reviewed and approved a proposal for an addition and exterior alterations to the contributing 
resource at the September 11, 2019, regular meeting. The general scope of work for COA#19-00100107 
was approved as follows; 

 

1. Remove all existing bronze framed awning windows and replace them with new impact aluminum 
single-hung, horizontal slider, casement, and fixed windows with bronze frames and divided light 
patterns to replicate the existing windows 

2. Install a new flat white concrete tile roof to match the original roofing material 
3. Replace exterior doors with new impact French, sliding, and solid doors 
4. Replace the garage door with a new impact flush panel door 
5. Construct a new +/- 760 square foot single-story addition to the rear of the existing structure 
6. Install a new pool, paver deck, and walkways to the rear of the property  

 

In addition to the scope of work covered in the COA application, the project also included a full interior 
renovation, including new electrical, plumbing, and mechanical systems.  

 
COA#19-00100107: Pre-Construction Scope of Work Compliance Review 

Based on the Completed Work application, the approved scope of work was generally adhered to and 
the completed building reflects the exterior alterations proposed by the applicant at the September 11, 
2019 meeting.  

 
COA#19-00100107: HRPB Conditions of Approval Compliance Review 
The HRPB included nine (9) conditions of approval in the COA Development Order for the project, and 
three (3) conditions of approval for the Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption. Listed below are 
the conditions of approval and staff’s compliance review for each condition.  
 

1. All proposed exterior entry doors shall be aluminum impact full-view French and sliding doors, 
and shall utilize clear glass, frosted glass, obscure glass, or glass with a clear Low-E coating. Tinted, 
highly reflective, etched, or leaded glass shall not be used.  

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is not met. The door types utilized on the project are correct, but 
the glazing has a dark grey Low-E treatment. See Historic Preservation Analysis, pgs. 5-6. 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

2. The proposed windows shall be aluminum impact single-hung, casement, horizontal sliding, and 
fixed windows with a bronze or clear-anodized silver-mill finish and shall utilize clear glass, or glass 
with a clear Low-E coating. Tinted, grey, mirrored, or colored glass shall not be used.  

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is not met. The window types utilized on the project are correct, but 
the glazing has a dark grey Low-E treatment.  See Historic Preservation Analysis, pgs. 5-6. 

 
3. All divided light patterns shall be created utilizing exterior raised applied triangular muntins. 

External flat muntins or “grills between the glass” shall not be permitted.  
 

Staff Analysis: The condition is not met. The windows were installed with external flat muntins. 
See Historic Preservation Analysis, pgs. 5-6. 

 
4. The windows and doors shall be replaced in their original openings, and the openings shall not be 

made smaller by building in the framing or made larger by expanding the opening, except for the 
openings on the south elevation (as included on the plans). 

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is met. The windows were installed in the existing openings, except 
where otherwise specified on the plans.  

 
5. The windows shall be installed recessed a minimum of two inches (2”) in the jambs, and shall not 

be installed flush with the exterior wall.  
 

Staff Analysis: The condition is met. The windows are recessed in the jambs.  
 

6. The replacement garage door shall be a flush panel style door.  
 

Staff Analysis: The condition is met. A flush panel garage door was installed.  
 
7. The addition’s stucco shall match the smooth stucco on the existing historic structure. The 

Applicant shall be responsible for contacting staff for an on-site inspection prior to stucco 
completion.  

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is met. The new portions of stucco match the stucco texture on the 
historic structure.  

 
8. The roofing material shall be a flat white concrete tile, as proposed. 

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is met. A new flat white concrete tile roof was installed.  

 
9. The Site Data Table shall be revised (sheet A-1) at permitting to ensure consistency with the site 

plan measurements.  
 

Staff Analysis: The condition is met. The Site Data Table was revised at permitting.  
 



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption Conditions of Approval 

1) All work shall be conducted per the submitted and approved COA for exterior alterations, 
including all conditions of approval included in the Development Order.  Any revisions or changes 
to this approval shall be reported to staff and may require additional staff or HRPB approvals. 

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is not met. Staff worked with the applicant on the selection of a 
solid entry door and a garage door while the project was in permitting. Staff found the products 
to be consistent with the architectural style of the property and they were approved 
administratively. The glazing utilized on the windows and glazed doors are not in compliance with 
the conditions of approval included in the Development Order. See Historic Preservation Analysis, 
pgs. 5-6. 

 

2) All work shall be conducted in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards. 

 
Staff Analysis: Staff defers to the Board to determine if the intent of the Secretary of Interior 
Standards has been met. See Historic Preservation Analysis, pgs. 5-6. 

 

3) The applicant shall be responsible for fully documenting the rehabilitation process so that the 
Board will have sufficient documentation to evaluate the completed work to make a 
recommendation on the tax exemption application to City Commission. 

 
Staff Analysis: The condition is met. The applicants submitted a Part III application and staff 
conducted a site visit after the work was completed to photograph the completed work.  

 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION ANALYSIS: 
The work completed at the property is largely compliant with COA#19-00100107, with the exception of 
the window and door glazing, which is in conflict with conditions of approval one and two, and the muntin 
profile, which is in conflict with condition of approval three.  
 
Glazing Standard 
This project was approved and conditioned prior to the adoption of the current glazing standard, which 
requires a visual light transmittance of 60% or greater. This standard effectively prohibits Low-E 
treatments which turn glazing shades of grey and/or green. The current glazing standard was researched 
and instituted due to inconsistent industry standards between manufacturers as to what constitutes 
“clear Low-E glazing”. Per the applicant’s Part III application (Attachment D), “Low-E windows were 
selected to protect the interior materials from the harsh exposed southern, eastern, and western 
exposures of the home” and “Bronze window frames and tinted glass were selected to provide the best 
match for the existing windows that were tinted bronze glass with bronze frames.” 
 
Per a review of the pre-construction photos (Attachment C), the original window glazing appears to have 
a tint application. Staff recommends that the Board review the pre-construction and post-construction 
photos to determine if the glazing that was utilized successfully replicates the original products. Staff 
reviewed the permitting documentation for the project, and a glass specification was not provided by the 
contractor at the time of permit review. The work at the property passed a window bucking inspection on 



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

April 24, 2020, and a window final inspection on December 17, 2020. Although the window and door 
glazing is not in compliance with conditions of approval in the HRPB Development Order, the in-progress 
inspections were approved by a Building Division representative. The HRPB conditions of approval were 
adhered to the approved architectural plan set (Attachment B), printed on the permit card, and included 
in the HRPB Development Order, which was mailed to the applicants and attached to the architectural 
plan set. The completed renovation has not received a final inspection.  
 
Muntin Profile 
Raised profile triangular muntins applied to the exterior of the glazing are generally always required for 
window replacement projects within the City’s historic districts. The applicants contend in their Part III 
application that because their original windows were awning windows with flat exterior framing, the 
raised triangular profiles would not be suitable, as they do not successfully replicate the design and profile 
of the original product. Staff agrees with the applicant’s assessment that an exterior flat profile is a 
suitable alternative when replicating awning windows. Staff requests that the Board discuss the muntin 
profiles, and determine if the exterior flat profiles meet the intent of the Secretary of Interior Standards 
when replicating the design of an awning window.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
At the time of publication of the agenda, staff has not received written public comment. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
According to Lake Worth Beach Building Division records, the rehabilitation of the property was 
completed under building permit #19-2561 with a declared valuation of $251,955.00. The applicant 
submitted a Completed Work (Part III) application to the Department of Community Sustainability and 
provided photo documentation of the completed work.  
 
Should the Board determine that the qualifying improvements were successfully completed in accordance 
with the pre-construction application and recommends approval for the completed work application, staff 
will forward the application to the Lake Worth Beach City Commission for final approval.  Once the 
application has been approved by the City Commission, it will be forwarded to Palm Beach County for 
processing and approval by the County Board of Commissioners. 

 
The HRPB made findings at the September 11, 2019 regular meeting that the property was eligible for the 
exemption and that the proposal was in keeping with the Secretary of Interior Standards for Rehabilitation 
and the requirements set forth in Sec. 23.5-5 of the Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations. 
Staff has reviewed the documentation and materials provided in this application and has performed a site 
visit to the property. It is staff’s analysis that the work performed at the property generally follows the 
scope of work approved in the Pre-Construction Application and complies with the conditions of approval 
included in the Certificate of Appropriateness Development Order, with the exception of conditions one 
and two, which required clear glass or glass with a clear Low-E coating, and condition three, which requires 
raised triangular muntins.  
 
Staff recommends the Board review the Completed Work Application and supporting attachments to 
determine if the project was completed in a manner consistent with the HRPB Development Order and 
the intent of the Secretary of Interior Standards. If the Board moves to certify the completed work, staff 



 

 

 
HRPB #19-00100107 

1020 South Lakeside Drive 
Completed Work Application for a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

recommends that the HRPB recommend approval of the Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption 
to the Lake Worth Beach City Commission. Alternatively, the HRPB may move to certify the majority of 
the Completed Work Application, but may exclude components not deemed to be consistent with the 
Development Order and the intent of the Secretary of Interior Standards. 
 
POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB Project Number 19-00100107 for a Completed Work Application for a Historic 
Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the property located at 1020 South Lakeside Drive, based 
upon the competent substantial evidence in the staff report and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach 
Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation requirements. Further, I MOVE TO 
RECOMMEND to the Lake Worth Beach City Commission this application and its approval.  
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB Project Number 19-00100107 for a Completed Work Application for a Historic 
Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the property located at 1020 South Lakeside Drive, because 
the Applicant has not established by competent substantial evidence that the application is compliant 
with the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation requirements. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. Property File Documentation 
B. HRPB Development Order and Approved Architectural Plans 
C. 2019 (Pre-Construction) Photos 
D. Completed Work Application (Part III) 
E. 2021 (Post-Construction) Photos 

 
 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT A – PROPERTY FILE DOCUMENTATION 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE:  

TO:   

RE:   

FROM:  

September 1, 2021

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

1020 South Lakeside Drive  

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  











DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT B – HRPB DEVELOPMENT ORDER AND APPROVED PLANS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE:  

TO:   

RE:   

FROM:  

September 1, 2021 

September 8, 2021 

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

1020 South Lakeside Drive  

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  





















DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT C – PRE-CONSTRUCTION PHOTOS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE:  

TO:   

RE:   

FROM:  

September 1, 2021

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

1020 South Lakeside Drive  

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  











DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT D – COMPLETED WORK APPLICATION

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE:  

TO:   

RE:   

FROM:  

September 1, 2021

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

1020 South Lakeside Drive  

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  













DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT E – POST-CONSTRUCTION PHOTOS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  

AGENDA DATE:  

TO:   

RE:   

FROM:  

September 1, 2021

September 8, 2021

Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

1020 South Lakeside Drive  

Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 19-00100107: Consideration of a Completed Work Application (Part III) for 
a Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption and a recommendation to the City Commission for a 
Historic Preservation Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for the subject property located at 1020 South Lakeside 
Drive; PCN#38-43-44-27-01-042-0010. The subject property is a contributing resource to the South Palm 
Park Local Historic District and is located within the Single-Family Residential (SF-R) zoning district.  

























 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   307 North L Street  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 
 
OWNER: SUNDREAM DEVELOPMENT LLC 

Jeff Mercier  
  931 Village Blvd 905 
  West Palm Beach, FL 33409 
 
APPLICANT:  Antoniazzi Architecture Inc 
  Giorgio G. Antoniazzi  
  25 SE 2nd Avenue #319 
  Miami, FL 33131 

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT HISTORY: 

The four (4) lots located at 307 North L Street (Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of Block 90) were developed as one 
100’ x 135’ parcel in 1925 with a single-story single-family residence and detached garage. Although no 
architectural drawings of the buildings are available in the City’s property files, property cards from the 
1940s and 1950s (included as Attachment A) describe the buildings as being of frame construction on 
pier foundations, having gable and shed roofs, wood windows, and open porches. The detached garage 
was demolished in 1976, followed by the residence in 1990. The parcel has remained vacant and 
unimproved since the demolitions. Current photos of the property are included as Attachment B. 

 

On July 15, 2021, staff issued a zoning verification letter (ZONL #21-01700054) approving a request by 
the property owner to separate 307 North L Street back into its four (4) original 25-foot-wide platted lots 
of record. Although a request has been made by the property owner, the Palm Beach County Property 
Appraiser’s Office has not yet issued new parcel control numbers (PCNs) for the individual lots. Once 
issued, the property owner will be required to apply for City of Lake Worth Beach addresses for the 
individual parcels.  



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  

The applicant, Giorgio Antoniazzi, is requesting approval for the construction of four (4) new single-family 
structures on the four (4) 25’ x 135’ (3,375 sq. ft.) platted lots of record. The lots are located on the west 
side of North L Street, between 3rd Avenue North and 4th Avenue North in Lake Worth Beach.  The vacant 
properties are located in the Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and retain 
Future Land Use (FLU) designations of Medium Density Residential (MDR). 
 

If approved, the subject application would allow the construction of four (4) new single-story single-
family residences on four (4) lots.  The buildings are identical in design and draw inspiration from the 
Streamline Moderne architectural style. The application will require the following approvals: 

 

1. COA for the construction of a new ± 1,489 sf. single-family structure for Lot 27 of Block 90 
2. COA for the construction of a new ± 1,489 sf. single-family structure for Lot 28 of Block 90 
3. COA for the construction of a new ± 1,489 sf. single-family structure for Lot 29 of Block 90 
4. COA for the construction of a new ± 1,489 sf. single-family structure for Lot 30 of Block 90 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends denial of the application as the proposed roof design of 
the new single-family structures is not consistent with the Streamline Moderne architectural style and the 
Historic Preservation Design Guidelines criteria for new construction. In addition, the repetition of four 
(4) identical residences is not compatible with the development history within the City’s historic districts. 
The item may be continued, at the Board’s discretion, to facilitate the redesign of four (4) unique 
residences that are consistent with the development patterns of the surrounding district.  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

Owner 
SUNDREAM DEVELOPMENT 
LLC 

 

General Location 
West side of North L Street, 
between 3rd Avenue North and 
4th Avenue North 

PCN 38-43-44-21-15-090-0270 

Zoning 
Low-Density Multi-Family 
Residential (MF-20) 

Existing Land Use Vacant 

Future Land Use Designation 
Medium Density Residential 
(MDR) 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

SITE ANALYSIS: 

Surrounding Properties 

The site is surrounded by residential properties with similar Zoning and FLU designations, and thus, are 
found to be compatible with the proposed residential use on the subject site. The following summarizes 
the nature of the surrounding properties adjacent to the subject site: 

 

NORTH: Immediately north of the subject site is a single-family structure and detached accessory 
dwelling unit. This parcel contains a FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of 
MF-20. 

 

SOUTH: Immediately south of the subject site is a single-family structure. This parcel contains a 
FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of MF-20. 

 

EAST: East of the subject site across North L Street is a single-family structure. This parcel 
contains a FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of MF-20. 

 

WEST: West of the subject site across the rear alley is a multi-family structure. This parcel 
contains a FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of MF-20. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 

The subject sites are located in the Medium-Density Residential Future Land Use (FLU) designation. Per 
Policy 1.1.1.3 in the City’s Comprehensive, the FLU designation allows for a maximum density of 20 per 
acre.  As the proposed structure is a single-family development and has a proposed density of less than 
20 units per acre, it is consistent with the intent of the Medium Density Residential designation.  

 

The proposed single-family structures are also consistent with Goal 3.1, which seeks to achieve a supply 
of housing that offers a variety of residential unit types and prices for current and anticipated 
homeowners and renters in all household income levels by the creation and/or preservation of a full 
range of quality housing units.  

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE REQUIREMENTS: 

Land Development Code Requirements 

Code References 23.3-10 (MF-20); 23.4-10 (Off-street parking) 

 Required Proposed – Site Plan A Proposed – Site Plan B 

Lot Area 5,000 sf. 3,375 sf. Lot of Record 3,375 sf. Lot of Record 

Lot Width 50’-0” 25’-0” Lot of Record 25’-0” Lot of Record 

Building Height 30’-0” (2 stories)  17-8” 14-1” 

Setback - Front  20’-0” 20’-0” 20’-0” 

Setback - Side  

North: 3’-0” (10% of lot 
width, 3’ min.) 
South: 3’-0” (10% of lot 
width, 3’ min.) 

North: 3’-0” 
South: 3’-0” 
 

 
North: 3’-0” 
South: 3’-0” 
 

Setback - Rear 13’-6” (10% of lot depth)  13’-6” 13’-6” 

Impermeable 
Surface Total (1) 

65% (2,193.75 sf.) 63.49% (2,143 sf.) 65% (2,194 sf.) 

Front Yard 
Impermeable 
Surface Total 

900 sf. or 75% pervious 
and landscaped 

74.80% (374 sf.) 74.80% (374 sf.) 

Maximum Building 
Coverage (1) 

45.0% maximum 
(1,518.75 sf.) 

44.11% (1,489 sf.) 44.11% (1,489 sf.) 

Density/Number of 
Units 

6 dwelling units 1 dwelling unit 1 dwelling unit 

Floor Area Ratio (1) 
0.60 maximum (2,025 
sf.) 

0.44 (1,489 sf.) 0.44 (1,489 sf.) 

Living Area 800 sf. minimum 1,489 sf.  1,489 sf.  

Parking 

Single-family detached 
on lot less than fifty (50) 
feet wide - One (1) space 
per unit 

2 spaces 1 space 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

Parking Dimensions 

9’x18’ perpendicular or angled 
off street 
9’x28’ perpendicular or angled 
off alley 
9’x22’ parallel 

9’x28’ perpendicular 
off alley 
 

9’x22’ parallel 

  (1)- Small lot (lots up to 4,999 square feet) 

 
The proposed site plan is included in this report as Attachment C. The proposal features two site plan 
options that are depicted as Site Plan A and Site Plan B, which may be utilized interchangeably amongst 
the four parcels depending on the development objective for each site. The plans are generally consistent 
with all site data requirements in the City’s zoning code. Both site plan options meet the minimum off-
street parking requirements and comply with all building coverage allotments and required building 
setbacks, with the exception of the maximum impermeable surface in Site Plan B. The site plan shall be 
revised to ensure all impermeable surfaces do not exceed 65%.  A landscape plan was also provided in the 
application which will be reviewed at permitting for compliance with the City’s landscape requirements.   
 

Existing Non-Conformities 

The existing property is a nonconforming lot of record that does not comply with the minimum lot width 
and lot area provided within Section 23.3-10 of the Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations. 
Pursuant to LDR Section 23.5-3(c), Nonconforming lots of record: 

 

A nonconforming lot of record is a platted lot which by width, depth, area, dimension or location does not 
meet current standards set forth in these LDRs. In any zoning district in which single-family dwelling 
units are permitted, notwithstanding limitations imposed by other provisions of these LDRs, a single-
family dwelling unit and customary accessory buildings may be erected on any single nonconforming lot 
of record so platted on or before January 5, 1976. 

 

The subject properties were platted prior to January 5, 1976. Therefore, single-family development is 
permitted. 

 

Site Design Qualitative Standards 
The intent of the City’s site design qualitative standards is to minimize negative impacts of development 
on its neighbors by establishing qualitative requirements for the arrangements of buildings, structures, 
parking areas, landscaping, and other site improvements. Per Section 23.2-31(d)(5), Buildings, generally:  
 
Look-alike buildings shall not be allowed, unless, in the opinion of the board, there is sufficient separation 
to preserve the aesthetic character of the present or evolving neighborhood. This is not to be construed to 
prohibit the duplication of floor plans and exterior treatment in a planned development, where, in the 
opinion of the board, the aesthetics or the development depend upon, or are enhanced by the look-alike 
buildings and their relationship to each other.  

 

The request involves the construction of four identical single-family residences that are not part of a 
planned development application. The repetition of four identical buildings is not in character with the 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

development patterns of the surrounding neighborhood. The built environment in this area is diverse 
and building types vary widely in height, massing, exterior finish materials, and architectural styling. The 
HRPB does have the right to waive this requirement if, in the opinion of the Board, the properties 
maintain sufficient separation to preserve the character of the neighborhood.  

 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION ANALYSIS 

All new construction within a designated historic district shall be visually compatible. New buildings 
should take their design cues from the surrounding existing structures, using traditional or contemporary 
design standards and elements that relate to existing structures that surround them and within the 
historic district as a whole. Building design styles, whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually 
compatible with the existing structures in the district. Staff issued preliminary design review comments 
on July 19, 2021, which are included as Attachment D. The applicant provided responses to the design 
review comments and a Justification Statement, provided in this report as Attachment E.  

 

Section 23.5-4(k)(3) – Review/Decision  

A. In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction and 
additions (as applicable), the city shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional 
guidelines which help to define visual compatibility in the applicable property's historic district:  
 
(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the height of 

existing buildings located within the historic district.  

 

Staff Analysis: The height of the proposed buildings is visually compatible and in harmony with the 
heights of surrounding buildings.  

 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of existing buildings 
located within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The width and height of the front elevation of the proposed building are in scale with 
the surrounding properties on 25’ wide parcels.  

 

(3) The openings of any building within a historic district should be visually compatible and in 
harmony with the openings in buildings of a similar architectural style located within the historic 
district. The relationship of the width of the windows and doors to the height of the windows 
and doors in a building shall be visually compatible with buildings within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed window openings on the front facades are atypical for the shape of the 
building. The massing of the front facades is made up of an unbroken wall from the foundation to the 
top of the gable. The design’s narrow façade and prominent gable most closely resemble the massing 
of a Frame Vernacular building, which utilized slender vertically oriented windows in a 2:1 proportion. 
The proposal utilizes wide tri-part corner windows, which are atypical for the style and inconsistent 
with surrounding buildings.   



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or structures located 
within the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of existing narrow structures can 
be divided into smaller bays which will complement the visual setting and the streetscape. 

 

Staff Analysis: The elevations generally avoid long expanses of blank façade. The south elevations 
only feature two window openings, but they are supplemented by two false recesses of the same 
opening size.  

 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed siting of the buildings is generally appropriate and visually compatible 
with the spatial relationships found between neighboring and similar buildings throughout the 
district.  

 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances and porch 
projections on buildings and structures within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed design utilizes recessed entryways that are visible from North L Street. 
The recessed entryways are connected to the public sidewalk via a paver walkway. The entryway is 
proposed as a transparent corner on the southeast edges of the building, featuring a corner floor to 
ceiling window, a full-view glazed door, and a full height sidelight.  

 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the façade of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings and structures 
of a similar style located within the historic district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The building will be constructed of concrete block and finished with smooth stucco 
and a dimensional asphalt shingle roof. These materials are generally appropriate and found 
throughout the historic districts.   

 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the 
roof shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the Northeast 
Lucerne Local Historic District. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed roof shape is not compatible with the architectural design of the 
building. Per staff’s analysis and the project architect’s Justification Statement, the design utilizes 
common design traits from the Streamline Moderne architectural style, such as corner windows, 
overhanging eyebrows, and horizontal detailing around the recessed porch. Streamline Moderne 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 8 

 

 

buildings utilized flat roofs almost exclusively. See the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines 
Analysis for a more detailed examination.   

 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape masses 
and building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along a street to insure 
visual compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which it is visually related. 

 

Staff Analysis: The site plan includes aluminum perimeter fencing with a masonry gate surrounds 
along North L Street.  The design is generally compatible and complimentary to the surrounding 
environment.  

 

(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, porches 
and balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to which 
it is visually related. 

 

Staff Analysis:  The size and mass of the buildings are generally appropriate for the surrounding 
neighborhood.  

 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to which it 
is visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-directional. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposal includes four (4) identical buildings placed along North L Street on 25’ 
wide lots. The repetition of the buildings is atypical for the development patterns of the 
neighborhood, which features a broad array of architectural styles, building materials, and site plans. 
Staff has concerns that the cluster of identical buildings will draw unnecessary prominence to the 
grouping, while new construction within historic districts should seek to blend into the surrounding 
environment.  

 

(12) The architectural style of a building shall be visually compatible with other buildings to which it 
is related in the historic district, but does not necessarily have to be in the same style of buildings 
in the district. New construction or additions to a building are encouraged to be appropriate to 
the style of the period in which it is created and not attempt to create a false sense of history.  

 

Staff Analysis: The design of the structures hybridizes architectural styles; mainly the massing and 
roof type of a Frame Vernacular, mixed with the exterior finish material, fenestration, and detailing 
of a Streamline Moderne building. Staff recommends that buildings be designed true to a style, while 
also not attempting to replicate an existing building.  

 

(13) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical systems which 
affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-way, the following 
criteria shall be considered: 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 9 

 

 

(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original location, 
where possible. 

 

Staff Analysis: This requirement is not applicable to the new construction project on a vacant   

property. 

 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not be 
placed on, nor be visible from, primary facades. 

 

Staff Analysis: Staff will condition the project so that all mechanical equipment be located 
within the back yard and outside of required setbacks.  

 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical integrity 
of the structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, invasion or visual 
obstruction to the structure's building materials, or to its significant historic, cultural or 
architectural features. 

 

Staff Analysis: This requirement is not applicable to the new construction project on a vacant   

property. 

 

(14) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility and 
service areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the overall 
environment in mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and structures. 

 
Staff Analysis: The proposed new construction project is generally consistent with all site data 
requirements in the City’s Zoning Code. The proposed site design, including off-street parking, fencing, 
gates, and walkways are generally compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. If approved by the 
Board, staff has included a condition that the impermeable surface calculations be revised at 
permitting for compliance with the LDRs.  

 

B. In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures, which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall apply 
the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade. 

 

Staff Analysis: The visual compatibility standards have only been applied to portions that will be visible 
from North L Street.  

 

Historic Preservation Design Guidelines (Streamline Moderne Architectural Style) 
Each historic district in Lake Worth Beach is made of many architectural styles.  These buildings and homes 
were built over time, with different hands, and in a manner or style that was in favor at the time.  The 
historic districts of Lake Worth Beach are authentic and showcase a diversity of architectural styles. New 
construction within the districts should take the primary styles into consideration when contemplating 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 10 

 

 

the design of a new building. While it is understood that new buildings will not be built exactly the same 
way their historic neighbors were, there should be a conscious effort to be compatible with and take 
inspiration from the historic fabric. The Lake Worth Beach Historic Preservation Design Guidelines 
(LWBHPDG) chapter on Streamline Moderne architecture is included as Attachment F, and the chapter 
on considerations for New Construction is provided as Attachment G.  

 

Streamline Moderne Architectural Style: 
The simplified appearance of Streamline Moderne architecture was a response to the constraints of the 
Great Depression in the 1920’s and 1930’s. Buildings became more austere in terms of ornament, but the 
style embraced the materials of the era and the mantra that “form follows function”. This style was 
designed to emphasize simple geometry and incorporated curvilinear forms and long horizontal lines. 
Occasionally, nautical elements such as rooftop railings, porthole windows, and anodized metal detailing 
were utilized.  
 
Per the LWBHPDG, buildings of the Streamline Moderne style were generally one or two stories and 
utilized smooth stucco walls with rounded corners, horizontal detailing, and rounded corners. For 
windows; porthole, casement, and fixed pane windows were the most common, with some windows 
wrapping the corners of the building. The buildings generally sit on a raised masonry or slab foundation, 
and utilized flat roofs almost exclusively.  
 
Staff Analysis: The current proposal features many of the design traits associated with Streamline 
Moderne architecture, including corner fixed and casement windows, horizontal eyebrows and channel 
detailing around the entryway, and a smooth stucco exterior finish. Staff’s primary concerns come from 
the gable roofline, which is atypical for the style, as flat roofs are most compatible. The mixing of 
architectural detailing and massing elements is dissuaded in the Design Guidelines, as explained in the 
section below. 

 

New Construction: 

Per the LWBHPDG pg. 216; “New construction can be designed utilizing the architectural language of one 
of the 10 defined primary styles, or an alternative yet compatible style. It is very important that new 
construction not hybridize the styles, borrowing pieces from one and another. This approach creates 
confusion and dilutes the intrinsic value of the historic structures and styles. The best approach is to 
choose one style of architecture, and to design a structure that utilizes the common characteristics, 
proportions, and materials of that style.” 

 

Per the LWBHPDG pg. 218; “When building a new structure within a historic district, the owner should 
consider the variety of historic styles in Lake Worth beach, choose one, and design a structure consistent 
with the details provided in this guide.”  

 

Staff Analysis: The building’s prominent gable roofline is most commonly associated with the design of 
City’s collection of 1920’s Frame Vernacular cottages, which feature wood clapboard siding, vertically 
oriented windows, and slender rectilinear plans. Building’s that primarily utilize architectural materials 
and design elements of a particular architecture should also utilize the roof type most compatible with 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 11 

 

 

that style. As such, staff recommends that the gable rooflines be changed to flat roofs with short parapets 
with minimal detailing.  

 

Staff also has concerns that the repetition of four identical buildings will detract from the varied and 
diverse development patterns of the streetscape and surrounding historic district. While structures from 
similar architectural styles share design elements, such as roof shapes, window proportions, and porch 
arrangements, it is rare that independent neighboring structures are identical. New construction within 
historic districts should seek to blend in with their surroundings as historic districts are intended to 
preserve, showcase, and promote historic buildings. While new construction and alterations to buildings 
should always be carefully promoted, development within Lake Worth Beach’s historic districts should 
embrace and enhance the eclectic, diverse, and wide-ranging architectural environment. Staff contends 
that the construction of four identical structures is not in keeping with the surrounding built environment.  

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
At the time of publication of the agenda, staff has received not received written public comment. 

CONCLUSION: 
Staff recommends denial of the application as the proposed roof design of the new single-family 
structures is not consistent with the Streamline Moderne architectural style and the Historic Preservation 
Design Guidelines criteria for new construction. In addition, the repetition of four (4) identical residences 
is not compatible with the development history within the City’s historic districts. The item may be 
continued, at the Board’s discretion, to facilitate the redesign of four (4) unique residences that are 
consistent with the development patterns of the surrounding district. 
 
Should the Board consider approving the request, Staff recommends that the rooflines be altered to flat 
roofs with short parapets that are more in keeping with the Streamline Moderne architectural style. Staff 
has included additional conditions of approval for further visual compatibility, provided below for the 
Board’s consideration.  
 

Conditions of Approval 
1) Prior to obtaining building permits, all four parcels shall be assigned parcel control numbers (PCNs) 

by the Palm Beach County Property Appraiser.  
2) Prior to obtaining building permits, the four parcels shall be assigned addresses by the City of Lake 

Worth Beach. 
3) All proposed exterior entry doors shall be compatible with the Streamline Moderne architectural 

style, and shall be subject to Staff review at permitting. 
4) The doors may utilize clear glass, frosted, obscure glass, or glass with a Low-E coating (60% minimum 

VLT). Tinted, highly reflective, grey, colored, etched, or leaded glass shall not be used.  
5) The windows shall be recessed a minimum of two inches (2”) in the wall, and shall not be installed 

flush with the exterior wall. 
6) The windows shall utilize glazing that is clear, non-reflective, and without tint. Low-E (low emissivity) 

is allowed but the glass shall have a minimum 60% visible light transmittance (VLT) measured from 
the center of glazing. Glass tints or any other glass treatments shall not be combined with the Low-E 
coating to further diminish the VLT of the glass. 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100250 

307 North L Street 
COA Application – Single-Family New Construction 

P a g e  | 12 

 

 

7) The corner windows on the northeast corner of the structures shall be joined with a metal structural 
mull and not out of a masonry column.  

8) The windows shall utilize white or clear anodized frames.  
9) The stucco texture shall be smooth, as proposed.  
10) All improved surfaces shall be setback a minimum of 1’-0” from property lines to allow for adequate 

water runoff within the property boundary.  
11) All mechanical equipment shall be located to the rear of the property and outside of required 

setbacks.  
12) All fencing and gate locations, heights, and materials shall be reviewed by staff at permitting. Staff 

recommends horizontal fencing as opposed to the vertical slat aluminum fencing.  
13) The roof type shall be altered from a gable configuration to a flat roof with a short parapet, subject 

to staff review at permitting. 
14) A sample piece of the faux wood planks proposed for the entryway detail and the site wall shall be 

submitted to staff at permitting. Staff recommends planks with a minimum one inch (1”) depth to 
provide for adaquate shadow lines.  

15) All impermeable surface calculations shall be revised for compliance with LDR Section 23.3-10, 
subject to staff review at permitting. 

POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB Project Number 21-00100250 with staff recommended conditions for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family 
structures at 307 North L Street, based upon the competent substantial evidence in the staff report and 
pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic Preservation 
requirements.  
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB Project Number 21-00100250 for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) the 
construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures at 307 North L Street, because 
the Applicant has not established by competent substantial evidence that the application complies with 
the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulation and Historic Preservation requirements.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Property File Documentation 
B. Current Photos 
C. Proposed Architectural Plans 
D. Staff Review Comments (Issued 7-19-2021) 
E. Applicant Justification Statement and Staff Review Responses 
F. LWBHPDG Streamline Moderne 
G. LWBHPDG New Construction Considerations 



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

ATTACHMENT A – PROPERTY FILE DOCUMENTATION 
 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   307 North L Street  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 
  

 
 











DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT B – CURRENT PHOTOS 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT C – ARCHITECTURAL PLAN SET 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

G-000
COVER

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

307 NORTH L ST. RESIDENCES 

A-001 SITE PLAN COA

A-002 CONCEPTUAL LANDSCAPE PLAN COA

A-100 LEVEL 1 OVERALL PLAN COA

A-101 ENLARGED PLANS COA

A-301 ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS COA

A-501 3D IMAGES COA

A-502 AXONOMETRIC VIEW COA

SHEET INDEX
SHEET NUMBER SHEET NAME SHEET STATUS

G-000 COVER COA

G-001 PROJECT INFORMATION COA

G-002 NEIGHBORING IMAGES COA

G-003 AREA DIAGRAM COA

NEW CONSTRUCTION SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS SET 

07-09-2021

OWNER/DEVELOPER

ARCHITECT OF RECORD
ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC

25 SE 2nd Ave #319

Miami, FL 33131

786-496-2979 

SUNDREAM DEVELOPMENT LLC

931 VILLAGE BLVD STE 905

WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33409

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE



ZONING MAP VICINITY MAP

PROJECT LOCATION

307 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH BEACH, Fl 33460

PARCEL 1 - LOT 27 BLOCK 90

308 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH BEACH, Fl 33460

PARCEL 2 - LOT 28 BLOCK 90

309 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH BEACH, Fl 33460

PARCEL 3 - LOT 29 BLOCK 90

310 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH BEACH, Fl 33460

PARCEL 4 - LOT 30 BLOCK 90

II. BUILDING DISPOSITION

SETBACKS:

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:               REQUIRED PROVIDED

FRONT (WEST)    20'-0" 20'-0"

SIDE (NORTH - SOUTH) (10% OR 3FT MIN )     3'-0" 3'-0"

REAR (EAST)          (10%  OR 15FT MIN)   13'-6" 35'-7"

BUILDING HEIGHT: MAX. PROVIDED

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE HEIGHT: 30'-0"(2 STORIES) 17'-8"  HIGH POINT(1 STORY) 

*MEDIAN ROOF HEIGHT: 14'-1"

(AVG CROWN ROAD - NGVD)

BUILDING AREA: PROPOSED

PROPOSED AREA UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

COVERED AREA: 274 SF

TOTAL (GROSS): 1,763 SF

TOTAL UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

MAX FAR:  .60                                                         MAX. PROVIDED 

    2,025 SF  60% 1,489 SF  44%

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE MAXIMUM:   SMALL LOT 65% = 2,194 SF

MAX IMPERMEABLE OPTION A:

BUIILDING FOOTPRINT = 1,489 SF 44%

HARDSCAPE = 654 SF  19%

TOTAL PROPOSED = 2,143 SF  64%

BUILDING COVERAGE MAX: 1,519 SF (45%) 

PROPOSED BUILDING COVERAGE: 1,489 SF (44%)

II. BUILDING DISPOSITION

SETBACKS:

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:               REQUIRED PROVIDED

FRONT (WEST)    20'-0" 20'-0"

SIDE (NORTH - SOUTH) (10% OR 3FT MIN )     3'-0" 3'-0"

REAR (EAST)          (10%  OR 15FT MIN)   13'-6" 35'-7"

BUILDING HEIGHT: MAX. PROVIDED

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE HEIGHT: 30'-0"(2 STORIES) 17'-8"  HIGH POINT(1 STORY) 

*MEDIAN ROOF HEIGHT: 14'-1"

(AVG CROWN ROAD - NGVD)

BUILDING AREA: PROPOSED

PROPOSED AREA UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

COVERED AREA: 274 SF

TOTAL (GROSS): 1,763 SF

TOTAL UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

MAX FAR:  .60                                                         MAX. PROVIDED 

    2,025 SF  60% 1,489 SF  44%

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE MAXIMUM:   SMALL LOT 65% = 2,194 SF

MAX IMPERMEABLE OPTION B:

BUIILDING FOOTPRINT = 1,489 SF  44%

HARDSCAPE = 705 SF  21%

TOTAL PROPOSED = 2,194 SF  65%

BUILDING COVERAGE MAX: 1,519 SF (45%) 

PROPOSED BUILDING COVERAGE: 1,489 SF (44%)

II. BUILDING DISPOSITION

SETBACKS:

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:               REQUIRED PROVIDED

FRONT (WEST)    20'-0" 20'-0"

SIDE (NORTH - SOUTH) (10% OR 3FT MIN )     3'-0" 3'-0"

REAR (EAST)          (10%  OR 15FT MIN)   13'-6" 35'-7"

BUILDING HEIGHT: MAX. PROVIDED

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE HEIGHT: 30'-0"(2 STORIES) 17'-8"  HIGH POINT(1 STORY) 

*MEDIAN ROOF HEIGHT: 14'-1"

(AVG CROWN ROAD - NGVD)

BUILDING AREA: PROPOSED

PROPOSED AREA UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

COVERED AREA: 274 SF

TOTAL (GROSS): 1,763 SF

TOTAL UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

MAX FAR:  .60                                                         MAX. PROVIDED 

    2,025 SF  60% 1,489 SF  44%

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE MAXIMUM:   SMALL LOT 65% = 2,194 SF

MAX IMPERMEABLE OPTION A:

BUIILDING FOOTPRINT = 1,489 SF 44%

HARDSCAPE = 654 SF  19%

TOTAL PROPOSED = 2,143 SF  64%

BUILDING COVERAGE MAX: 1,519 SF (45%) 

PROPOSED BUILDING COVERAGE: 1,489 SF (44%)

II. BUILDING DISPOSITION

SETBACKS:

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE:               REQUIRED PROVIDED

FRONT (WEST)    20'-0" 20'-0"

SIDE (NORTH - SOUTH) (10% OR 3FT MIN )     3'-0" 3'-0"

REAR (EAST)          (10%  OR 15FT MIN)   13'-6" 35'-7"

BUILDING HEIGHT: MAX. PROVIDED

PRINCIPLE STRUCTURE HEIGHT: 30'-0"(2 STORIES) 17'-8"  HIGH POINT(1 STORY) 

*MEDIAN ROOF HEIGHT: 14'-1"

(AVG CROWN ROAD - NGVD)

BUILDING AREA: PROPOSED

PROPOSED AREA UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

COVERED AREA: 274 SF

TOTAL (GROSS): 1,763 SF

TOTAL UNDER AIR: 1,489 SF

MAX FAR:  .60                                                         MAX. PROVIDED 

    2,025 SF  60% 1,489 SF  44%

IMPERMEABLE SURFACE MAXIMUM:   SMALL LOT 65% = 2,194 SF

MAX IMPERMEABLE OPTION B:

BUIILDING FOOTPRINT = 1,489 SF  44%

HARDSCAPE = 705 SF  21%

TOTAL PROPOSED = 2,194 SF  65%

BUILDING COVERAGE MAX: 1,519 SF (45%) 

PROPOSED BUILDING COVERAGE: 1,489 SF (44%)

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1

1

1

1

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

As indicated

G-001
PROJECT INFORMATION

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

PROJECT STATISTICS

I. PROJECT INFORMATION 

ADDRESS: 307 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

PARCEL 1 - LOT 27 BLOCK 90

PARCEL CONTROL NUMBER: 38434421150900270

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: TOWN OF LAKE WORTH LTS 27 BLK 90

LOT SIZE: 3,375 SF 

LOT WIDTH 25 FT TOTAL

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT: 30FT  2 - STORIES

LAND USE: Multi-family Residential (20)    

ZONING: MF-20

HISTORIC DISTRICT: NORTHEAST LUCERNE

CONTRIBUTING: NO

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

KEY PLAN1

I. PROJECT INFORMATION 

ADDRESS: 308 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

PARCEL 2 - LOT 28 BLOCK 90

PARCEL CONTROL NUMBER: TBD

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: TOWN OF LAKE WORTH LTS 28 BLK 90

LOT SIZE: 3,375 SF 

LOT WIDTH 25 FT TOTAL

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT: 30FT  2 - STORIES

LAND USE: Multi-family Residential (20)    

ZONING: MF-20

HISTORIC DISTRICT: NORTHEAST LUCERNE

CONTRIBUTING: NO

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

I. PROJECT INFORMATION 

ADDRESS: 307 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

PARCEL 1 - LOT 27 BLOCK 90

PARCEL CONTROL NUMBER: 38434421150900270

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: TOWN OF LAKE WORTH LTS 27 BLK 90

LOT SIZE: 3,375 SF 

LOT WIDTH 25 FT TOTAL

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT: 30FT  2 - STORIES

LAND USE: Multi-family Residential (20)    

ZONING: MF-20

HISTORIC DISTRICT: NORTHEAST LUCERNE

CONTRIBUTING: NO

I. PROJECT INFORMATION 

ADDRESS: 308 NORTH L STREET

LAKE WORTH, FL 33460

PARCEL 2 - LOT 28 BLOCK 90

PARCEL CONTROL NUMBER: TBD

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: TOWN OF LAKE WORTH LTS 28 BLK 90

LOT SIZE: 3,375 SF 

LOT WIDTH 25 FT TOTAL

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT: 30FT  2 - STORIES

LAND USE: Multi-family Residential (20)    

ZONING: MF-20

HISTORIC DISTRICT: NORTHEAST LUCERNE

CONTRIBUTING: NO

1

1
1 1 1



F.F. ELEVATION

0' - 0"

T.O. BEAM

10' - 0"

TOP OF ROOF

17' - 2"P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

CROWN OF ROAD

-0' - 6"

MEDIAN ROOF

HEIGHT

13' - 7"

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

1" = 10'-0"

G-002
NEIGHBORING IMAGES

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 1" = 10'-0"

CONTEXT ELEVATION1

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE



1489 SF

AC AREA

117 SF

COVERED AREA

157 SF

COVERED AREA

1489 SF

BUILDING COVERAGE

146 SF

IMPERMEABLE

194 SF

IMPERMEABLE

141 SF

IMPERMEABLE

SOD

345 SF

IMPERMEABLE

SEMI-PERVIOUS GRAVEL MATERIAL 

345 SF / 2 = 173 SF 

1489 SF

BUILDING COVERAGE
559 SF

IMPERMEABLE

146 SF

IMPERMEABLE

POOL

SOD

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8

M
IA

M
I 

F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

3/16" = 1'-0"

G-003
AREA DIAGRAM

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t

L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

AREA DIAGRAM3

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

COVERAGE DIAGRAM - OPTION A1

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

COVERAGE DIAGRAM - OPTION B2

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

1



SETBACK REQUIRED

20' - 0"101' - 6"

SETBACK REQUIRED

13' - 6"

ALLEY

10' - 0"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

SETBACK REQUIRED 

13' - 6" 101' - 6"

SETBACK LINE

20' - 0"

N
 O

 R
 T

 H
  
  
L 

  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T

A
 L

 L
 E

 Y

PATIO

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PATIO

PATIO

PATIO

OVERALL DEPTH

135' - 0"

4
0

' T
O

T
A

L 
R

/W
 P

E
R

 P
LA

T

3
0

' A
S
P

H
A

LT
 P

A
V

E
M

E
N

T

PARCEL 1 - LOT 27 BLOCK 90

PARCEL 2 - LOT 28 BLOCK 90

PARCEL 3 - LOT 29 BLOCK 90

PARCEL 4 - LOT 30 BLOCK 90

TOTAL LOT AREA 3,375 SF

5
' C

O
N

C
. 

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

2
5

' 
- 

0
"

2
5

' 
- 

0
"

2
5

' 
- 

0
"

2
5

' 
- 

0
"

POOL

POOL
PARKING SPACE

9' X 22'

PROPOSED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE

PROPOSED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE

PROPOSED  SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE

PROPOSED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE

SIDEWALK

5' - 0"

10'-0" X 16'-0"

10'-0" X 16'-0"

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

SETBACK LINE

P. LINE

P. LINE

P. LINE

P. LINE

20' - 1" 18' - 0" 7' - 6"

9' - 0" 2' - 10" 9' - 0"10' - 0"4' - 7"

20' - 1" 18' - 0" 7' - 6"

PARKING SPACE

9' X 22'

10' - 0"

9' - 0" 2' - 10" 9' - 0"10' - 0"4' - 7"10' - 0"

TOTAL LOT AREA 3,375 SF

TOTAL LOT AREA 3,375 SF

TOTAL LOT AREA 3,375 SF

6FT ALUMINIUM FENCE

108' - 0"

3FT ALUMINIUM FENCE

25' - 0" 2' - 1"

P. LINE

POOL SETBACK

16' - 7"

POOL SETBACK

16' - 7"

1

1

9
' 

- 
1

"

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

3/16" = 1'-0"

A-001
SITE PLAN

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

SITE PLAN1

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021



SOD

SODPAVERS ON SAND

SOD

PAVERS ON SANDGRAVEL

LANDSCAPE POINTS: REQUIRED PROVIDED

SMALL LOT AREA    3,500 SF 50 POINTS 50 POINTS

LANDSCAPE POINT TABLE: LANDSCAPE POINTS TOTAL POINTS PROVIDED

LARGE MATURING TREE: 10 POINTS 0 POINTS (0)

MEDIUM MATURING TREE: 7 POINTS 21 POINTS    (3)

SHRUB: 2 POINTS 34 POINTS (17) 

TOTAL POINTS: 55 LANDSCAPE POINTS

LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

NOTES:

- FIFTY (50) PERCENT OF THE LANDSCAPE POINTS MUST BE PLANTED WITHIN THE FRONT YARD AND FIFTY (50) PERCENT OF THE LANDSCAPE POINTS WITHIN THE 

  REMAINING PORTION OF THE LANDSCAPED AREAS.

- THE AREA BETWEEN THE PROPERTY LINE AND THE EDGE OF PAVEMENT OF THE ABUTTING RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE LANDSCAPED, AND PROVIDED WITH IRRIGATION 

  AND MAINTENANCE. ROCK, GRAVEL, CONCRETE OR ASPHALT IS EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED FROM BEING USED IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY.

- TREE MITIGATION PLAN TO BE PROVIDED AT PERMIT. ANY REMOVED TREES WILL BE REPLACED PER ARTICLE 6.23.6-1

FRONT YARD

20' - 0"

2
5

' 
- 

0
"

PAVER AREA IN FRONT YARD 126 SF

TOTAL FRONT YARD 

AREA 500 SF

FRONT YARD PERVIOUS REQUIRED PROVIDED

375 SF 75% 374 SF 74.8%

FRONT YARD PERVIOUS AREA

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8

M
IA

M
I 

F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

As indicated

A-002
CONCEPTUAL

LANDSCAPE PLAN

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t

L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

LANDSCAPE CONCEPTUAL PLAN1

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

FRONT YARD IMPERMEABLE DIAGRAM2

1



SETBACK REQUIRED

20' - 0"101' - 6"

SETBACK REQUIRED

13' - 6"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

1
9

' 
- 

0
"

3
' 

- 
0

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

SETBACK REQUIRED 

13' - 6" 101' - 6"

SETBACK REQUIRED

20' - 0"

N
 O

 R
 T

 H
  
  
L 

  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T

A
 L

 L
 E

 Y

R
EF

.

M. BEDROOM

OFFICE /BDRM

W/D

KITCHEN

AC

TV

GREAT RM.PATIO
BEDROOM 01

FOYER

R
EF

.

M. BEDROOM

OFFICE /BDRM

W/D

KITCHEN

AC

TV

GREAT RM.
BEDROOM 01

FOYER

R
EF

.

M. BEDROOM

OFFICE /BDRM

W/D

KITCHEN

AC

TV

GREAT RM.
BEDROOM 01

FOYER

R
EF

.

M. BEDROOM

OFFICE /BDRM

W/D

KITCHEN

AC

TV

GREAT RM.
BEDROOM 01

FOYER

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 18'

PATIO

PATIO

PATIO

35' - 7" 79' - 5" 20' - 0"

POOL

POOL
10'-0" X 16'-0"

10'-0" X 16'-0"

PARKING SPACE

9' X 22'

PARKING SPACE

9' X 22'

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

3/16" = 1'-0"

A-100
LEVEL 1 OVERALL PLAN

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021
0" 2' 4' 8'SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

LEVEL 1 - OVERALL PLAN1

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1



R
EF

. M. BEDROOM

OFFICE /BDRM

W/D

KITCHEN

AC

TV

GREAT RM.
BEDROOM 01

FOYER

13'-8" X 17'-8"

7'-10" X 10'-9"

12'-0" X 13'-7" 11'-0" X 13'-7"

12'-0" X 11'-0"

9'-2" X 6'-3"

GALLERY
46'-7" X 3'-8"

W.I.C.
6'-1" X 7'-3"

5'-0"X5'-11"

POWDER
LAUNDRY RM

MASTER BATH 
8'-0" X 8'-2"

BATH
5'-0" X 11'-9"

8'-0" X 5'-0"

WALL BELOW  

S
LO

P
E

 8
/1

2
S
LO

P
E

 8
/1

2

1
' 

- 
6

"
1

' 
- 

6
"

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

1/4" = 1'-0"

A-101
ENLARGED PLANS

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

LEVEL 1 - ENLARGED FLOOR PLAN1

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

ROOF PLAN2

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

1

1

1

1

1 1 1 1

1 1

1



F.F. ELEVATION

0' - 0"

T.O. BEAM

10' - 0"

TOP OF ROOF

17' - 2"

CROWN OF ROAD

-0' - 6"

MEDIAN ROOF

HEIGHT

13' - 7"

3 3 3 3 3

2

2 24

7
' 

- 
2

"
0

' 
- 

1
1

"
9

' 
- 

1
"

7
' 

- 
2

"
2

' 
- 

0
"

5
' 

- 
4

"
4

".
2

' 
- 

4
"

3

4
".

8
' 

- 
0

"

3

F.F. ELEVATION

0' - 0"

T.O. BEAM

10' - 0"

TOP OF ROOF

17' - 2"

CROWN OF ROAD

-0' - 6"

MEDIAN ROOF

HEIGHT

13' - 7"

3 3 1
2

3

2

2
4

8
' 

- 
8

"
6

".
8

' 
- 

0
"

STUCCO REVEAL

FAUX WINDOW

F.F. ELEVATION

0' - 0"

T.O. BEAM

10' - 0"

TOP OF ROOF

17' - 2"

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

CROWN OF ROAD

-0' - 6"

MEDIAN ROOF

HEIGHT

13' - 7"

2

33
1

7
' 

- 
2

"
2

' 
- 

0
"

5
' 

- 
4

"
4

".
2

' 
- 

4
"

7
' 

- 
2

"
1

' 
- 

6
"

6
".

8
' 

- 
0

"

1
4

' 
- 

1
"

1
7

' 
- 

8
"

CONCRETE SILL 

F.F. ELEVATION

0' - 0"

T.O. BEAM

10' - 0"

TOP OF ROOF

17' - 2"

P
. 

LI
N

E

P
. 

LI
N

E

CROWN OF ROAD

-0' - 6"

MEDIAN ROOF

HEIGHT

13' - 7"

3

2

8
' 

- 
0

"
4

".
1

' 
- 

8
"

7
' 

- 
2

"

CONCRETE 

OVERHANG

12' - 0"

FAUX WOOD PLANKS

SMOOTH STUCCO

ALUM. WINDOW WALL SYSTEM

*WHITE

1

2

3

ELEVATION NOTES

ARCHITECTURAL ASPHALT SHINGLE4

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

As indicated

A-301
ARCHITECTURAL
ELEVATIONS

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION1

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION2

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION3
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION4

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

1

1

1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1



SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8

M
IA

M
I 

F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

A-501
3D IMAGES

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t

L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

STREET VIEW

FRONT VIEW 

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE

1 PLANING

COMMENTS

08-10-2021

1



A L L E Y

N O R T H    L    S T R E E T

N O R T H    L    S T R E E T

A L L E Y

SEAL:

PROJECT NUMBER:

DRAWING NAME:

SCALE:

ALL DESIGNS INDICATED IN THESE 

DRAWINGS ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC. NO COPIES, 

TRANSMISSIONS, REPRODUCTIONS OR 

ELECTRONIC MANIPULATION OF ANY 

PORTION OF THESE DRAWINGS IN WHOLE OR 

IN PART ARE TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE 

EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION OF 

ANTONIAZZI ARCHITECTURE INC.

DATE:

A
N

T
O

N
IA

Z
Z

I 
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

 I
N

C
.

3
4

0
 W

. 
F
L
A

G
L
E

R
 S

T
 #

11
0

8
M

IA
M

I 
F
L
, 

3
3

13
0

P
: 
7
8

6
-
4

9
6

-
2

9
7
9

E
: 
G

IO
R

G
IO

@
A

N
T

O
N

IA
Z

Z
IA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

A-502
AXONOMETRIC VIEW

COA

1914

3
0

7
 N

O
R

T
H

 L
 S

T
. 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

S

3
0

7
 N

o
rt

h
 L

 S
tr

e
e

t
L
a
k
e

 W
o

rt
h

 B
e

a
c

h
, 
F
l 
3

3
4

6
0

07-09-2021

SCALE:

AXONOMETRIC FRONT VIEW1

SCALE:

AXONOMETRIC REAR VIEW2

ISSUE # DESCRIPTION DATE



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT D – STAFF REVIEW COMMENTS 07.19.2021 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
DATE:  June 20, 2021 
 
RE:   307 North L Street 
 4 New Single-Family Dwellings 
 Staff Review Comments  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
Zoning and Historic Preservation Review  
Jordan Hodges | 561-586-1703 | jhodges@lakeworthbeachfl.gov 
Abraham Fogel | 561-586-1690 | afogel@lakeworthbeachfl.gov  
 
• Site Plan and Project Statistics 

o FAR 
 Move FAR from Project Information to Building Disposition and provide calculations. 
 Max Far is provided at .50, whereas .60 is allowed for lots up to 4,999 sq. ft.  

o Historic District  
 Under project information, add Northeast Lucerne as the historic district instead of “yes”. 

o Front Setback 
 Front porch slab/stairs shall not encroach into front 20’-0” front setback. Please revise. 

o Rear Setback 
 The minimum required rear setback is 13’-6” (10% of lot depth). 

o Front Yard Impermeable 
 Add a calculation for Front Yard Impermeable 

o “Provided however that the lesser of nine hundred (900) square feet or seventy-five (75) 
percent of the front yard area shall remain pervious and be landscaped.” 
 Front yard area: 25’x20’ = 500 sf.  

o Impermeable Surface 
 Site Plan “Option A” utilizes a gravel parking pad. Gravel is considered a semi-pervious 

material. For semi-pervious surfaces, two (2) square feet of semi-pervious surface shall be 
equivalent to one (1) square foot of impervious surface for the purpose of calculating 
impermeable surface totals. Please revise the building disposition calculations.  

 The pavers utilized on both “Option A” and “Option B” may be considered semi-pervious if a 
pervious paver is utilized. If a pervious paver is utilized on the site plan, documentation shall 
be submitted at permitting illustrating that the pavers have a percolation rate of 50%. Please 
revise the building disposition calculations if necessary. 

 
• Elevations 

o The massing of the design mimics the massing of a Frame Vernacular cottage, but it utilizes 
materials, finishes, design features, and fenestration more closely resembling the City’s collection 
of single-story Art Deco and Streamline Moderne structures. 

mailto:jhodges@lakeworthbeachfl.gov
mailto:afogel@lakeworthbeachfl.gov


 
 
 

307 North L Street 
Staff Review Comments 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

 The mixing of massing and materials commonly associated with prevalent types of historic 
architecture is discouraged in the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines.  
− LWBHPDG, New Construction, Pg. 216. “It is very important that new construction not 

hybridize the styles, borrowing pieces from one and another…The best approach is to 
choose one style of architecture, and to design a structure that utilizes the common 
characteristics, proportions, and materials of that style.”  

o Staff recommends changing the roofline from a gable roof to a flat roof, or a low slope gable 
behind a short parapet to unify the design elements with the massing under a common 
architectural style.  
 

 
 

o Staff recommends matching the front window header to the height of the entry door and not the 
eyebrow.  

o Staff recommends adding simple masonry window sills.  
o Staff recommends utilizing a corner window configuration on the northeast corner of the 

structure.  
o Staff recommends utilizing additional glazing on the south elevation, as it features long expanses 

of blank façade.  
 
• General Comments 

o Pursuant to LDR Section 23.2-31(d)(5), look-alike buildings shall not be allowed unless, in the 
opinion of the board, there is sufficient separation to preserve the aesthetic character of the 
present or evolving neighborhood. Staff reiterates proposing four identical single-family 
structures is atypical for the development pattern in the city and is generally not recommended.  

o Please provide a Justification Statement explaining the proposed architectural style and the 
repetition of the project.   

 
 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT E – APPLICANT JUSTIFICATION STATEMENT AND REVIEW RESPONSES 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



             
         

                        

Antoniazzi Architecture Inc. 
25 NE 2nd Ave 

Miami FL, 33131 
Giorgio@Antoniazziarch.com 

786-496-2979 

August 10, 2021 
 
 
City of Lake Worth Beach   
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division  
1900 2nd Avenue North  
Lake Wort Beach, FL 33461 
 
 
 
RE:  307 North L Street 4 New Single-Family Dwellings – Certificate of Appropriateness – Justification 

Statement 
 
 
 
 
The proposed homes to be located on subsequent Lots on 307 North L Steet are streamline-modern in style & 
fitted within 25ft lots to match the street’s existing pattern of development. We believe the 4 homes’ duplicated 
design is not an abnormal form of development within the City’s historic fabric, there are examples of duplicate 
structures built on both 25 ft & 50 ft lots found in the city. Although these designs may not look identical today, we 
can suspect these structures were reasonably similar or exact copies at their initial completion. Examples of 
multifamily structures which are made to mimic the construction pattern of Lake Worth’s 25ft lot widths 
volumetrically but do not vary their architectural style within their frontage can also are found the city. Below we 
are providing addresses of locations where duplications of design or cohesive architectural style spanning a 100’ of 
frontage length cant be found. 
 
 
Addresses:    
 
325 N L St – Wood Frame Vernacular 
 
526 N L St – Ranch Style Modern.  
 
517 6th Ave N – Streamline Moderne.  
 
401 6th Ave N – Masonry Vernacular 
 
814 N O St – Minimal Traditional 
 
601 3rd Ave N – Multifamily 
 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Giorgio G. Antoniazzi 
 
 



             
         

                        

Antoniazzi Architecture Inc. 
25 NE 2nd Ave 

Miami FL, 33131 
Giorgio@Antoniazziarch.com 

786-496-2979 

August 9, 2021 
 
City of Lake Worth Beach   
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division  
1900 2nd Avenue North  
Lake Wort Beach, FL 33461 
 
 
 
RE:  307 North L Street 4 New Single-Family Dwellings 

Application #  
 
 

 
SITE PLAN AND PROJECT STATISTICS 
 
FAR 

1) Move FAR from Project Information to Building Disposition and provide calculations. 
  Response: Note provided. See sheet G-001 

 
2) Max Far is provided at .50, whereas .60 is allowed for lots up to 4,999 sq. ft. 

Response: Information updated. See sheet G-001 

 
Historic District 
 

1) Under project information, add Northeast Lucerne as the historic district instead of “yes”. 
Response: Information updated. See sheet G-001 

 
 

Front Setback 
 

1) Front porch slab/stairs shall not encroach into front 20’-0” front setback. Please revise. 
Response: The slab/stair has been removed. See sheet A-100 

 

Rear Setback 
 

1) The minimum required rear setback is 13’-6” (10% of lot depth).  
Response: Rear setback updated to 13’-6”. See sheet A-001 

 

Front Yard Impermeable  
 

1) Add a calculation for Front Yard Impermeable  
Response: See 2/A-002 

 
 “Provided however that the lesser of nine hundred (900) square feet or seventy-five (75)  
percent of the front yard area shall remain pervious and be landscaped.”  

2) Front yard area: 25’x20’ = 500 sf.   
Response: Diagram provided. See 2/A-002 
 

 



           
 
 

 Antoniazzi Architecture Inc. 
25 NE 2ndt Ave 

Miami FL, 33131 
Giorgio@Antoniazziarch.com 

786-496-2979 

Impermeable Surface  
 

1) Site Plan “Option A” utilizes a gravel parking pad. Gravel is considered a semi-pervious material. For semi-
pervious surfaces, two (2) square feet of semi-pervious surface shall be equivalent to one (1) square foot 
of impervious surface for the purpose of calculating impermeable surface totals. Please revise the building 
disposition calculations.  
Response: Calculation updated. See sheet G-001 and G-003 

 
2)  The pavers utilized on both “Option A” and “Option B” may be considered semi-pervious if a pervious 

paver is utilized. If a pervious paver is utilized on the site plan, documentation shall be submitted at 
permitting illustrating that the pavers have a percolation rate of 50%. Please revise the building 
disposition calculations if necessary  
Response: Noted. Thank you.  

 
Elevations  
 

1) The massing of the design mimics the massing of a Frame Vernacular cottage, but it utilizes materials, 
finishes, design features, and fenestration more closely resembling the City’s collection of single-story Art 
Deco and Streamline Modern structures.  
Response: The massing, design, & finishes proposed are clearly in alignment with Modern aesthetic. Although a 
gable roof is being used it is chosen for its functionality rather than any association to the local wooden vernacular. 
Architecturally it is clear the design is in harmony with mid-century & and Art-Deco Moderne styles.   
 

2) The mixing of massing and materials commonly associated with prevalent types of historic architecture is 
discouraged in the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines.  − LWBHPDG, New Construction, Pg. 216. “It is 
very important that new construction not hybridize the styles, borrowing pieces from one and 
another…The best approach is to choose one style of architecture, and to design a structure that utilizes 
the common characteristics, proportions, and materials of that style.”   
Response: The proposed design is cohesively a “modern” design & does not hybridize or mimic other prevalent 
styles of architecture in the neighborhood.  

 
 

1) Staff recommends changing the roofline from a gable roof to a flat roof, or a low slope gable behind a 
short parapet to unify the design elements with the massing under a common architectural style. 
Response: See Above.  
   

2) Staff recommends matching the front window header to the height of the entry door and not the 
eyebrow.  
Response: Header lowered to match top of window elevation.  

 
3)  Staff recommends adding simple masonry window sills. 

Response: Window sill added. See sheet A-301 

 
4)  Staff recommends utilizing a corner window configuration on the northeast corner of the structure.  

Response: Corner window added. See sheet A-301 

 
5)  Staff recommends utilizing additional glazing on the south elevation, as it features long expanses of blank 

façade. 
Response: Window Sizes increased on South Façade & Faux Stucco Windows added. Additional windows would 
harm privacy for the adjacent house.  

 



           
 
 

 Antoniazzi Architecture Inc. 
25 NE 2ndt Ave 

Miami FL, 33131 
Giorgio@Antoniazziarch.com 

786-496-2979 

 
 
 
General Comments  
 

1) Pursuant to LDR Section 23.2-31(d)(5), look-alike buildings shall not be allowed unless, in the opinion of 
the board, there is sufficient separation to preserve the aesthetic character of the present or evolving 
neighborhood. Staff reiterates proposing four identical single-family structures is atypical for the 
development pattern in the city and is generally not recommended.   
Response: Look a like properties are found in several areas within the Historic Lake Worth Beach. There are also 
near by multifamily & commercial projects which make look a like buildings appropriate on this street.   

 
2) Please provide a Justification Statement explaining the proposed architectural style and the  

  repetition of the project. 
  Response: Provide.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT F – DESIGN GUIDELINES: STREAMLINE MODERNE

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



Streamline 
Moderne

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  115



STREAMLINE MODERNE

� e Art Deco movement was in full swing by the late 1920s, which moved away from traditional 
building styles and into a modern design aesthetic. By 1930, several factors would contribute to a 
slight variation that occurs in this move into modernity. � e result would be a style of architecture 
that was very similar to Art Deco, but simpler and more streamlined in its ornamentation and 
construction.

Streamline Moderne, which is also called Art Moderne, begins to appear around 1930. � is is also 
the beginning of the Great Depression for the United States. Not surprisingly, the � ourishes and 
fanciful expressions common in the Art Deco style may have become too expensive and � ashy at a 
time when most people were struggling just to feed their families. � e desire to still have modern 
looking buildings but with less ornamentation (and as a result, less costly to build) caused architects 
to look for a way to “streamline” the architecture.

Another huge in� uencing factor in the development of this style were the advancements taking 
place in technology and industry. Cars, airplanes, and passenger ships were being designed to be 
more aerodynamic (to help make them get places faster and utilize less fuel.) � is meant that they 
were getting sleeker and smoother in appearance. � is streamlining e� ect made its way into the 
architecture as well.

Similar to Art Deco, Streamline Moderne was more o� en used for commercial buildings, hotels, 
and apartments, but some residential structures did get to take advantage of this bright,  clean style.

A Style Introduction:

116  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES



Streamline Moderne architecture was a style developed intentionally to re� ect the “Zeitgeist”, or the spirit of the age.  
Advancements in building technologies were paralleling advancements in other disciplines including the transit, automotive, 
and military sectors.  Buildings began to re� ect the “streamlined” approach to industrial design.  Advancements in mobility 
and design were also celebrated through public information and advertising campaigns re� ected in the images above.

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  117

Right:  Travel poster 
published by the New 
Haven Passenger Traffi c 
Dept., 1935 (Source: 
Boston Public Library)

Left: Advertisement
for the 1942 Nash
Ambassador 
(Source: Alden Jewell)



STREAMLINE MODERNE

118  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

� e main di� erence between Streamline Moderne and Art 
Deco is that the emphasis is on the horizontal rather than 
the vertical. While Art Deco had the tendency to take your 
eyes upward with towers, pylons, and other vertical details, 
Streamline Moderne rounded out edges, spread out the 
building, and had detailing that was more horizontal in nature.

Streamline Moderne features a � at roof, sometimes with coping 
at the roo� ine (a small ledge). Walls are usually covered with 
smooth stucco.  Curved walls were a common feature unlike 
the hard lines and angles of the typical Art Deco house.

Glass blocks were used as a window treatment, or even as large 
sections of a wall. Picture windows were prevalent, sometimes 
with sidelights, and metal casement windows were common as 
well. Projecting eyebrows over the windows were still utilized, 
as in Art Deco. Sometimes the window would turn the wall 
and wrap around the corner of the building.

A Style Described:

Streamline Moderne Elevation



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  119

Ornamentation on the house was very limited, 
with racing stripes being one of the few details. 
� ese stripes, the horizontal banding or grooves 
within the stucco, can be found just beneath the 
roo� ine, above and below windows, or at the 
corners of the building. Terrazzo was a common 
� ooring material. Sometimes chrome, glass tile 
accents, and aluminum was used as a material, 
which also gave a modern touch. Porthole 
windows and steel railings along the roo� ine or 
on the balconies helped convey that sense that 
you were on a classic 1930s ocean liner.  

Magazine advertisement for Heywood Wakefi eld Streamline Modern furniture, Gardner, MA. 1950.

Coca-Cola bottling plant in Los Angeles, Cal.

MISSING



STREAMLINE MODERNE

3
1

5

2

4

4
6

120  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

1.  Roofs:
 • Roofs are almost always fl at.
 •  Parapets are common and often embellished                     

with simple stucco reliefs.

2.  Exterior Finishes and Features:
 • Smooth, stucco walls with little projected decoration. 
 • At least one curved wall is common.  
 • Right angles often use rounded stucco corners.
 • Racing stripes are used decoratively.
 •  Emphasis is more on the horizontal rather than the   

vertical lines of the house.
 •  New technology was affecting the design of ships 

and airplanes, this change in design was refl ected in 
architecture as well.

3.  Massing and Composition:
 •  There are often rounded building massing giving a   

nautical feel to the building. 

4.  Doors & Windows:
 •  Porthole windows at special locations.
 •  Windows were typically steel casement, fi xed pane,             

or glass block.
 •  Windows are often placed at the corners of buildings.

5.  Chimney:
 •  Masonry built with either a stone, brick, or stucco fi nish.
 •  Vertical stripes or horizontal lines near the top.

6.  Foundation:
 •  The Streamline Moderne house sits on a masonry base.

A Style Defi ned:



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  121

This fi ne local example of Streamline Moderne has horizontal 
banding, a thin parapet cap, and corner metal casement windows.

GALLERY OF EXAMPLES

Lake Worth Beach, Florida

Lake Worth Beach, Florida



STREAMLINE MODERNE

122  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Description of Streamline 
Moderne Windows

•  Streamline Moderne windows are typically casement, 
� xed, awning and periodically jalousie type windows.  
Glass block and porthole windows were also occasionally 
used as an accent..

•  Streamline Moderne windows are almost always metal 
with square or horizontal lights (panes).

•  Streamline Moderne windows can be vertical, square, or 
horizontal in their proportion.  As with the massing and 
architecture of Streamline Moderne buildings, window 
openings o� en emphasized the horizontality of this 
style. � ese windows are inset deep into the exterior wall 
creating deep shadow lines.

•  Streamline Moderne buildings do not typically have 
applied operable shutters so storm protection is not a 
permanent � xture.

•  A unique and prominent feature of Streamline Moderne 
architecture is corner windows which are typically 
formed with casement or awning window types.

Steel casement windows

Fixed and casement 
windows

Awning windows

Corner steel casement windows

Fixed and casement 

Awning windows



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  123

Rounded horizontal 
pane, fi xed glass

Grouped casements wrapping a corner with a pipe 
column at the edge

This Streamline Moderne structure utilizes both metal casement and awning windows

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Porthole window Glass blockFixed pane and 
glass block



124  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Description of Streamline 
Moderne Doors

• Streamline Moderne doors are typically � ush wooden 
doors with a porthole window, plank-type doors with 
a porthole window, or French-type doors with � ve 
horizontal panes.

•  Like the Art Deco style, Streamline Moderne structures 
o� en have decorative screen doors.

STREAMLINE MODERNE

Five-pane French door with 
horizontal lights

Three-light door

Three panel wood door

Porthole windowThree-light door Porthole window



W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  125

Description of Streamline 
Moderne Roofs and 
Exterior Surfaces

•  Streamline Moderne structures almost always have 
a smooth stucco � nish with horizontal banding or 
decorative grooves.

•  Roofs are � at with thinly capped parapet walls 
or extended overhangs. � e roofs of Streamline 
Moderne buildings accentuate the horizontal 
“movement” of the architecture. Ornamented openings surrounding entryways and balconies

Streamline Moderne buildings 
are almost always smooth 
stucco

Horizontal banding emphasizes the horizontality 
of Streamline Moderne

Porthole windows with ribbed stucco striping



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT G – DESIGN GUIDELINES: NEW CONSTRUCTION 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   307 North L Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100250: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of four (4) new ± 1,489 square foot single-family structures on Lots 27, 28, 29, and 30 of 
Block 90 at 307 North L Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-090-0270. The subject property is located in the 
Low-Density Multi-Family Residential (MF-20) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. 



NEW CONSTRUCTION

� e City of Lake Worth Beach Beach has a rich variety of historic and authentic architectural styles.  � ese 
Design Guidelines document the 10 primary styles throughout the six historic districts as well as other notable 
styles throughout the city.  Cities and neighborhoods, including those that are historic, are never static.  � ere will 
always be some level of construction activity in the neighborhood, and that o� en includes the new construction 
of primary and accessory buildings.  

New construction, de� ned as a new structure within a historic district, should be carefully planned and designed 
so that it is compatible with neighboring structures.  It is very important that the construction of new structures 
adhere to certain principles that are vital to the health and longevity of the historic district.

Style
Each historic district in Lake Worth Beach is made of many architectural styles.  � ese buildings and homes 
were built over time, with di� erent hands, and in a manner or style that was in favor at the time.  � e historic 
districts of Lake Worth Beach are authentic; they are not architectural “petting zoos” that showcase a single style.  
New construction within the districts should take the primary styles into consideration when contemplating the 
design of a new building.  While it is understood that new buildings will not be built exactly the same way their 
historic neighbors were, there should be a conscious e� ort to be compatible with and take inspiration from the 
historic fabric.  New construction can be designed utilizing the architectural language of one of the 10 de� ned 
primary styles, or an alternate yet compatible style  It is very important that new construction not hybridize the 
styles, borrowing pieces from one and another.  � is approach creates confusion and dilutes the intrinsic value of 
the historic structures and styles.  Additionally, this approach will result in mediocre architecture at best.  � e best 
approach is to choose one style of architecture, and to design a structure that utilizes the common characteristics, 
proportions, and materials of that style. 

216  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

This images shows a historic structure in the foreground with a new 
two-story addition beyond.

Here is an example of a award winning new construction in Lake Worth Beach.



� e Street
One of the most impressive and enduring characters of the historic district is the assemblage of the 
buildings to create the street.  � e rhythm, consistency, and beauty of the historic neighborhood street 
is made of many parts that need to be understood in order to protect the character of the street during 
new construction.  � ese elements include street trees, walls and fences, the spacing between buildings, 
the height of porches, and the relationship between upper and lower � oors of a building.  � is is not 
to say that new construction must align its roof lines, doors and windows precisely with its neighbors.  
� ere is a narrow range however where these elements in new construction can either add to the 
rhythm of the street or break it.  � is is why applicants for new construction must include a street 
elevation illustrating the new structure in context with its neighboring structures.  � e city’s historic 
preservation sta�  are available to assist applicants to ensure the rhythm of the street remains intact. 

Scale, Height, and Massing
Few things can disrupt a historic street and district than new construction that is out of scale, too 
tall, and simply overwhelms its lot.  � e relative size and height of a new structure is regulated within 
the city’s Land Development Regulations, however, in a historic district a greater level of sensitivity is 
typically required.  Even if the zoning code allows a two-story structure; on a street made of one-story 
historic structures, a two-story structure may not be appropriate.  Sensitivity and compatibility with 
neighboring structures and homes is as important as what is allowed by code.  Additionally, the issues 
of scale, height, and massing are also important at the micro scale.  Windows that are too big, or too 
small; roof fascia lines that are too bulky and out of proportion with the character of the style; roof 
pitches that are uncharacteristic for that language can also be disruptive to the district.  Also, historic 
structures rarely (if ever) have their � nished � oor level at grade. � ey are typically raised 18”-24” 
above the ground.  Not only is this detail important for � ooding and air circulation issues, but it gives 
the structure a greater presence on the street.  � is is an important, o� en overlooked, detail that will 
impact the massing of the new structure. When considering new construction in a historic district and 
confronted with questions about scale, height, and massing, look around the neighborhood: all of the 
answers are there.

CHAPTER VII: SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

In this diagram the new construction (circled in red) 
is inconsistent with the siting of its historic neighbors.  
The structure itself is also out of scale.

Here this new home is more appropriately scaled to its neighbors and 
has consistent setbacks.

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  217



218  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Building Placement and Orientation
A characteristic of historic districts and neighborhoods that is not commonly appreciated is their 
historic development pattern.  Unlike suburban neighborhoods, historic districts were typically 
planned with a regular street and block pattern, o� en with alleyways, and with a disciplined 
distribution of small, medium-sized, and large lots.  While it might be common to have small 
cottages, sprawling ranches, and large Mediterranean Revival structures on a single block, it is 
the discipline of their placement and orientation in relation to the street that is inherent to the 
historic planning of the district.  It is also vitally important that like-sized houses face like-sized 
houses. If the homes on a block have smaller front setbacks and garages that are accessed from 
an alleyway, new construction should be consistent with those conditions.  A typical feature of 
historic homes, particularly more modestly sized structures, is their presence on the street.  If all 
of the houses on the street have direct pedestrian access from the sidewalk to the front door, then 
new construction should be consistent.  If new construction is occurring in an area with larger 
lots where orientation of historic structures relative to the street is less consistent, then again new 
construction can take its cues from the neighborhood.  � e consistent theme with 
new construction is to look and listen to the neighborhood.  All of the direction needed is 
already there.

Materials and Details
� ese Design Guidelines are � lled with drawings and photographs of appropriate windows, 
doors, roof types, materials, and construction details for each of the 10 primary architectural 
styles.  � is is a tool to identify the appropriate parts and pieces that comprise a particular 
historic architectural style.  Many of the instructions herein are geared to the reconstruction, 
rehabilitation, and restoration of existing historic structures.  � e same rules apply for new 
construction.  When building a new structure within a historic district, the owner should 
consider the variety of historic styles in Lake Worth Beach, choose one, and design a structure 
consistent with the details provided in this guide.

This diagram illustrates a few key elements to assessing a building’s compatibility with 
its historic context: roof slopes, building height and mass, and front and side setbacks.  
These items combined help establish the rhythm of the street.

This new construction in Lake Worth Beach effectively uses modern materials in a 
manner that is compatible with the historic context.



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 
 
OWNER:  Per and Rachel Lorentzen 
   320 N Lakeside Drive 

Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460 

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT HISTORY:  

Per documentation within the City’s property files, the building at 320 North Lakeside Drive was 
constructed circa 1925 in a Mediterranean Revival architectural style. Although no original architectural 
drawings of the buildings are available in the City’s property file, a property card from 1943, included as 
Attachment A, describes the structure as being of block construction with gable roofs, having a stucco 
exterior, and plaster and wood interior walls. Recent photos of the building illustrate a linear building 
with an irregular plan with varying roof heights over individual massing elements, partially enclosed 
colonnades, wood casement windows with decorative grills, and simple exterior detailing typical for its 
period of construction. By 1943, a garage was erected at the front of the building which has since been 
converted to habitable living space and serves as the front entry point facing North Lakeside Drive. 
Alterations over time include the installation of an asphalt shingle roof, window replacement, and various 
site alterations. Photos of the property are included in this report as Attachment B. The building 
maintains a moderate to high degree of the seven aspects of historic integrity; location, setting, design, 
workmanship, materials, feeling, and association. 

 

At the May 12, 2021 HRPB meeting, the Board reviewed conceptual plans for the proposed addition at 
the property. The property owners presented schematic drawings of the addition and expressed their 
intent to utilize shipping containers for the addition’s construction. The Board requested that the 
property owners carefully consider the decision to utilize the manufactured containers, as Board 
members familiar with this type of construction did not believe it would be advantageous. In addition, 
the Board requested that vertically oriented windows be utilized as they are the most appropriate for the 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

architectural style of the existing historic resource. The conceptual review drawings presented at the May 
12, 2021 meeting are included as Attachment C.  

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

The property owners, Per and Rachel Lorentzen, are requesting approval for the construction of a +/- 
1,790 square foot addition. The subject property is a 125’ x 135’ (16,875 square foot) parcel consisting of 
2.5 platted lots of record (Block 430, Lots 5, 6, and the southern half of lot 7) located on the east side of 
North Lakeside Drive between 3rd Avenue North and 4th Avenue North. The property is bordered on the 
east by the Lake Worth Beach Municipal Golf Course. The parcel is located in the Single-Family Residential 
(SF-R) zoning district and retains a Future Land Use (FLU) designation of Single Family Residential (SFR).  

 

The application will require the following approval: 

1. COA for the construction of a +/- 1,790 square foot addition 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Board discuss the transition in height between 
the existing residence and the addition and the utilization of the 16-foot-wide garage door to determine 
the overall compatibility of the features and proposed massing. If the Board deems the proposal visually 
compatible and generally consistent with the City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance and the Lake Worth 
Beach Historic Preservation Design Guidelines, staff recommends approval with conditions as provided 
on page 10. 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 
 

Owner Per and Rachel Lorentzen 

General Location 
East side of North Lakeside Drive between 3rd Avenue North and 4th Avenue 
North 

PCN 38-43-44-21-15-430-0050 

Zoning Single-Family Residential (SF-R) 

Existing Land Use Single Family Residence 

Future Land Use 
Designation 

Single Family Residential (SFR) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

SITE ANALYSIS: 

Surrounding Properties 

The site is surrounded by similar structures with similar Zoning and FLU designations, and thus, are found 
to be compatible with the existing and proposed residential use on the subject site. The following 
summarizes the nature of the surrounding properties adjacent to the subject site: 

 

NORTH: Immediately north of the subject site is a single-family structure. This parcel contains a 
FLU designation of SFR and a zoning designation of SF-R.   

 

SOUTH: Immediately south of the subject site is a single-family structure. This parcel contains a 
FLU designation of SFR and a zoning designation of SF-R.  

 

EAST: East of the subject site is the Lake Worth Beach Municipal Golf Course. This parcel 
contains a FLU designation of PROS and a zoning designation of PROS.  

 

WEST: West of the subject site across North Lakeside Drive is a single-family structure. This 
parcel contains a FLU designation of SFR and a zoning designation of SF-R.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE REQUIREMENTS: 

Land Development Code Requirements 

Code References 23.3-7 (SF-R); 23.4-10 (Off-street parking) 

 Required Existing/Proposed 

Lot Area 5,000 sf. 16,875 sf. 

Lot Width 50’-0” 125’-0” 

Building Height 30’-0” (2 stories) 
Existing Front portion: Approx.: 9’-6” 
Proposed: 20’-3” 

Setback - Front  20’-0” 
Existing: 21.9’ 
Proposed: 31.8’ 

Setback - Side  

 
10’-0” (10% of lot width up to a 
maximum of 10 feet for lots over 100 
feet in width) 
 

Existing North: 31.1’ 
Proposed North: 31.1’ 
Existing South: 50.4’ 
Proposed South: 14.8’ 

Setback - Rear 13’-6” (10% of lot depth) 
Existing: 8.1’ (existing non-
conformity) 
Proposed: 75.6’ (addition) 

Impermeable Surface 
Total (1) 

60.0% total (10,125 sf.) 50.1% (8,455 sf.) 

Front Yard Impermeable 
Lesser of 900 square feet or 75% 
pervious and landscaped 

1,255 sf. Pervious and landscaped 

Maximum Building 
Coverage (1) 

30.0% maximum (5,035 sf.) 22.3% (3,751 sf.) 

Density/Number of 
Units 

1 dwelling unit 1 dwelling unit 

Floor Area Ratio (1) 0.45 (7,593.75) maximum 0.21 (3,611 sf.) 

Living Area 800 sf. minimum 
Existing: 2,856 sf.  
Proposed: Approx. 3,986 sf.  

Parking 2 spaces 
Existing: 4 spaces 
Proposed: 8 spaces 

Parking Dimensions 

9’x18’ perpendicular or angled off 
street 
9’x28’ perpendicular or angled off 
alley 
9’x22’ parallel 

9’x18’ perpendicular in driveways 
and garage 

Base Flood Elevation 
(NAVD) 

Pending Flood Zone AE 
BFE: 8’ NAVD + 12” Freeboard 
9’-0” NAVD 

4.48 NAVD 

  (1)- Large lot (lots over 7,500 square feet) 

 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

The proposed addition is consistent with all site data requirements in the City’s zoning code. The 
application, as proposed, exceeds the minimum off-street parking requirements and complies with all 
impermeable surface requirements, building coverage allotments, floor area ratio, and required building 
setbacks. A survey of the existing parcel is included as Attachment D. The proposed site plan and 
architectural drawings are included as Attachment E.  
 

Existing Non-Conformities – Buildings and Structures 

The existing historic structure has a legal non-conforming rear setback that does not comply with 
minimum setback requirements provided within Section 23.3-7 of the Lake Worth Beach Land 
Development Regulations. Pursuant to LDR Section 23.5-3(d), Non-conforming buildings and structures: 

 

1. Nonconforming buildings and structures may be enlarged, expanded or extended subject to these 
LDRs, including minimum site area and dimensions of the district in which the building or structure is 
located. No such building or structure, however, shall be enlarged or altered in any way so as to 
increase its nonconformity. Such building or structure, or portion thereof, may be altered to decrease 
its nonconformity, except as hereafter provided. 
 

The proposed addition complies with current zoning requirements and do not increase the existing non-
conforming setbacks of the existing structure.  

 

Base Flood Elevation 

The existing structure does not comply with the current base flood elevation (BFE) requirements. 
Pursuant to FEMA’s Home Builder’s Guide to Coastal Construction (P-499); 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

As indicated in the table above, lateral additions that do not constitute a substantial improvement in Pre-
Firm existing buildings (in the A Zone) and are not required to meet current BFE requirements. FIRM 
stands for Flood Insurance Rate Map, the first FIRM became effective December 31, 1974. The subject 
property is Pre-Firm as it was constructed circa 1925. The City’s Building Official and Floodplain 
Administrator, Peter Ringle, utilized an independent appraisal provided by the applicants to determine 
the substantial improvement threshold. The independent appraisal assessed the depreciated value of the 
structure at $527,542.00. The applicants estimate that their construction costs will be below the 
$263,771.00 substantial improvement threshold (50% of assessed value). Therefore, the addition is 
allowed to be constructed at a BFE of 4.48 NAVD to match the existing structure. 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION ANALYSIS: 

All additions to contributing resources within a designated historic district shall be visually compatible. 
Additions should take their design cues from the surrounding existing structures, using traditional or 
contemporary design standards and elements that relate to existing structures that surround them and 
within the historic district as a whole.  

 

The scope of this COA application includes the construction of a new two-story addition consisting of a 
garage, stair corridor, and second-story master suite. Staff has reviewed the documentation and 
materials provided in this application and outlined the applicable guidelines and standards found in the 
City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance, detailed in the section below. The property owners have 
submitted a Justification Statement for the request, included as Attachment F. 

 

Section 23.5-4(K)(1) General guidelines for granting certificates of appropriateness  

 
1.  In general. In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness, the city shall, 

at a minimum, consider the following general guidelines:  

A.  What is the effect of the proposed work on the landmark or the property upon which such 
work is to be done?  

Staff Analysis: The proposal includes a two-story addition to the south of the existing 
structure. The addition will consist of a two-story stair corridor, a two-vehicle garage bay, 
and a second-story master suite.  

 
B.  What is the relationship between such work and other structures on the landmark site or 

other property in the historic district?  

Staff Analysis: The proposed addition will have a direct visual impact on the massing 
relationship of the existing structure and neighboring properties. The existing contributing 
resource is characterized by the insertion of individual massing forms that were added to 
or connected to the property overtime, giving the property a staggered and atypical 
appearance in terms of massing and scale.  

 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

C.  To what extent will the historic, architectural, or archaeological significance, architectural 
style, design, arrangement, texture, materials and color of the landmark or the property be 
affected?  

Staff Analysis: The proposed addition will alter the historic design and arrangement of the 
building’s visual massing. The resource was constructed in the 1920s and added to over the 
years, creating the appearance of a group of independent structures that have been 
connected over time. The proposed addition continues this theme, with a large two-story 
massing attached to the existing resource via a connector hallway.  

 
D. Would denial of a certificate of appropriateness deprive the property owner of reasonable 

beneficial use of his property?  
 

Staff Analysis: No, denial of the COA would not deprive the applicant of reasonable use of 
the property.  

 
E.  Are the applicant's plans technically feasible and capable of being carried out within a 

reasonable time?  

Staff Analysis: The plans are feasible and could be carried out in a reasonable timeframe.  
 

F.  Are the plans (i) consistent with the city's design guidelines, once adopted, or (ii) in the 
event the design guidelines are not adopted or do not address the relevant issue, consistent 
as reasonably possible with the applicable portions of the United States Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation then in effect?  

Staff Analysis: As discussed in the Design Guidelines Analysis, pages 8 and 9 of this report, 
the proposed addition generally respects the historic fabric and integrity of the existing 
resource by connecting to an inconspicuous location set back on the south façade.   

 
G.  What are the effects of the requested change on those elements or features of the 

structure which served as the basis for its designation and will the requested changes cause 
the least possible adverse effect on those elements or features?  

Staff Analysis: The building is a contributing resource that was designed in a Mediterranean 
Revival architectural style. The proposed addition does not require substantial alterations 
to the existing building, but the two-story addition is substantial and will have a visual 
impact on the resource when viewed from North Lakeside Drive.  

 

Section 23.5-4(K)(2) Additional guidelines for alterations and additions. 

 
2. In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for alterations and 

additions, the city shall also consider the following additional guidelines: Landmark and 
contributing structures:  



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 8 

 

 

A. Is every reasonable effort being made to provide a compatible use for a property that 
requires minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use 
the property for its originally intended purpose?  

Staff Analysis: Not applicable, no change is proposed for the use of property.  
 

B. Are the distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure, or site and its 
environment being destroyed? The removal or alteration of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural features shall be avoided whenever possible.  

Staff Analysis: A portion of the wall on the south façade will be removed where the addition 
attaches to the structure. The applicants are not proposing to remove or alter any 
distinguishing qualities of the historic structure. Overall, the arrangement of massing 
elements will be altered due to the size and placement of the addition.  

 
C. Is the change visually compatible with the neighboring properties as viewed from a primary 

or secondary public street?  

Staff Analysis: The addition’s two-story garage element is similar to the garage addition at 
the neighboring property to the south, 314 N Lakeside Drive, as evident on the streetscape 
alteration.  

 
D. When a certificate of appropriateness is requested to replace windows or doors the HRPB or 

development review officer, as appropriate, may permit the property owner's original design 
when the city's alternative design would result in an increase in cost of twenty-five (25) 
percent above the owner's original cost. The owner shall be required to demonstrate to the 
city that:  

(1) The work to be performed will conform to the original door and window openings 
of the structure; and  
 
Staff Analysis: The applicants are not proposing to replace existing windows or 
doors.  
 

(2) That the replacement windows or doors with less expensive materials will achieve 
a savings in excess of twenty-five (25) percent over historically compatible 
materials otherwise required by these LDRs. This factor may be demonstrated by 
submission of a written cost estimate by the proposed provider of materials 
which must be verified by city staff; and  
 
Staff Analysis: Not applicable, the applicant is not replacing windows and doors.  

 
(3) That the replacement windows and doors match the old in design, color, texture 

and, where possible, materials where the property is significant for its 
architectural design or construction.  
 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 9 

 

 

Staff Analysis: Not applicable, the applicant is not replacing windows and doors. 
 

Historic Preservation Design Guidelines Analysis (Mediterranean Revival Architectural Style) 

Per the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines, the Mediterranean Revival architectural style became 
popular in the United States during the early part of the twentieth century in areas that had strong ties to 
Spanish Colonial heritage, such as California, Texas, and Florida. The buildings were designed with 
influences from Moorish, Persian, Spanish, and Italian architecture found throughout the Mediterranean. 
The massing of the buildings are often asymmetrical and utilize thick walls covered with stucco, which can 
have a smooth or rough finish. One of the most recognizable features of this style is the use of clay barrel 
tile on gable or cross gable roofs. Rooflines are also designed as staggered or multi-level. Windows were 
typically casements, sash windows, or a combination of the two. The Mediterranean Revival chapter from 
the LWBHPDG is included as Attachment G.  
 

Staff Analysis: The architectural design of the addition was altered substantially between the conceptual 
review and the final drawings. The conceptual review drawings (Attachment C) featured a single-story 
massing connecting the two-story garage addition to the existing building. Additionally, the conceptual 
review drawing featured a flat roof with a decorative parapet over the two-story massing and utilized a 
large center medallion on the second floor without any fenestration on the east façade.  

 

The new design features a broad asymmetrical gable roof and utilizes a single-story and a two-story 
massing element that connects the primary bulk of the addition to the existing structure. The connecting 
element is set back roughly 47 feet from the front property line, with the front façade of the two-story 
garage portion set back roughly 32 feet. Both massing elements are setback from the front façade of the 
existing structure, which is sited at a 22-foot setback. The front façade of the addition utilizes two 
vertically oriented single-hung windows in the connecting element, and two false recesses on the second 
floor of the primary mass. Vertical slat shutters with shutter hardware are placed in the recesses to create 
the appearance of window openings. The remaining north, south, and east facades utilize vertically 
oriented single-hung and casement windows at regular intervals to avoid long expanses of blank façade.  

 

The addition will utilize stucco with a texture to match the existing stucco application and an asphalt 
shingle roof to match the existing roof type. Although barrel tiles are a more appropriate roofing material 
for Mediterranean Revival buildings, a property card from 1943, included as Attachment A, indicates that 
the building has utilized a slate or composite shingle for the majority of its existence.  

 

Staff does have some remaining concerns regarding the height discrepancy between the two-story 
addition and the low single-story front façade of the existing building. The property owners and project 
architect have sought to mitigate the transition by extending the sloped roof over the connecting massing 
element and by setting the addition back from the front façade of the residence. Additionally, the design 
utilizes a two-bay, sixteen-foot (16’) wide garage door, which is atypical for Mediterranean Revival 
structures of the period that featured integral garages. Original garage bays that remain on the City’s 
early Mediterranean and Mission Revival style structure are typically around nine feet (9’) in width. Staff 
has included a condition of approval that the garage utilizes two garage doors in place of the single 16’ 
wide garage door. 



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 10 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
At the time of publication of the agenda, staff has received no public comment. 

CONCLUSION: 
It is the analysis of staff that the proposed addition is generally consistent with the City’s Historic 
Preservation Ordinance and the Lake Worth Beach Historic Preservation Design Guidelines. Staff 
recommends that the Board discuss the transition in height between the existing residence and the 
addition and the utilization of the 16-foot-wide garage door to determine the overall compatibility of the 
features and proposed massing.  
 

Conditions of Approval 
1. All proposed exterior entry doors shall be compatible with the Mediterranean Revival architectural 

style, and shall be subject to staff review at permitting. 
2. The windows shall be recessed a minimum of two inches (2”) in the wall, and shall not be installed 

flush with the exterior wall. 
3. The divided-light patterns on windows shall be created utilizing exterior raised applied triangular 

muntins. Exterior flat muntins or “grills between the glass” shall not be permitted.  
4. The windows shall utilize glazing that is clear, non-reflective, and without tint. Low-E (low emissivity) 

is allowed but the glass shall have a minimum 60% visible light transmittance (VLT) measured from 
the center of glazing. Glass tints or any other glass treatments shall not be combined with the Low-E 
coating to further diminish the VLT of the glass. 

5. The doors may utilize clear glass, frosted, obscure glass, or glass with a Low-E coating (70% minimum 
VLT). Tinted, highly reflective, grey, colored, etched, or leaded glass shall not be used.  

6. The garage door shall utilize a recessed panel design or vertical plank design (as proposed), subject to 
staff review at permitting.  

7. The new stucco shall match the existing stucco on the residence in application, coarseness, and 
texture.  

8. The new roof shingles shall match the shingles on the existing residence, subject to staff review at 
permitting.  

9. The faux openings on the west façade shall utilize shutters recessed in the wall. The shutters shall be 
dimensioned to match the existing shutter sizes on the west façade.  

10. The garage shall utilize two garage doors in place of the single 16’ garage door.  
 

I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB Project Number 21-00100222, with staff recommended conditions of approval 
for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for a +/- 1,790 square foot addition to the single-family 
residence located at 320 North Lakeside Drive, based upon the competent substantial evidence in the 
staff report and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations and Historic 
Preservation requirements. 
 
I MOVE TO DENY HRPB Project Number 21-00100222, a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for a +/- 
1,790 square foot addition to the single-family residence located at 320 North Lakeside Drive, because 
the applicant has not established by competent substantial evidence that the application is in compliance 
with the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulation and Historic Preservation requirements.  



 
   
   
  HRPB #21-00100222 

320 North Lakeside Drive 
COA - Addition 

P a g e  | 11 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Property File Documentation 
B. Current Photos 
C. Conceptual Plan Drawings  
D. Property Survey 
E. Proposed Architectural Plans 
F. Applicant Justification Statement 
G. LWBHPDG Mediterranean Revival  

 
 



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

ATTACHMENT A – PROPERTY FILE DOCUMENTATION 
 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 
  

 
 







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT B – CURRENT PHOTOS 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT C – CONCEPTUAL PLAN DRAWINGS 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT D – PROPERTY SURVEY

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 





DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT E – ARCHITECTURAL PLAN SET 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 











DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT F – APPLICANT JUSTIFICATION STATEMENT

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 



320 N Lakeside Drive proposed addition: Justification Statement

The existing 2-bedroom residence sits on a 125’ wide lot (2.5x standard lot size), at
approximately 4.5’ above sea level (flood zone AE). Most of the house is at or very close to
grade, with only a small second floor that is above BFE (currently 7’; pending 8’). There is no
garage.

It is proposed to add a bedroom, bath and closets on a single floor elevated above BFE in
conformity with FEMA requirements, in the 50’ wide empty lot on the south side of the existing
structure. The ground floor is to comprise a 2-car garage and a storage area. The connector
between the new and existing structures will include the lower portion of the stairs to the new
living space.

The height and width of the new addition will be very similar to the 2-story portion of the house
immediately to the south (it will, however, be much shorter in depth). The 4 closest residences
on the west side of the street and the two residences to the south are all 2-story structures.

The exterior of the addition is proposed to be painted stucco to match the existing structure.

The roof to be shallow-pitched asphalt shingle to match the existing structure.

There are a variety of window styles on the existing structure. The only windows on the
street-facing west facade are 2 prairie-style 3’x4’ casements flanked by solid wood decorative
colonial shutters. These windows are not in keeping with the Spanish-influence style of the
house, nor are they used elsewhere.

It is therefore proposed to use I 8”W x 53”H 4-over-4 double-hung windows on the north and
south sides of the addition, to match the 17 such windows used on the existing house’s north
and south first floor facades.

The east facade will employ mulled or ganged 37”W x 63”H double-hung windows similar to
east-facing windows on the existing structure.

There are two shuttered windows shown on the west facade above the garage door. These are
proportionally similar to the prairie-style casement windows with solid wood shutters on the west
facade of the existing structure. These shuttered windows in the west facade of the addition are
not actual windows because they would open into closet space on the inside, which is not
desirable. However, to correctly simulate actual windows, the solid wood t&g plank shutters,
similar to the existing shutters, will be recessed to be flush with the stucco. A further benefit of
this approach is that it will obviate the use of stylistically inappropriate prairie-style casements
not found anywhere else on the existing structure.

The 2-car garage door opening will have an eyebrow arch and will be faced with 6” t&g cypress
vertical planks finished with synthetic varnish to match the existing gate and front door that also



face the street. While a single 2-cat garage door is perhaps not “period”, there are a number of
reasons for choosing it:
> the 2:1 width-to-height aspect ratio will match that of the existing gate, creating a mote
coherent overall design.
> the door’s dimensions are similar to the 2-car garage door on the 2-story house immediately
to the south.
> the higher arch of the wider door will “fill” more of the west facade, and better matches the
proportions of the structure’s west facade.
> the wider, centered opening provides more flexibility for mixed use of the garage for vehicle(s)
and storage.
> it is in conformity with Article 5 823.5-4 k) 3. A. 12.

The west facade will be set back approximately 10’ from the existing facade and 37’ from the
street, giving prominence to the existing front entrance. The connector to the addition will be 55’
from the street.

The proposed addition will be well-screened on the other three sides. A thick palm hedgerow
on the southern border of the property will screen the new addition from properties to the south.
The new structure will be 80’ from the north property line, and an arica palm hedgerow and the
existing residence will screen it from properties to the north. The east facade will be about 70’
from the east property line that borders the municipal golf course, and the numerous existing
palms, bamboo, etc on that side will screen it to the east.

No trees will need to be removed or moved, with the exception of 2 small palms which will be
moved 15’ north from in front of the garage to in front of the connector.

Thank you very much for your consideration.

Rachel and Per Lorentzen



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT G – DESIGN GUIDELINES: MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   320 North Lakeside Drive 

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE: HRPB Project Number 21-00100222:  Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new +/- 1,790 square foot addition for the single-family residence at 320 North 
Lakeside Drive; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-430-0050. The subject property is located within the Single-Family 
Residential (SF-R) zoning district and is a contributing resource to the Old Lucerne Local Historic District. 



Mediterranean
Revival

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  91



92  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

Lake Worth Beach, Fla. 

In architecture, the term “Revival” means a return to, or a reference to, a type of 
architecture that originated somewhere else or in a previous era. Mediterranean 
Revival, also known as Spanish Colonial Revival, swept the country throughout 
the 1920s and remained  a steady style of choice for more than two decades. � e 
type of architecture it sought to “revive” was the formidable and highly stylized 
buildings found around the Mediterranean Sea, particularly borrowing design 
elements from Spanish, French, Italian, and Moorish in� uences. 

In the 19th and 20th Centuries, World’s Fairs and Expositions (Expos) were o� en 
used by countries to commemorate great moments in history or usher in new 
eras by showing o�  the latest in architectural and engineering advancements, art, 
culture, and other design inspirations. � e 1915 Panama-California International 
Exposition in San Diego, California, was created to celebrate one of these great 
moments: the building of the Panama Canal.

When the Panama Canal opened in 1914, it was a momentous occasion for 
the whole world. Because of this man-made canal, ships would be able to cross 
more safely and quickly from the Atlantic to the Paci� c Ocean; it was one of the 
most ambitious and di�  cult engineering projects ever to be undertaken. � e 

A Style Introduction:



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  93

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

1915 Expo ran between February and December, and 
was almost an entire city unto itself. � e supervisory 
architect for the project, Bertram Goodhue from New 
York, wanted to move away from the Neoclassical 
style used in previous world’s fairs, and designed the 
majority of the buildings with heavy Moorish, Persian, 
Spanish and Italian in� uences. With millions of people 
visiting the fair, this eventually created a demand for 
architecture around the rest of the country that was 
reminiscent of those exotic places in the Mediterranean. 

Mediterranean Revival became increasingly popular 
in those parts of the country that already had ties to 
Spanish Colonial heritage: California, New Mexico, 
Texas, Arizona, and Florida. Interestingly, though, 
Florida had already been experiencing a � ourish of 
Mediterranean Revival at least a full two decades prior 
to the 1915 Expo in San Diego. 

Guide Book cover featuring Balboa Park 

and exposition buildings, 1915.

Balboa Park in 1915 
(Photo courtesy Balboa Park Conservancy).



MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

94  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Henry Flagler was instrumental in the development of the east coast of Florida. 
Flagler, who had made his fortune in the oil business, had come to see Florida as 
a way to further enhance his pro� ts and began advertising it as an exotic vacation 
wonderland. Starting in St. Augustine, he built the Ponce de Leon Hotel in 1888, in 
the Spanish Renaissance style. His railroad company, the Florida East Coast Railway, 
had a stop in West Palm Beach by 1894, and � nally reached Miami in 1896. Along 
the way, Flagler built hotels for his travelers, some of which were designed in the 
Mediterranean style. A� er all, his goal was to attract visitors (and their money) from 
the frigid northern states. He wanted to present them with something completely 
di� erent from what they were used to; something exotic and new. 

With the cities of Florida beginning to boom in the early 1920s, renowned architects 
such as Addison Mizner, Maurice Fatio, Walter DeGarmo, and � rm partners Kiehnel 
and Elliott further cemented the use of Mediterranean Revival as the style of choice. 
Many developers, such as George Merrick did when dreaming up Coral Gables, 
used the Mediterranean Revival style almost exclusively in the planning of their 
communities. � e warm and balmy climate of Florida, with its beautiful beaches 
and crystal blue waters, was the perfect place to borrow design inspiration from the 
Mediterranean.

Postcard of the Ponce de Leon Hotel, Saint Augustine, Fla.



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  95

Mediterranean Revival
Street Elevation

Mediterranean Revival buildings are not actually 
replications of any particular style found elsewhere, 
but tend to  result from architects blending elements of 
architecture from Spain, France, Morocco, and Italy.

� e massing of the building is much heavier in 
Mediterranean architecture, and o� en asymmetrical. 
“Med-Rev” buildings feel very solid; thick walls are 
covered with stucco, which can be smooth or have a 
rough � nish. One of the most recognizable features 
of this style is the use of clay barrel tile as a roo� ng 
material. Roofs are typically gabled or cross-gabled 
and can have multiple roof levels. Circular or square 
entrance towers and bell towers help create the feeling of 
grandeur, and large wooden front doors o� en have cast 
concrete pediments or stone door surrounds over them. 
Windows are almost always casement windows with this 
style, though some do have double hung sash, and most 
originally were all made of wood.

A Style Described:



MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

96  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Elements of Mediterranean style homes Home Builders Plan Book, 1921.

� ere is a heavy use of the arch; for doorways, interior wall 
openings, arcades, and colonnaded courtyards. Columns are 
also very prominent, and o� en are seen as twisted columns 
between arches or engaged columns on either side of a doorway 
(an engaged column is half of a column stuck to the wall). 
� ough not necessarily needed in most of Florida’s hot, humid 
climate, large � replaces were usually a prominent feature, with 
ornate mantels and surrounds.

What sets this style apart from anything previous in South 
Florida architecture is the obsessive use of ornamentation on 
the building. Building elements were made out of a variety of 
materials including terra cotta, cast stone, and wood. � e use of 
glazed ceramic tiles, wrought iron balconies and railings were 
common, and fountains, pergolas and trellises were o� en found 
within courtyards or in the surrounding landscape.



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  97

1

5

2

3

1.  Roofs:
 •  Terra cotta barrel tile roofs are standard.
 •  Houses often have multiple levels of roofs and can be 

hipped, gabled, or fl at.

2.  Exterior Finishes and Features:
 •  Can be one story, but often two-stories in parts.  
 •  Known for its elaborate ornamentation, usually around 

windows and doors.
 •  Stucco walls are most common, but on occasion stone        

was used as a primary building material.  
 •  Use of wood (sometimes pecky cypress) for doors,        

exposed rafters, wall brackets, balustrades 
 •  Composition of the building massing is often asymmetrical.
 •  Wings and loggias designed around patios or courtyards.
 •  Use of brightly colored ceramic tiles on fl oors and on       

stair risers.

3.  Doors & Windows:
 •   Arched windows are common, and often in groups of two    

or three.
 •   Windows are usually wood casement or double-hung.
 •   Doorways often have carved stonework, spiral columns,        

and pilasters.
 •   Canvas and wood awnings were often used to shield 

windows from the sun.

4.  Balconies/Terraces:
 •  Use of wrought iron for window and balcony grills,           

wrought iron sconces
 •  Both functional and ornamental balconies are common. 

Often fl at roofs serve as terraces.

5.  Chimney:
 •  Masonry built with either a stone, brick, or stucco fi nish.
 •  Flues are commonly roofed or have decorative                

chimney caps.

A Style Defi ned:



MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

98  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Lake Worth Beach, Florida West Palm Beach, Florida Lake Worth Beach, Florida

Lake Worth Beach, FloridaLake Worth Beach, Florida

GALLERY OF EXAMPLES



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  99

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

Four-light wood casement windows

Casements with a rounded fan light

Eight light wood casement windows

One over one, as single hung or double hung windows.

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Description of 
Mediterranean 
Revival Windows

•  Mediterranean Revival windows are primarily 
double-hung, single-hung, or casement type 
windows.

•  Traditionally Mediterranean Revival windows 
are made of wood.

•  Mediterranean Revival windows can be square 
or vertically proportioned and o� en might be 
arched or a decorative shape.

•  � ese windows are inset deep into the exterior 
wall creating deep sill and shadow lines.

•  � ese windows may or may not be operable 
(typically windows of an ornamental shape         
might be � xed).  



MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

100  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

French doors with glass transom above

Casement windows with variation of transom lights above

A fi ne example of Mediterranean Revival architecture in 
Lake Worth Beach that has a variety of arched window 
sizes.

Three-over-one double-hung windows with fan light

Arched wood casement windows



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  101

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Description of 
Mediterranean 
Revival Doors

•  Mediterranean Revival doors are mainly wood 
and frequently have a rusticated treatment.

•  � ey o� en have multiple � xed glass panes       
and can be arched.

•  � ey are o� en plank doors and sometimes 
have small glass inserts.

•  � e doors can be large with applied wood 
decorative motifs.

Large plank door with decorative light

Wooden panel door

Arched wooden door with fi xed window panes

Arched wooden panelled door

Arched wooden door with fi xed window panes



102  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

MEDITERRANEAN REVIVAL

Description of 
Mediterranean Revival
Roofs and Exterior Finishes

•  Mediterranean Revival buildings almost always have a 
medium to heavily textured stucco exterior � nish.

•  � ere are o� en masonry or stucco treatments around 
windows and doors.

•  Mediterranean Revival roofs are almost always clay 
barrel tile with occasional � at roof sections that might 
be accessible from an interior room.

Stucco treatments are typically medium to rough in texture.

Clay barrel tile is one of the most character defi ning elements 
of the Mediterranean Revival style

There are often decorative stucco details around win-
dows and doors

Barrel tile is used on the main roof, porches, and brack-
eted overhangs



 

 

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687 

 
MEMORANDUM DATE:   September 1, 2021 
 
AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 
 
TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 
 
RE:   617 North K Street  
 
FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
 Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
 Department for Community Sustainability 
 
TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the construction of a new ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 
 
OWNER: Jarkko Vainio 
  P. O. Box 682200 
  Park City, UT 84068 
 
APPLICANT:  Pamela Russell 
  P. O. Box 682200 
  Park City, UT 84068 

 

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT HISTORY: 

A single-story single-family residence was constructed c.1925 in a Wood Frame Vernacular architectural 
style at 617 North K Street. Although no architectural drawings of the building are available in the City’s 
property files, property cards from the 1940s and 1950s (included as Attachment A) describe the 
structure as being of wood frame construction on a pier foundation, having a gable composition and roll 
roof, wood windows, and a porch.  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  

The property owner requested that the City’s Building Official inspect the property to determine if there 
were unsafe conditions that would warrant condemnation. On March 3, 2021, the City’s Building Official 
(Peter Ringle) declared the structure was unsafe due to decay, deterioration or dilapidation, and was 
likely to fully or partially collapse. The condemnation letter is included as Attachment B. Pursuant to Land 
Development Regulation (LDR) Section 23.5-4(m)(3), a COA is not required for the demolition of a 
contributing building that has been condemned by the City. The demolition of the structure was approved 
with building permit #21-893. Current photos of the property are included as Attachment C. 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

The applicant, Pamela Russell, is requesting approval for a new single-family structure and accessory 
structure. The subject property is a 37.5’x135’ (5,062.5 square feet) containing one and a half platted lots 
of record located on the west side of North K Street, between 6th Avenue North and 7th Avenue North in 
Lake Worth Beach.  The vacant property is located in the Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-
TF 14) zoning district and retains a Future Land Use (FLU) designation of Medium Density Residential 
(MDR). 
 

If approved, the subject application would allow the construction of a new single-story single-family 
residence.  The proposed building is designed to replicate a Wood Frame Vernacular building. The 
application will require the following approval: 

 

1. COA for the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square 
foot accessory structure 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval with conditions as provided on page 10.  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

Owner Jarkko Vainio 

General Location West side of North K Street, between 6th Avenue North and 7th Avenue North 

PCN 38-43-44-21-15-178-0240 

Zoning Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) 

Existing Land Use Vacant 

Future Land Use 
Designation 

Medium Density Residential (MDR) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

SITE ANALYSIS: 

Surrounding Properties 

The site is surrounded by residential properties with similar Zoning and FLU designations, and thus, are 
found to be compatible with the proposed residential use on the subject site. The following summarizes 
the nature of the surrounding properties adjacent to the subject site: 

 

NORTH: Immediately north of the subject site is a multi-family structure. This area contains a FLU 
designation of MDR and a zoning designation of SF-TF 14. 

 

SOUTH: Immediately south of the subject site is a single-family structure. This area contains a FLU 
designation of MDR and a zoning designation of SF-TF 14. 

 

EAST: East of the subject site across the rear alley is a single-family structure. This area contains 
a FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of SF-TF 14. 

 

WEST: West of the subject site across North K Street is a single-family structure. This area 
contains a FLU designation of MDR and a zoning designation of SF-TF 14. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan 

The subject is located in the Medium-Density Residential Future Land Use (FLU) designation. Per Policy 
1.1.1.3 in the City’s Comprehensive, the FLU designation allows for a maximum density of 20 per acre.  
As the proposed structure is a single-family development and has a proposed density of less than 20 units 
per acre, it is consistent with the intent of the Medium Density Residential designation.  

 

The proposed single-family structure is also consistent with Goal 3.1 which seeks to achieve a supply of 
housing that offers a variety of residential unit types and prices for current and anticipated homeowners 
and renters in all household income levels by the creation and/or preservation of a full range of quality 
housing units. The project encourages architectural design that complements the City’s appearance, 
consistent with Objective 3.2.4. 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE REQUIREMENTS: 

Land Development Code Requirements 

Code References 23.3-8 (SF-TF 14); 23.4-10 (Off-street parking) 

 Required Proposed 

Lot Area 5,000 sf. 5,062.5 sf. 

Lot Width 50’-0” 37’-6” 

Building Height 
30’-0” (2 stories) – Primary structure 
24’-0” (2 stories) – Accessory structure 

18.7’ – Primary structure 
18.6’– Accessory structure 

Setback - Front  20’-0” 20’-0” 

Setback - Side  
North: 3.75’ (10% of lot width) 
South: 3.75’ (10% of lot width) 

Primary Structure 
North: 3’-9” 
South: 3’-9” 
Accessory Structure 
North: 3’-9” 
South: 11’-1” 

Setback - Rear 
13’-6” (10% of lot depth) – Primary structure 
5’-0” – Accessory structure 

58’-6” – Primary structure 
13’-6” Accessory structure 

Impermeable 
Surface Total(1) 

55.0% (2,784.4 sf.) 54.23% (2,754.5 sf.) 

Front Yard 
Impermeable 
Surface Total 

900 sf. or 75% pervious and landscaped 92.45% (693.4 sf.) 

Maximum Building 
Coverage(1) 

35.0% maximum (1,771.9 sf.) 33.48% (1,695 sf.) 

Accessory Structure 
Limitations 

40% of the primary structure area or 1,000 sf., 
whichever is less 

38.35% (650 sf.) 

Density/Number of 
Units 

1 dwelling unit 1 dwelling unit  

Floor Area Ratio(1) 0.50 maximum (2,531.3 sf.) 0.29 (1,462 sf.) 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

Living Area 800 sf. minimum 1,462 sf.  

Parking 
Single-family detached on lot less than 50 ft. 
wide: 1 space per unit 

1 space 

Parking Dimensions 9’x18’ perpendicular or angled off street 
9’x18’ perpendicular off 
street 

  (1)- Medium lot (lots 5,000 square feet to 7,499 square feet) 

 
The proposed new construction project is consistent with all site data requirements in the City’s zoning 
code. The application, as proposed, meets the minimum off-street parking requirements and complies 
with all impermeable surface requirements, building coverage allotments, and required building setbacks. 
The proposed site plan is included in this report as Attachment D. A landscape plan was also provided in 
the application, and the proposal will also need to comply with the City’s landscape requirements, which 
will be reviewed at permitting.  
 

Existing Non-Conformities 

The existing property is a nonconforming lot of record that does not comply with the minimum lot width 
provided within Section 23.3-8 of the Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulations. Pursuant to LDR 
Section 23.5-3(c), Nonconforming lots of record: 

 

A nonconforming lot of record is a platted lot which by width, depth, area, dimension or location does not 
meet current standards set forth in these LDRs. In any zoning district in which single-family dwelling 
units are permitted, notwithstanding limitations imposed by other provisions of these LDRs, a single-
family dwelling unit and customary accessory buildings may be erected on any single nonconforming lot 
of record so platted on or before January 5, 1976. 

 

The subject property was platted prior to January 5, 1976. Therefore, single-family development is 
permitted with a customary accessory building. 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION ANALYSIS: 

All new construction within a designated historic district shall be visually compatible. New buildings 
should take their design cues from the surrounding existing structures, using traditional or contemporary 
design standards and elements that relate to existing structures that surround them and within the 
historic district as a whole. Building design styles, whether contemporary or traditional, should be visually 
compatible with the existing structures in the district.  

 

The front façade of the new residence features a front porch with decorative railings, posts, and beams 
that lead to a pair of French doors with decorative light patterns. The front doors are flanked by pairs of 
single-hung windows with decorative light patterns. The structure is designed utilizing concrete block 
construction finished with stucco to simulate wood lap siding on the exterior walls. A hip design roof is 
utilized with dimensional asphalt shingles. The fenestration incorporates single-hung windows with 
historically compatible window trim, sill, and mullion details. Site features include fences, landscaping, a 
front walkway, and a rear driveway. 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

A detached garage is also proposed with the same detailing and exterior finishes as the new residence. A 
side-loaded porch is proposed on the east elevation of the structure. Recessed panel garage doors are 
proposed for the vehicular and boat bays. Accessory structures, such as garages, are typically secondary 
and subordinate to residences in the City’s historic districts. However, there are several examples of 
accessory dwelling units and garage apartments that are two stories in height. The proposed garage has 
an atypical wall height for a single-story structure because it will accommodate a boat. It’s been designed 
to not exceed the ridge height of the residence which helps mitigate its appearance as visible from the 
street. The LDRs have regulations that limit height at side setbacks and assist in safeguarding against high 
continuous walls. Staff has included a condition of approval has been added that the garage shall comply 
with the maximum wall regulations set forth in LDR Section 23.3-7(c), subject to staff review at 
permitting.  

 

Section 23.5-4(k)(3)(A) – Review/Decision  

In approving or denying applications for certificates of appropriateness for new construction, the City 
shall also, at a minimum, consider the following additional guidelines which help to define visual 
compatibility in the applicable property's historic district: 

 

(1) The height of proposed buildings shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the height of 
existing buildings located within the historic district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed building is consistent with the height of other single-story buildings 
surrounding the property, and is in harmony with the height of other historic properties in the district. 

 

(2) The relationship of the width of the building to the height of the front elevation shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the width and height of the front elevation of existing buildings 
located within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The width and height of the front elevation of the proposed building are in scale with the 
surrounding properties. 

 

(3) For landmarks and contributing buildings and structures, the openings of any building within a 
historic district should be visually compatible and in harmony with the openings in buildings of a 
similar architectural style located within the historic district. The relationship of the width of the 
windows and doors to the height of the windows and doors in a building shall be visually compatible 
with buildings within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed single-hung windows and French (glazed) doors are compatible in height 
and width with the typical windows and doors on the neighboring structures. 

 

(4) The relationship of solids to voids in the front facade of a building or structure shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the front facades of historic buildings or structures located within 
the historic district. A long, unbroken facade in a setting of existing narrow structures can be divided 
into smaller bays which will complement the visual setting and the streetscape. 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

Staff Analysis: Each façade features a rhythm of solids to voids with window and door openings that 
avoid long, unbroken walls with the exception of the north elevation. The proposal includes a faux 
shuttered opening on the north elevation of the residence, but the north elevation of the garage lacks 
fenestration. Staff has included a condition of approval that additional windows or faux openings are 
added. 

 

(5) The relationship of a building to open space between it and adjoining buildings shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the relationship between buildings elsewhere within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed building adheres to setback requirements within the current zoning code.  

 

(6) The relationship of entrance and porch projections to sidewalks of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the prevalent architectural styles of entrances and porch projections 
on buildings and structures within the district. 

 

Staff Analysis: The new residence features a walkway connecting the front porch to the street. As a result, 
there is a pedestrian connection between the front door and street.  

 

(7) The relationship of the materials, texture and color of the façade of a building shall be visually 
compatible and in harmony with the predominant materials used in the buildings and structures of a 
similar style located within the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District.  

 

Staff Analysis: The building will utilize concrete block construction finished with simulated stucco wood 
lap. This is a common and compatible façade material for new construction proposals within the historic 
districts. 

 

(8) The roof shape of a building or structure shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the roof 
shape of buildings or structures of a similar architectural style located within the Northeast Lucerne 
Local Historic District. 

 

Staff Analysis: The hip roof with dimensional asphalt shingles is common for Wood Frame Vernacular 
style structures in Lake Worth Beach. 

 

(9) Appurtenances of a building, such as walls, wrought iron, fences, evergreen, landscape masses and 
building facades, shall, if necessary, form cohesive walls of enclosures along a street to insure visual 
compatibility of the building to the buildings and places to which it is visually related. 

 

Staff Analysis: The new fencing shall be reviewed at permitting to ensure compliance with the current 
zoning code.  

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 8 

 

 

(10) The size and mass of a building in relation to open spaces, the windows, door openings, porches and 
balconies shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to which it is 
visually related. 

 

Staff Analysis:  The size, massing, and other visual qualities of the proposed new construction are 
compatible and in harmony with visually related properties. 

 

(11) A building shall be visually compatible and in harmony with the buildings and places to which it is 
visually related in its directional character: vertical, horizontal or non-directional. 

 

Staff Analysis: The applicant has provided a streetscape showing the building in relation to those to either 
side of it. The building’s height and massing are compatible with other residential structures on the block. 

 

(12) In considering applications for certificates of appropriateness to install mechanical systems which 
affect the exterior of a building or structure visible from a public right-of-way, the following criteria 
shall be considered: 

 

(a) Retain and repair, where possible, historic mechanical systems in their original location, where 
possible. 

 

Staff Analysis: This requirement is not applicable to the new construction project on a vacant 
property. 

 

(b) New mechanical systems shall be placed on secondary facades only and shall not be placed on, 
nor be visible from, primary facades. 

 

Staff Analysis: At permitting, staff will review the location of the mechanical systems to ensure they 
are not visible from the street.  

 

(c) New mechanical systems shall not damage, destroy or compromise the physical integrity of the 
structure and shall be installed so as to cause the least damage, invasion or visual obstruction 
to the structure's building materials, or to its significant historic, cultural or architectural 
features. 

 

Staff Analysis: At permitting, staff will review the location of the mechanical systems to ensure they 
are ground mounted.  

 

(13) The site should take into account the compatibility of landscaping, parking facilities, utility and service 
areas, walkways and appurtenances. These should be designated with the overall environment in 
mind and should be in keeping visually with related buildings and structures. 

 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 9 

 

 

Staff Analysis: The proposal complies with maximum lot coverage and impermeable surface totals for the 
SF-TF 14 zoning district. Parking is proposed in the backyard of the property with vehicular access from 
the alley. Overall, the design of the proposed structure and site are compatible with visually related 
properties in the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic District. A preliminary landscape plan is included in 
Attachment D.  

 

B.   In considering certificates of appropriateness for new buildings or structures, which will have more 
than one primary facade, such as those on corner lots facing more than one street, the HRPB shall apply 
the visual compatibility standards to each primary facade.   

Staff Analysis: Not applicable, the structure only has one primary façade fronting North K Street. 

 

Historic Preservation Design Guidelines (Wood Frame Vernacular Architectural Style) 

The City’s Historic Preservation Design Guidelines provide a guide to architectural styles found within the 
historic districts. The proposal generally adheres to the design features of Wood Frame Vernacular 
structures, an excerpt of the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines is included as Attachment E. This 
architectural style was described as being built by local craftsman, using locally available materials, and 
were built to take advantage of (or protect from) the specific environment in which they were built. 
Ultimately, this meant that the buildings were utilitarian in nature and had very little ornamentation or 
detailing, other than those elements that had an actual use.  

 

In Lake Worth Beach, Wood Frame Vernacular structures were typically one or two stories, and were 
built on a foundation of multiple masonry piers. The siding could be horizontal (shiplap, clapboard, 
weatherboard, single) or vertical (board on batten, weatherboard). Roof types were front gable, side 
gable, or hipped roofs that were clad in wood shingles, composition shingles, or metal shingles. Roof 
overhangs generally extended past the walls of the house to provide shade from the sun. Exposed rafter 
ends and brackets under the eaves were common. 

 

A front porch occasionally extended across the length of the house. Wood doors generally featured 
glazed panels. Windows were either casement or double-hung sash and made of wood and usually had 
multiple lights (window panes) in both the top and bottom sash. Windows were often large for maximum 
ventilation and had plain wood window surrounds, with sills that sloped away from the house to shed 
water and ornamentation was limited to those elements that were used as part of the structure: shingle 
accents or a slotted vent in the gable end, porch columns, roof brackets or braces.  

 

Staff Analysis: The proposed design utilizes regularized window sizes, appropriate material usage, and 
has a balanced layout. The structure as designed utilizes elements of Wood Frame Vernacular 
architecture commonly found in early twentieth-century residential structures throughout Lake Worth 
Beach and the resulting drawings propose a compatible design for the Northeast Lucerne Local Historic 
District. Staff has recommended several standard conditions of approval to further ensure visual 
compatibility. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
At the time of publication of the agenda, staff has received not received written public comment. 



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 10 

 

 

CONCLUSION: 
The proposed application is consistent with the City’s Land Development Regulations as conditioned and 
the structure’s design and site plan are generally consistent with the Wood Frame Vernacular architectural 
style and the Historic Preservation Design Guidelines requirements on site considerations.   Therefore, 
staff recommends approval with conditions, listed below, to allow construction of a new ± 1,462 square 
foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory structure. 
 

Conditions of Approval 
1) The windows shall utilize a historically compatible sill detail, subject to staff review at permitting.  
2) All proposed exterior entry doors shall be compatible with the Wood Frame Vernacular architectural 

style, and shall be subject to Staff review at permitting. 
3) All paired windows shall utilize a 6” wide mullion between windows. Wood trim, fiber-cement trim, 

or simulated stucco trim shall be utilized to replicate the appearance of historic window details.  
4) The windows shall be recessed a minimum of two inches (2”) in the wall, and shall not be installed 

flush with the exterior wall. 
5) All divided-light shall be created utilizing exterior raised applied triangular muntins. Exterior flat 

muntins or “grills between the glass” shall not be permitted. The smaller single-hung windows utilized 
for bathrooms and utility rooms have a 3/3 divided-light pattern. 

6) The windows shall utilize glazing that is clear, non-reflective, and without tint. Low-E (low emissivity) 
is allowed but the glass shall have a minimum 60% visible light transmittance (VLT) measured from 
the center of glazing. Glass tints or any other glass treatments shall not be combined with the Low-E 
coating to further diminish the VLT of the glass. 

7) The doors may utilize clear glass, frosted, obscure glass, or glass with a Low-E coating (60% minimum 
VLT). Tinted, highly reflective, grey, colored, etched, or leaded glass shall not be used.  

8) The porch post and beam details shall be constructed out of wood or a wood-look material and shall 
be compatible with the Wood Frame Vernacular architectural style and shall be subject to Staff review 
at permitting.  

9) The stucco lap siding shall have a texture and profile that is compatible with wood lap siding 
commonly found on Wood Frame Vernacular style structures and shall have no more than a six inch 
(6”) reveal. The Applicant shall be responsible for contacting Historic Preservation staff to review and 
inspect a portion of siding prior to completion.  

10) The rear 9’x18’ driveway shall be extended an additional 10 feet to provide the required backout. 
11) The garage shall comply with the maximum wall regulations set forth in LDR Section 23.3-7(c), subject 

to staff review at permitting.  
12) All improved surfaces shall be setback a minimum of 1’-0” from property lines to allow for adequate 

water runoff within the property boundary.  
13) Staff recommends that the north elevation of the garage utilize additional windows or faux shuttered 

openings to avoid a long expanse of blank façade.  

POTENTIAL MOTION:   
I MOVE TO APPROVE HRPB Project Number 21-00100182 with staff recommended conditions for a 
Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family 
structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory structure at 617 North K Street, based upon the competent 
substantial evidence in the staff report and pursuant to the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development 
Regulations and Historic Preservation requirements.  



 

 

 
HRPB #21-00100182 

617 North K Street 
COA Application – Single-Family and Accessory Structure 

P a g e  | 11 

 

 

I MOVE TO DENY HRPB Project Number 21-00100182 for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the 
new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street, because the Applicant has not established by competent substantial 
evidence that the application complies with the City of Lake Worth Beach Land Development Regulation 
and Historic Preservation requirements.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Property File Documentation 
B. Condemnation Letter – 617 North K Street 
C. Current Photos 
D. Proposed Architectural Plans 
E. Historic Preservation Design Guidelines – Wood Frame Vernacular (Excerpt)  



DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT A – PROPERTY FILE DOCUMENTATION 

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   617 North K Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT B – CONDEMNATION LETTER

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   617 North K Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 



 
 
 
 

BUILDING DIVISION 
1900 2ND AVENUE NORTH 

LAKE WORTH BEACH, FL 33460 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Declaration of unsafe conditions. 
 

March 3, 2021 
 
The Building Official inspected the structure located at 617 North K Street on February 23, 2021.   
This structure is being declared as unsafe according to the City’s unsafe ordinance Section 9-2.2 
Abatement of unsafe buildings. The building is being declared as unsafe for the following reasons: 
 
The building as a result of decay, deterioration or dilapidation, is likely to fully or partially collapse.  
(Sec. 9-2.2(c)(7) 
 

The following are the observations of the building official Peter Ringle from the site visit: 
 
The structure is wood framed and there is a significant amount of termite damage to the flooring 
and walls.  The building is set on foundation piers and several of those piers have settled and the 
structure has visible deflection in the walls and roof.   There is also rotten wood around the base 
of the structure which compounds the problem.   
 
It is my conclusion that the building is structurally compromised and should be demolished.  See 
attached photographs which document my conclusions.  
 
Peter Ringle  
Building Official  
Lake Worth Beach  
 
  

 























DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT C – CURRENT PHOTOS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   617 North K Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 









DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT D – PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   617 North K Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 



Site, Floor Plan Artwork, Calculations
Exterior Elevations
Landscape Plan, Streetscape
Perspective Views

01
02
03
04

01

!
865-269-2611

" COPYRIGHT

Tyree House Plans (THP) reserves the rights to 
these documents and to all designs contained 
herein. No copies or alterations are to be made 
without written permission. All plans designed by 
THP are protected under Federal Copyright Act, 
Title 17 of the United States Code, and Chapter 
37 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

# CUSTOMIZE

We can change this house plan to fit your needs.
To get a free quote and design sketches, go to
tyreehouseplans.com/customize

$ DISCLAIMER

Placement of residence is based on owner's 
desired location and governing authority 
regulations. Every property has inherent risks due 
to location and acts of God which may cause 
damage to structures built on said property and 
bodily injury or death to the occupants of said 
structures. THP does not in any way guarantee the 
suitability of any area for construction or 
habitation, and will not be held liable for damages 
based on the location of said structure. General 
Contractor to verify all field conditions, code 
requirements, insure compliance of proposed 
structure with said conditions, verify all 
dimensions and techniques in construction 
documents, and notify THP of any discrepancies 
before construction.

% INDEX OF PAGES

&
tyreehouseplans.com

' IMPORTANT DATES

These house plan documents were released on 
August 4, 2021

(
PO Box 51702

Knoxville, TN 37950

)
sales@tyreehouseplans.com

drive
50% perv.

pavers

N
o

rt
h

 S
tr

ee
t

135.0’

3
7

.5
’

5
'-0

"

3
'-9

"

north

13'-6"

20'-0"

porch
13’ x 11’

garage

porch
7’-6” x 
30’-0” 

living
18’-2” x 16’-4”

T Y R E E  H O U S E  P L A N S

3
'-9

"

3
'-9

"

3
0

'-0
"

downdn

dining
12’-4” x 
12’-4”

kit
ref

range

sink

island

dw

4
'-0

"

ac

w

d

sh

closetcloset

sh

bath

bed 1
12’-6” x 12’

bed 2
10’ x 

12’-4”

bed 3
10’ x 

12’-4”

bath

cl

49'-0"10'-0"35'-0"

2
2

'-8
"

7'-6"

5
'-8

"

lndry

m

3'-11"

3
'-1

1
"

Site Data Table

 Required Proposed

Lot Area 5,000 sf 5,062.50 sf

Lot Width 50’ 37.5’

Building Height 30’ (house) and 24’ (accessory structure) 18.7’ (house) and 18.6’ (accessory structure)

Setback - Front 20' 20’

Setback - Side 3.8’ (3’ minimum) 3’-9” for residence,    3’-9” (N) and 11’-1” (S) for accessory

Setback - Rear 13’-6” for residence, 5’ for accessory 58’-6” for residence, 13’-6” for accessory

   

Impermeable Surface Total 2,784.38 sf (55% of medium lot, 5000-7499 sf) 2,745.54 sf

Front Yard Permeable Surface Total 750 sf (75% pervious and landscaped) 693.4 sf (92.45%)

Maximum Building Coverage (residence) 1,771.88 sf (35% of medium lot, 5000-7499 sf) 1,695 sf (33.48%)

Accessory Structure Limitation 678 sf (40% of principal structure or 1000sf) 650.1 sf (38.35%)

Floor Area Ratio 50% (2,531.25sf) 28.879% (1,462sf)

Living Area (minimum) 800 sf 1,462 sf

Parking 1 parking space 1 parking space

Parking Dimensions 9’ x 18’ perpendicular or angled 9’ x 18’ provided in garage

   

Roof Overhang 24” maximum 24”

walk
50% perv.

pavers

13'-6" 20'-0"

* AREA CALCULATIONS - MAIN HOUSE

sf
sf
sf
sf

1462
225

8
1,695 

Living
Front Porch
Rear Steps
Under Roof 

* AREA CALCULATIONS - GARAGE

sf
sf
sf

650.1
143

793.1 

Garage
Porch
Under Roof 

33'-8"

2
1

'-4
"

1
0

'-4
"

1
1

'-1
"



Site, Floor Plan Artwork, Calculations
Exterior Elevations
Landscape Plan, Streetscape
Perspective Views

01
02
03
04

02

!
865-269-2611

" COPYRIGHT

Tyree House Plans (THP) reserves the rights to 
these documents and to all designs contained 
herein. No copies or alterations are to be made 
without written permission. All plans designed by 
THP are protected under Federal Copyright Act, 
Title 17 of the United States Code, and Chapter 
37 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

# CUSTOMIZE

We can change this house plan to fit your needs.
To get a free quote and design sketches, go to
tyreehouseplans.com/customize

$ DISCLAIMER

Placement of residence is based on owner's 
desired location and governing authority 
regulations. Every property has inherent risks due 
to location and acts of God which may cause 
damage to structures built on said property and 
bodily injury or death to the occupants of said 
structures. THP does not in any way guarantee the 
suitability of any area for construction or 
habitation, and will not be held liable for damages 
based on the location of said structure. General 
Contractor to verify all field conditions, code 
requirements, insure compliance of proposed 
structure with said conditions, verify all 
dimensions and techniques in construction 
documents, and notify THP of any discrepancies 
before construction.

% INDEX OF PAGES

&
tyreehouseplans.com

' IMPORTANT DATES

These house plan documents were released on 
August 4, 2021

(
PO Box 51702

Knoxville, TN 37950

)
sales@tyreehouseplans.com

1
1

'-0
"

2
'-0

"residence - front view

accessory - rear view

roof mid-height

1
3

'-7
"

1
7

'-1
"

residence - rear view

accessory - front view

residence - right view accessory - right view

residence - left viewaccessory - left view

2'-0"

1
3

'-7
"

1
6

'-9
"

1
3

'-7
"

1
6

'-9
"

1
3

'-8
"

1
6

'-9
"



Site, Floor Plan Artwork, Calculations
Exterior Elevations
Landscape Plan, Streetscape
Perspective Views

01
02
03
04

03

!
865-269-2611

" COPYRIGHT

Tyree House Plans (THP) reserves the rights to 
these documents and to all designs contained 
herein. No copies or alterations are to be made 
without written permission. All plans designed by 
THP are protected under Federal Copyright Act, 
Title 17 of the United States Code, and Chapter 
37 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

# CUSTOMIZE

We can change this house plan to fit your needs.
To get a free quote and design sketches, go to
tyreehouseplans.com/customize

$ DISCLAIMER

Placement of residence is based on owner's 
desired location and governing authority 
regulations. Every property has inherent risks due 
to location and acts of God which may cause 
damage to structures built on said property and 
bodily injury or death to the occupants of said 
structures. THP does not in any way guarantee the 
suitability of any area for construction or 
habitation, and will not be held liable for damages 
based on the location of said structure. General 
Contractor to verify all field conditions, code 
requirements, insure compliance of proposed 
structure with said conditions, verify all 
dimensions and techniques in construction 
documents, and notify THP of any discrepancies 
before construction.

% INDEX OF PAGES

&
tyreehouseplans.com

' IMPORTANT DATES

These house plan documents were released on 
August 4, 2021

(
PO Box 51702

Knoxville, TN 37950

)
sales@tyreehouseplans.com

drive
50% perv.

pavers
walk

N
o

rt
h

 S
tr

ee
t

135.0’

3
7

.5
’

north

garage

T Y R E E  H O U S E  P L A N S

landscape plan

5
'-8

"

main house

st. augustine
sod

st. augustine
sod

st. augustine
sod

st. augustine
sod

st. augustine
sod

3” diameter
water oak

3” diameter
water oak

azaleas with
cypress mulched
landscape bed

azaleas with
cypress mulched

landscape bed

azaleas with
cypress mulched

landscape bed

azaleas with
cypress mulched

landscape bed

st. augustine
sod

617

Streetscape for 611-623 North K Street, Lake Worth, FL

619 623613611

fence

fence

16” conc. parking strip

16” conc. parking strip

18'-0"



Site, Floor Plan Artwork, Calculations
Exterior Elevations
Landscape Plan, Streetscape
Perspective Views

01
02
03
04

04

!
865-269-2611

" COPYRIGHT

Tyree House Plans (THP) reserves the rights to 
these documents and to all designs contained 
herein. No copies or alterations are to be made 
without written permission. All plans designed by 
THP are protected under Federal Copyright Act, 
Title 17 of the United States Code, and Chapter 
37 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

# CUSTOMIZE

We can change this house plan to fit your needs.
To get a free quote and design sketches, go to
tyreehouseplans.com/customize

$ DISCLAIMER

Placement of residence is based on owner's 
desired location and governing authority 
regulations. Every property has inherent risks due 
to location and acts of God which may cause 
damage to structures built on said property and 
bodily injury or death to the occupants of said 
structures. THP does not in any way guarantee the 
suitability of any area for construction or 
habitation, and will not be held liable for damages 
based on the location of said structure. General 
Contractor to verify all field conditions, code 
requirements, insure compliance of proposed 
structure with said conditions, verify all 
dimensions and techniques in construction 
documents, and notify THP of any discrepancies 
before construction.

% INDEX OF PAGES

&
tyreehouseplans.com

' IMPORTANT DATES

These house plan documents were released on 
August 4, 2021

(
PO Box 51702

Knoxville, TN 37950

)
sales@tyreehouseplans.com







DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 
Planning Zoning Historic Preservation Division 

1900 2ND Avenue North 
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33461 

561-586-1687

ATTACHMENT E – DESIGN GUIDELINES: WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

MEMORANDUM DATE:  September 1, 2021 

AGENDA DATE:  September 8, 2021 

TO:   Chair and Members of the Historic Resources Preservation Board 

RE:   617 North K Street  

FROM:  Jordan Hodges, Senior Preservation Coordinator 
Abraham Fogel, Preservation Planner 
Department for Community Sustainability 

TITLE:  HRPB Project Number 21-00100182: Consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for 
the new construction of a ± 1,462 square foot single-family structure and a ± 650 square foot accessory 
structure at 617 North K Street; PCN #38-43-44-21-15-178-0240. The subject property is located in the 
Single-Family and Two-Family Residential (SF-TF 14) zoning district and the Northeast Lucerne Local 
Historic District. 



Wood 
Frame 

Vernacular  

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  41



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

42  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Imagine a wilderness so dense you had to crawl through jungle-like conditions in order 
to just move around. Mosquitoes so thick, moving like looming black clouds, attacking 
relentlessly against beast and man that had no defense.  � ere were no roads, no post o�  ces, 
no stores. � is was the Palm Beach County of the mid-1800s.

When the Second Seminole War ended in 1842, the � rst non-native settlers built around the 
largest freshwater source in the area, Lake Worth. � e function of their � rst buildings were 
simply to provide shelter. � is was not “architecture” being designed by architects; the � rst 
homes, churches, and general stores were being built by local cra� smen who had learned 
the building trade from their parents and grandparents and were using any locally available 
materials in order to accomplish this.

Since trees were plentiful, wood frame buildings were the most common type of early 
construction in South Florida. � ese were homes that were built speci� cally to respond to 
the environmental conditions and had very little decoration or ornamentation. Pre-1880s, 
most construction was post and beam, which is where vertical wooden posts hold up large 
horizontal wooden beams as the basis for the structure. � ese timbers were usually held 
together not with nails but with complex joinery that required skilled cra� smen (joinery 
happens at the ends of the wood timbers that are chiseled in such a way so that the pieces 
lock together like a puzzle). 

A Style Introduction:

Lake Worth, Fla.



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  43

As more people came to the region, it was necessary to � nd a way to build homes faster and 
less costly. With new saw mills and industrialization, dimensional lumber (pieces of wood 
that were milled in speci� c dimensions like a 2x4), and nails became more readily available.  
� is allowed the homes to be built not with large, heavy timbers but with long, thin, pieces 
of wood. � is was called balloon framing, and allowed for buildings to get taller, since the 
framing could go from the � oor plate to the roof with one continuous piece of wood.

� ere were a variety of names given to di� erent types of wood frame houses, that essentially 
described the shape of the house or how the rooms were con� gured. � ese included single-
pen, hall and parlor, dog-trot, and I-house. Other wood frame houses more commonly 
known today are the Shotgun house and the “Conch” House (the Bahamian-in� uenced 
style of wood-frame housing o� en seen in Key West or Miami.) � e Shotgun house is called 
that because it is one room wide, and several rooms deep (you could look right through 
the house from front to back, or a shotgun blast would travel from front to back without 
hitting a wall). � is long, narrow form was very convenient when there were narrow lots to 
contend with. 

Builders continued to provide structures like this into the 1920s. But as the Bungalow style 
(and others) became popular, architect-designed plans for homes became an important 
indicator of social class, and the simple frame housing tradition rooted in previous 
generations began to die out. Updated versions of these simple wood frame houses were still 
occasionally being constructed into the 1940s. 

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Lake Worth Beach, Fla.



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

44  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Wrap-around porch in an Apalachicola, Florida home. Wood Frame Vernacular house with gabel 
end stoop overhang, Lake Worth Beach, Fla.



CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  45

� e common factor in all wood-frame vernacular structures is 
that they were built by local cra� smen, using locally available 
materials, and were built to take advantage of (or protect from) 
the speci� c environment in which they were built. Ultimately, 
this meant that the buildings were utilitarian in nature and 
had very little extra decoration or detailing, other than those 
elements that had an actual use.

In South Florida, the wood frame building was one or two 
stories, and was built on a foundation of multiple masonry 
piers. � is provided a crawl space underneath the house to 
allow the air to circulate underneath, which helped cool the 
house in the days before air-conditioning. � e siding could 
be horizontal (ship lap, clapboard, weatherboard, shingle),  or 
vertical (board and batten, weatherboard).

Roof types were front gable, side gable, or hip roof. Less 
common but still present was the pyramidal hip roof. Roofs 
were typically steep in nature (to help pull the hot air out of the 
house) and were clad in wood shingles, composition shingles, 
or metal shingles. Roof lines generally extended past the walls 
of the house to provide shade from the sun. Exposed ra� er 
ends and brackets under the eaves were common.

Florida Wood Frame 
Vernacular  Street 

Elevation

A Style Described:



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

Lake Worth Beach, FL

46  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Lake Worth Beach, FL

A front porch occasionally extended across the length of the house. Wood doors had glazed 
panels. Windows were either casement or double-hung sash and made of wood (“double-hung” 
means that the top sash can move down and the lower sash  can be raised up) and usually had 
multiple lights (window panes) in both the top and bottom sash. Windows were o� en large for 
maximum ventilation and had plain wood window surrounds, with sills that sloped away from 
the house to shed water.

Ornamentation was limited to those elements that were actually used as part of the structure: 
shingle accents or a slotted vent in the gable end, porch columns, roof brackets or braces. Oolitic 
limestone, a locally available material for much of South Florida, was sometimes used to clad 
foundation walls or supports and chimneys.



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  47

1.  Roofs:
•     Roofi ng material typically wood shingle/shake, 

metal shingle, or rolled roofi ng.
•    Roof is typically a gable, cross gable, or pyramidal  

in order to draw hot air up and out through vents.

2.  Exterior Finishes and Features:
•   Can be one or two-story.
•   Construction is wood frame.
•   Limited decoration or ornamentation.
•   Ventilation panels in the gable end under eaves.
•    If there is any decoration on the house, it would 

typically be exposed rafter beams or roof brackets 
or a shingle pattern in the wooden siding.

•   Siding is typically wood lap or wood shingle

3.  Doors & Windows:
•    Windows are typically tall, 1:2 vertical proportion, 

double hung wood sash to provide for maximum 
ventilation.

•   Wood casements often used in the porch.
•   Simple wood door and window surrounds.
•    If shutters present, they are typically wood board 

and batten or recessed panel.

4.  Porches and Stoops:
•   Porch posts are simple columns or boxed-in posts.
•    Front steps are typically wood or concrete and only 

slightly wider than the door.
•    A projecting bracketed overhang is common over 

the front door.

5.  Foundation
•   Foundations are typically piers with lattice screens.

A Style Defi ned:

1

4

3

2

3

5

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

Lake Worth Beach, FL Lake Worth Beach, FL Lake Worth Beach, FL

Lake Worth Beach, FL

48  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

GALLERY OF EXAMPLES



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  49

Description of Wood 
Frame Vernacular Windows

•    Wood Frame Vernacular windows are primarily double-
hung, single-hung, or casement type windows.

•    Traditionally these windows are made of wood and are 
characterized by unique divided light patterns.  

•    � e Wood Frame Vernacular windows are always vertical  
or square, and typically 1:2 in their proportion.  

•    � ese windows are inset deep into the exterior wall  
creating deep sill and shadow lines.

•    It is perfectly acceptable for Wood Frame Vernacular 
windows to be protected by permanent, operable shutters 
which are the best way to protect the windows.

•    Wood Frame Vernacular windows are always surrounded  
by wood trim with distinct header and sill details.  

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

Three over one

Four-over-one 
windows 

Four over one 
in a grid

One-over-one windows 
are common in Wood 
Frame Vernacular 
buildings

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

50  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Four over one wood double-hung windows 
grouped in pairs

Multi-light wood casement windows 
in a Wood Frame Vernacular porch

Paired three over three windows These are aluminum awning 
windows are not original but 

later replacements

These are paired six over one wood casement windows



CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH  |  51

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

CHAPTER V: ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Description of Wood 
Frame Vernacular Doors

•  Wood Frame Vernacular doors are mainly wooden 
and  usually have recessed panels with window panes.

•  � e doors usually have a three-panel bottom with 
four or nine lights above.  � ey characteristically also 
have two vertical panels below with three-to-six lights 
above sitting on a sill.

Recessed Panel Wood Frame Vernacular door

This four light door is also common

This three-panel door with a single large light resting 
on a sill is a common Wood Frame Vernacular door

This 15-lite “French” door is also a common door 
type in the Wood Frame Vernacular style

Lake Worth Beach, FL



WOOD FRAME VERNACULAR

52  |  HISTORIC PRESERVATION DESIGN GUIDELINES

Description of Wood 
Frame Vernacular Roofs 
and Exterior Surfaces

•  Wood Frame Vernacular roofs were typically wood 
shake or shingle, or rolled roo� ng.  � ey were 
commonly replaced later with asphalt shingles and 
sometimes metal shingles.

•  True to its name, Wood Frame Vernacular structures 
are covered with wooden horizontal siding, board and 
batten, or wood shingles.

W
IN

D
O

W
S

, D
O

O
R

S
, R

O
O

F
S

, &
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

Board and Batten

Wood lap siding

Wood shingles

Wood shingles

There are many types of historical wood siding.  
Illustrated above, from left to right, double lap siding, 
lap siding, and drop cove siding.


	Top
	A.	Regular Meeting Minutes July 14, 2021
	7.14.2021 minutes

	1)	Proof of Publication
	Proof of Publication
	Proof of Publication1

	A.	732 N Palmway - Garage COA & BFE Variance
	HRPB #21-00100119; 21-01500004 Staff Report
	Attachment A -Property File Documentation
	Attachment B - Current Photos
	Attachment C - Proposed Architectural Plans
	Attachment D - Elevation Certificate
	Attachment E - LWBHPDG Minimal Traditional

	B.	1020 S Lakeside Dr - Post Construction Tax Exemption
	HRPB#19-00100107 1020 S Lakeside Drive - Staff Report
	Attachment A - Property File Documentation
	Attachment B - HRPB Development Order and Approved Architectural Plans
	Attachment C - 2019 (Pre-Construction) Photos
	Attachment D - Completed Work Application (Part III)
	Attachment E - 2021 (Post-Construction) Photos

	A.	307 N L ST - Four New SFRs
	HRPB #21-00100250 307 N L Street - Staff Report
	Attachment A - Property File Documentation
	Attachment B - Current Photos
	Attachment C - Architectural Plan Set
	Attachment D - Staff Review Comments 7.19.2021
	Attachment E - Applicant Justification Statement and Review Responses
	Attachment F - LWBHPDG Streamline Moderne
	Attachment G - LWBHPDG New Construction

	B.	320 N Lakeside Dr - Addition
	HRPB#21-00100122 320 N Lakeside Drive - Staff Report
	Attachment A - Property File Documentation
	Attachment B - Current Photos
	Attachment C - Conceptual Plan Drawings
	Attachment D - Property Survey
	Attachment E - Architectural Plan Set
	Attachment F - Justification Statement
	Attachment G - Mediterranean Revival

	C.	617 N K St - SFR
	HRPB #21-00100182 617 N K Street - Staff Report
	Attachment A - Property File Documentation
	Attachment B - Condemnation Letter
	Attachment C - Current Photos
	Attachment D - Proposed Architectural Plans
	Attachment E - Design Guidelines - Wood Frame Vernacular

	Bottom

